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Brief description of the Company
Aeroflot Russian Airlines is the largest airline in
Russia and the CIS region. The Company carried
more than 8 million passengers in 2007, and more
than 10 million including operations by subsidiaries. That represents about a quarter of total passenger carrying by Russian air transport last year.
Aeroflot is one of the longest-established airlines in
the world and one of the best-known brands in the
business. Aeroflot’s 85th anniversary, celebrated on
February 9, 2008, coincided with the 85th anniversary of Russian civil aviation. The Company is based
in Moscow, at Sheremetyevo International Airport.
Aeroflot Group has its own routes to 115 destinations in 54 countries worldwide, and operates one
of the youngest aircraft fleets in Europe. At the beginning of 2008 the Company fleet consisted of 143
modern airliners, of which 63 were built by Boeing
and Airbus and have average age of 4 years.
Aeroflot is a member of the SkyTeam global alliance,
which numbers 11 full members and 3 associated
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members. SkyTeam airlines fly to 841 destinations
in 162 countries, offering passengers almost unlimited international travel choices.

Operating performance

In 2007 Aeroflot successfully obtained renewal of
its IOSA (IATA Operational Safety Audit) certification, confirming its compliance with new tougher
IOSA rules. IOSA certification is a generally recognized mechanism for raising safety levels in the air
transport business, and companies that have the
certification are full-fledged members of the international community of air carriers.

Cargo and mail carried, thousand tonnes

Aeroflot’s strategy is to position itself as a leading
network Company, uniting its developed domestic
route network with extensive international route
potential of the Company itself and of its SkyTeam
partners.
Aeroflot is among companies included in the official
List of Strategic Enterprises and Joint-Stock Companies, approved by Decree of the President the Russian Federation № 1009 (dated August 4, 2004).

2007

2006

Change

10.2

8.7

17.2%

153.7

151.8

1.3%

27.9

24.3

14.8%

3.4

3.1

9.7%

Passenger load factor, %

70.2

69.7

0.5 pt

Cargo load factor, %

57.9

57.9

–

20,114

18,996

5.9%

143

128

15

2007

2006

Change

Traffic revenue, USD millions

3,165.4

2,473.1

27.9%

Total revenue, USD millions

3,807.8

2,992.7

27.2%

Operating income, USD millions

578.0

386.2

49.7%

Net income, USD millions

313.4

258.1

21.4%

1,112.2

784.5

41.8%

Capital expenditures, USD millions

555.4

534.1

4%

Company value indicators

2007

2006

Change

28.8

24.1

19.5%

4.1

2.4

71%

13.1

9.3

41%

Passengers carried, millions

Revenue passenger kilometers, billion RPK
Revenue tonne kilometres, billion RTK

Average personnel
Number of aircraft in the fleet at the end of the year
Financial performance

Shareholders’ equity (as of December 31), USD millions

Earnings per share, USc
Market capitalization at the end of the year, USD billions
P/E ratio
* Consolidated key figures of JSC Aeroflot and its subsidiaries.
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Address by the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Address by the Chairman
of the Board of Directors
affordable for an ever larger share of the Russian
general public.
Last year’s results show that growth has become an established trend in the Russian airline industry. It is also
evident that Aeroflot, as the industry leader, is operating
and developing in the forefront of that process. Our task
is to define the optimal development paths for Aeroflot,
to secure maximum advantages for the Company, its
customers and its shareholders.

Aeroflot celebrates its 85th birthday this year. The Company is proud of its name, which is associated worldwide
with Russia and is among the best-known and most-respected brands internationally. Aeroflot is committed
both to reinforcing its well-earned reputation as the
national flag carrier and to crossing new frontiers. The
future offers broad horizons for the Company and the
experience of past years, including 2007, gives us every reason to be optimistic about Company prospects in
years to come.

										Victor Ivanov




Dear Colleagues,
Russian civil aviation was put to a severe test in 2007.
But, despite numerous difficulties, the year was also rich
in opportunities, provided mainly by the continuation of
economic growth and political stability in Russia. Aeroflot passed the test with flying colors, confirming its title
as Number 1 airline in Russia — not only the biggest, but
the best by nearly all parameters. Aeroflot’s leading positions reflect efficient use of newly found advantages, and
rapid reaction to the changing economic environment in
Russia and the world.
JSC Aeroflot-Russian Airlines operates on a highly competitive market in the best interests of its shareholders,
the largest of which is the state. Company achievements
have special significance for the national economy and
for Russian society. Aeroflot showed strong operational
and financial results in 2007, making significant quantitative and qualitative advances in a number of areas. The
strong performance supported the Company’s position as
largest tax payer in the Russian airline industry: Aeroflot
contributed 10.3 billion roubles to state budgets at the
federal level and at lower levels of government in 2007.

Company capitalization grew steadily and exceeded USD
4 billion by the end of 2007. The growth was due in part
to overall growth of the Russian economy, but it was also
determined by renewal of the Company aircraft fleet, high
standards in operations, corporate governance and financial management. Aeroflot’s reputation for dependability
also played an important role: the Company’s quality management system and flight safety match the highest international standards.
Much has been done, but much still remains to be done.
Aeroflot is building a network airline model, which can
make full use of Russia’s transit potential.
Aeroflot’s strategic objectives include consolidation
of the Russian airline industry, since the current fragmented state of the industry undermines competitiveness. Consolidation will make it possible to organize
a strong air route network and ensure a strong market
for Russian aerospace manufacturers. Aeroflot’s corporate ethic has always included a strong social orientation, and I am convinced that air travel will  become
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Address by the CEO
passenger-kilometers. Numbers of passengers carried
increased by almost the same amount to total 45 million
people. Aeroflot carried 21 million people on international routes. Aeroflot’s share of total passenger carrying by
Russian airlines on regular routes was 23.7%.
Aeroflot’s strategic goal is to build a world-class company.
Accordingly, company development in 2007 aimed to create firm foundations for long-term growth in the future,
and to make the company more competitive in an environment of market growth and increasing competition.
Aeroflot re-confirmed its certification from the IOSA
last year. Repeat confirmation makes us a full IOSA operator. The Company also successfully passed its quality
management audit to obtain certification under the ISO
9001:2000 standard. This certification offers a significant
financial gain, by substantially reducing our hull insurance
for 2007-2008, despite the increase of carriage volumes.
Flight safety is an absolute priority for the Company. Aeroflot achieved good results in this respect last year: flight
hours per incident were 7840, which is nearly three times
better than the average for Russian civil aviation.

10
Dear Shareholders, Partners and Employees,
Aeroflot confirmed its status as the leader on the Russian
air transport market in 2007 and ranked alongside leading
European and global airlines by several key indicators.
Our Company is a cornerstone of the Russian air transport
industry and has fundamental importance for the country
as a whole. Aeroflot is clearly a strategic asset for Russia.
The Company is not only the largest Russian air carrier but
also the established leader in introduction of new technologies, product development and service improvements, and
integration with the international system of cooperation. We
respond to challenges of the modern market and anticipate
new challenges, increasing our technological potential and
implementing a long-term strategy to ensure that the Company has the most up-to-date aircraft and equipment.
Strong growth of financial indicators, a positive balance
sheet and growth of capitalization offer Company shareholders — both private investors and the state — an excellent opportunity to make profitable investments in the
Russian air transport sector during the most attractive
period of its development.
Aeroflot carried 8.2 million passengers in 2007, which is
12% more than in 2006. Seat occupancy was 70.3% and

carrying capacities grew by 9.9%. Passenger carrying by
Aeroflot Group including Aeroflot-Don and Aeroflot-Nord
was 10.2 million passengers. We thus passed the 10-million mark and showed growth of 16.6% compared with
2006.
Revenues of Aeroflot Group from operations totaled USD
3807.8 million in 2007, representing an increase of
27.3% compared with 2006. Operating expenses were
23.9% higher than in 2006 at USD 3.229.8 million. Operating profit was USD 578.0 million, which is 49.7% more
than in the previous year.
Growth of Aeroflot’s main operating indicators is occurring in a context of positive trends in the international
air transport industry and strong growth of the Russian
air carrying market. The industry worldwide made profits
last year for the first time since 2001. A total of 2.3 billion passengers were carried. According to preliminary
figures from IATA, lower costs and improved carrying efficiency led to net profits of USD 5.6 billion for the global
industry in 2007.
There was a further rapid growth of the economy in Russia
during 2007 with increased business activity and greater
mobility by the population. As a result, total passenger
turnover of Russian airlines rose by 18.2% to 111 billion

The Company began work to introduce electronic ticketing in 2007. More than 400,000 electronic tickets were
sold in the period from March, following removal of legal
obstacles. Interline electronic ticketing has been introduced with most members of the SkyTeam Alliance as part
of Aeroflot’s integration into SkyTeam. Work was continued on introduction of automated passenger registration
systems at Russian airports. Work had been completed at
21 locations by the start of 2008.
We remained committed to the task of becoming a network Company in 2007. We view this as a priority for development of the internal market, with important positive
effects for international flights. This and other strategically important points are reflected in the program for international network development up to 2016, which was
designed last year. Aeroflot currently has its own flights to
96 destinations in 49 countries. Development on the Russian market is a priority and growth of passenger carried
by Aeroflot Group in 2007 was 19%. Main efforts in 2007
were focused on development of Russian and European
markets as well as introduction of a wave timetable as
the main element for creation of a fully-fledged hub. New
routes were opened and flight frequency on many routes
was increased (in Russia, and also to Europe American
and Asia). Aeroflot branches were opened in Magadan
and in Sochi, whose successful candidacy to host the
2014 Winter Olympics was supported by Aeroflot.

The Company’s extensive route network is dependent
on expansion and renewal of the Company fleet. Fleet
modernization is the main condition for improving
competitiveness and quality of carriage. We nearly completed
large-scale modernization of the medium-haul fleet last year
and laid the foundations for modernization of the long-haul
fleet. Aeroflot now has one of the youngest aircraft fleets
in Europe, and the Company is among world leaders by
indicators of operational reliability and actual flight hours
per craft. Daily flight hours of the Company’s Airbus A320s
are among the highest in the world. Aeroflot had 34 such
craft at the start of 2008 and their numbers should rise to
60 by 2012. The Company also has contracts for delivery
of 10 Airbus A330s, 22 Boeing-787 Dreamliners and 22
Airbus A350s for development of the long-haul fleet.
The global air transport market is fiercely competitive but
also offers considerable opportunities for cooperation.
The main opportunities for us are development of
partnership relations as part of the SkyTeam Alliance,
whose route network includes 841 destinations in 162
countries. This enables our passengers to travel the world
and make full use of bonus programs as well as offering
the Company a number of advantages for business
development. Aeroflot has code sharing  arrangements
with its SkyTeam partners on 18 routes including 11 direct
routes between Moscow and hubs of the partners. Total
number of marketing passengers in 2007 was 107,300.
Revenues from Aeroflot’s marketing activity as part of the
Alliance was substantial at 26 million euros.
Despite positive trends on the market we are also aware
of problems in the global and Russian air transport sectors, and their efficient resolution will be crucial for the
Company’s future.
Problems included growth of the fuel share in total costs,
growth in the number of flights by foreign companies
from Russian airports, continued stagnation of regional
air transport, and reduction of flights as well as closure of
airports on local lines. High import duties remain in place
for foreign-built aircraft, and shortage of qualified staff is
an increasing problem.
We live in a fast-changing world, and former competitive
advantages, such as low transport tariffs, are now in the
past. The real skill of successful management is not merely
to adapt to changing circumstances but to seek new opportunities.
A clear, well thought-out development concept for Aeroflot and Russian air transport, and a common stance by
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Russian airlines on key sector issues will help to create
the best-possible conditions for achieving ambitious development plans in the current market environment as
well as creating the basis for proper risk management.
Aeroflot’s plans for 2008 include increase of route frequency and geography in order to raise carrying volumes
on most profitable routes and to attract transit passengers. Development of the route network should give 12%
growth of passenger turnover, of which 31.5% on domestic routes and 5.3% on international routes.
The Company is obtaining 11 Airbus A320s and 2 Airbus
A330s during 2008 and the Aeroflot fleet will number
100 aircraft by the end of the year. More efficient use of

Main Events in 2007

new aircraft will increase both flying hours and the number of available seat-kilometers by 12%. Relative fuel use
should decline by 4.4%.
The challenges facing the Company are considerable. But
they are matched by the Company’s preparedness to overcome them. Aeroflot is at an important stages of its transformation into a true leader of the world air transport
business — a modern and dynamic, world-class-airline. I
am absolutely confident that our strong and professional
management team and Company staff as a whole are
ready to realize the huge growth potential, which will be
unlocked by Aeroflot’s development strategy, in a context
of stability in Russia’s economy and society.

Main Events in 2007
January
February

• Aeroflot launched regular flights between Sochi and Frankfurt.
• The Aeroflot Open Chess Tournament 2007 was held in Moscow with the support of Aeroflot Russian
Airlines, the Association of Chess Federations, and the Russian Chess Federation. The Tournament prize
fund totaled USD 200,000.

• The Aeroflot Executive Board approved a program for step-by-step replacement of Tu-134 aircraft in the
Company’s air fleet.

March

• Aeroflot took delivery of two new A320 airliners for use under an operating lease agreement. The aircraft
have been named in honor of two outstanding Russian painters, Karl Brullov and Vasily Surikov.

• Aeroflot Russian Airlines celebrated 75 years from the birth of the Company brand in 1932, when the Main
Directorate of the Civil Air Fleet of the USSR was first given the name “Aeroflot”.

• Aeroflot and Russia’s new aerospace manufacturing group, United Aerospace Corporation, signed a protocol
of intent on financial leasing of six new wide-fuselage IL-96-400T cargo aircraft.

April

• Aeroflot applied to the Italian Ministry of Finance to be included in the list of bidders to acquire the government share stake in the airline company, Alitalia.

• Valery Okulov, the President of Aeroflot, presented a business plan for restructuring of the airline, Dalavia,
during a visit to the city of Khabarovsk in the Russian Far East. The plan is part of a project for consolidation by Aeroflot of air companies in the Far East region.

Yours Sincerely,									Valery Okulov

• Aeroflot opened a branch in Magadan, in the Russian Far East.
• Aeroflot activated electronic ticketing in its international agency network, using the world’s largest distribution
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systems (Sabre, Amadeus, Galileo by Travelport, Worldspan by Travelport). The Company was thus able to
begin sales of electronic tickets using all of IATA’s settlement and clearing systems in nearly 50 countries.

May

• Aeroflot launched an improved economy class — “Kommersant” (“Commercial Class”) — on flights between
Moscow and Helsinki, Geneva and Nice.

• Aeroflot started regular flights between Moscow and Surgut (West Siberia).
• Aeroflot and Sukhoi Civil Aircraft Company signed an agreement of intent for delivery of 15 aircraft from
the new Sukhoi Superjet 100 family.

• The first foundation brick of Aeroflot’s new head office was laid in a special ceremony.

June

• Aeroflot began issue of electronic tickets inside Russia. Electronic tickets are issued when sales are made
via the Company’s Internet site, through the Company’s own sales network and through agencies.

• The Aeroflot CEO, Valery Okulov was elected as a member of the IATA Management Council for 20072008. This is the fifth time that Mr Okulov has been elected to the Council.

• Aeroflot signed contracts at the Le Bourget International Air Show:
— a contract with Rolls-Royce for fitting of Trent 700 engines in 10 A330-200 aircraft, including
a “Total Care” long-term agreement on technical servicing of the engines;
— a contract with Airbus for purchase of five A321 aircraft.

• Aeroflot took delivery of a new A320 airliner under an operating lease agreement. The craft was named
after the Russian painter, Valentin Serov.

• As part of the Company’s cooperation with the Russian Olympic Committee and the Sochi-2014 Bid Committee, Aeroflot organized two special flights from Moscow to Guatemala, carrying the Russian delegation
to the Session of the International Olympic Committee.

• Aeroflot withdrew from the competition to buy a share stake in Alitalia. However, the Company intends to
pursue energetic expansion of its business in Europe, both through increase of its European operations
and by seeking opportunities for acquisition of attractive assets.

13
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July

Main events since December 31, 2007

• Aeroflot began regular flights from Magadan to Novosibirsk and Irkutsk.
• Aeroflot and the Russian oil company, Rosneft, signed a general agreement on strategic partnership and
cooperation.

• Aeroflot took delivery of a fifth A321 airliner under a financial leasing arrangement. The craft was named
in honor of the great Russian painter and philosopher, Nikolai Rerikh.

Main events since
December 31, 2007

• Aeroflot opened an office in Sochi.

August

• A rating compiled by the authoritative international industry magazine, Airline, ranked Aeroflot among the
best airline companies in the world by financial results for 2006.

January

in honor of the great Russian explorer, Afanasy Nikitin.

list to the first-level “A” list at the exchange.
Russian airports.

• Aeroflot signed a memorandum of mutual understanding with Snecma Services and the Vnukovsky Aircraft

February

Repair Plant for creation in Russia of a joint venture for technical servicing, running repairs and overhaul of
CFM56 engines, installed in aircraft from the Airbus A320 and Boeing 737 families.

September

named in honor of the greater Russian polar researcher, Georgy Sedov.

new long-haul Airbus 350s and 22 Boeing 787s .

• Aeroflot signed a bilateral agreement with the Russian Olympic Committee on transport of the
Russian Olympic Team and official delegation to the 23rd Olympic Games, which will be held in
Beijing in August 2008. Aeroflot was again selected as the official Olympic carrier for Russia.

• Aeroflot signed an agreement with the Netherlands leasing company, AerCap, for delivery of six new

• Aeroflot took delivery of a sixth A321 airliner. The craft was named in honor of the famous Russian painter,

March

Alexander Deineka.
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• Aeroflot commissioned a ninth A319 airliner, named in honor of the well-known Russian traveller, doctor,

from stable to positive. This means that the Company is classed as a very dependable borrower.
sky, the great Russian artist, art theorist and poet, and one of the leaders of the avant-garde in the first half
of the 20th century.

April

• Aeroflot and Czech Airlines began joint operation of routes between Moscow, Prague and Brno,
between Moscow, Prague and Kosice, and between Moscow, Prague and Ostrava.

• Aeroflot launched regular flights between Sochi and Novosibirsk on Tu-154M aircraft.

• The Sheremeyevo-3 terminal project won a prize at Russia’s ARX Architecture and Development Awards,
topping the nominations for “Best Transport Infrastructure Facility”.

December

new A330-200 airliners for a period of 10 years on an operating lease basis. The aircraft should be
delivered between November 2008 and April 2010.
international practice. The measures, which the standard puts in place, ensure high levels of comfort
and security for passengers with physical disabilities at all stages of air transport service provision,
from ticket sales to travel.

• АК&М Rating Agency confirmed Aeroflot’s credit rating at a level of “A+” and raised the rating outlook
• Aeroflot took delivery and commissioned a tenth A319 airliner. The craft was named after Vasily Kandin-

• Aeroflot and the Netherlands leasing company, AerCap, signed an agreement on delivery of 10

• Aeroflot introduced a new service standard for passengers with physical disabilities, in line with

TV presenter and public activist, Yury Senkevich.

November

enabling unlimited ticket sales for flights, which are covered by the agreement.

• Aeroflot took delivery of a 15th A320 aircraft under an operating leasing agreement. The craft was

• An extraordinary general meeting of Aeroflot shareholders, held by postal vote, approved acquisition of 22

A320-200 passenger airliners under a 10-year operating lease. The aircraft are to be delivered between July
2008 and March 2009.

• Aeroflot and another Russian airline, GTK Rossiya, signed an agreement on joint route operation,
• Aeroflot (and the entire Russian civil aviation industry) celebrated its 85th birthday on February 9.

• Aeroflot successfully completed its regular IATA Operational Safety Audit (IOSA).

October

part of Company plans for expansion on markets in Russia’s northern capital.

• Aeroflot took delivery and commissioned its 14th Airbus A320 aircraft. The new aircraft was named

• The leading Russian stock exchange, the MICEX, upgraded Aeroflot common shares from its second-level “A”
• Aeroflot became the first Russian airline to begin using mobile automated desks for passenger registration at

• Aeroflot increased the number of flights between Moscow and St. Petersburg to seven per day as

• The Aeroflot CEO, Valery Okulov signed a memorandum of mutual understanding with Buldan
Erdenebileg, the head of MIAT — Mongolian Airlines.

• Aeroflot signed a protocol of intent with Russian Railways for organization of multimodal rail-and-air passenger carrying, using sales systems of both companies.

• Aeroflot and the Spanish airline, AirEuropa began joint operation of four routes: between Moscow,

• Aeroflot won the top prize in the “Transport Services” section of the “Company of the Year” business competition.

Madrid and Palma de Majorca; between Moscow, Madrid and Malaga; between Moscow, Madrid and
Tenerife; between Moscow, Madrid and Barcelona; and between Moscow, Barcelona and Madrid.

• Aeroflot took delivery of a seventh A321 airliner, named after the famous painter and leader of the international avant-garde, Marc Chagall.

• The number of passengers carried by Aeroflot since the beginning of 2007 reached 10 million. The ten
millionth passenger travelled on flight SU825 from Moscow to Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky in the Russian
Far East.

• Aeroflot sub-divisions successfully underwent audit for certification of the entire Company as compliant
with requirements of the ISO 9001:2000 standard.

• Aeroflot withdrew Tu-134 aircraft from its fleet after many years of service.

May

• On May 16 Aeroflot began regular passenger flights between Moscow and Norilsk.
• On May 27 Aeroflot began regular flights between Moscow and Bratislava.

June

• Aeroflot began regular flights between Moscow and Split and between Moscow and Irakleion.
• The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Aeroflot was held on June 21.
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Airman Baranov and flight
mechanic Kozhevnikov
alongside the Pravda aircraft

S.M. Budenny watches
a flypast by aircraft
of the V.I. Lenin Squadron

Nikolai Petrovich
Shebanov, an outstanding
pilot of the 1930s

“Our Answer to Chamberlain”:
a group of aircraft built using contributions,
made by workers

Key achievements in 2007
and main directions
for development in 2008
Aeroflot’s strategy is to build a Company of international
class. In order to implement this strategy, the Company’s
focus in 2007 was on creation of a sustainable basis for
long-term growth in the future and on improving competitiveness in an environment of market expansion.

1920s

The development of Russian civil aviation began on February 9, 1923, when the Soviet Labor and Defense
Council passed a resolution on organization of the Council for Civil Aviation. The year 1923 also saw
creation of the Voluntary Air Fleet, Dobrolyot, in the form of a joint stock company with share capital
of 500,000 roubles. The company was established to provide domestic and international transport of
passengers and post, for aerial photographic work and other tasks.

Aeroflot development directions in 2007:
• intensive growth of passenger carrying volumes, development of the route network inside Russia and creation of the Company’s own regional bases;
• consolidation of airline sector companies;
• modernization, unification and expansion of the Company air fleet;
• formation of a transport hub at Shermetyevo-3;
• improvement of the product offering to a level matching service standards of leading European air carriers;
• cost optimization and improvement of operating efficiency;
• development of web booking and Internet sales, introduction of e-commerce technologies.

Intensive growth of
passenger carrying volumes,
strengthening of positions
on the domestic market
Development of business on the domestic air carrying
market is a strategic objective for Aeroflot. The Company is keen to achieve significant expansion of positions
on its priority market, responding to the rise of the Russian economy and increasing mobility of the Russian
population.
Aeroflot substantially increased carrying volumes on internal routes in 2007. The Group carried 4.3 million passengers on the internal market in the course of the year
and passenger turnover was 8.7 billion RPK. Growth of
these two indicators was 19% and 21.5%, respectively.
The number of passengers carried on international routes
was 5.9 million, representing an increase of 15%, and passenger turnover was 19.2 billion RPK, which was 11.7%
more than in 2006.

17
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Aeroflot operated its own flights from Moscow to 94 destinations with average frequency of 8.75 flights per week
per destination (respective figures for 2006 were 93 and
7.9). Including code sharing agreements with partner airlines, Aeroflot offered passengers 138 routes with average frequency of 9.3 flights per week per route (respective figures in 2006 were 128 and 8.6).
On the domestic market Aeroflot operated its own flights
to 27 destinations with average frequency of 11.85 flights
per week per destination (compared with 26 and 11 in
2006). The Company offered at least one flight per day on
eight routes and two or more flights per day on another
11 routes.
The Company not only increased flight frequency on existing routes in 2007, but also began operations on promising new routes. Flight frequency was increased between
Moscow and Anapa, Irkutsk, Krasnoyarsk, Mineralniye
Vody, Novsibirsk, Perm, St. Petersburg, Sochi, Ufa and
Chelyabinsk. New regular flights were launched between
Moscow and Surgut and also from Aeroflot branches in
St. Petersburg, Magadan and Sochi.

18

As well as increasing its own route network, Aeroflot also
worked to expand its activity in Russian regions through
development of subsidiaries and branches, and through
close cooperation with partners.
The Company significantly increased its presence on the
air travel market in Southern Russia ahead of the 2014
Winter Olympics in the city of Sochi. Work on a code sharing agreement with the airline company, Dalavia, enabled
a large increase in carrying capacities from the Far East
to Southern Russia and CIS countries on routes between
Moscow and Sochi, Krasnodar, Baku, Anapa and Simferopol. Various measures were implemented at Aeroflot
branches in St. Petersburg, Magadan, and Sochi in order
to support these efforts.
Aeroflot began implementation of a policy for creation of
regional hubs in cities where its airline subsidiaries are
based — in Rostov-on-Don, Arkhangelsk, Sochi, St. Petersburg, and Khabarovsk.

Consolidation of airline
companies
Enlargement of airline companies is among principle
trends in the global air carrying industry. Large players
are well-placed to take leading positions in the industry

Key achievements in 2007 and main directions for development in 2008

thanks to their developed route networks, up-to-date aircraft fleets, brand recognition, and significant economies
of scale.
In 2007 Aeroflot continued its work on development of
overall Group business jointly with subsidiary airlines,
Aeroflot-Don Aeroflot-Nord and Aeroflot Cargo. The Aeroflot share stake in Aeroflot-Don was increased to 100%
in December 2006. Work continued in the course of the
year on the project, masterminded by Aeroflot, for creation of a Far East airline uniting the existing Far East air
companies, Dalavia, Sakhalinskiye Aviatrassy and Vladivostok Avia.

Modernization, unification
and expansion of the air
fleet
A well-considered and strategically justified approach
to formation of the aircraft fleet is fundamental to business success of a modern airline company. An efficient,
comfortable and reliable fleet enables Aeroflot to improve
operational efficiency of its carrying and to attract new
passengers, as well as reducing negative impact on the
environment.
Implementing its long-term fleet development strategy,
Aeroflot made a number of agreements for delivery of
new aircraft with manufacturers and leasing companies
in 2007, as well as commissioning nine new medium-haul
aircraft built by Airbus (three А319s, three А320s and
three А321s). These actions have enabled the Company
to create one of the youngest operational air fleets in Europe. Aeroflot successfully retired Tu-134 aircraft from
service in 2007.
Aeroflot signed contracts in 2007 for delivery of
44 long-haul airliners beginning from 2014, of which
22 Аirbus A350s and 22 Вoeing B787s.
Joint work continued with Sukhoi Civil Aircraft Company on creation of an up-to-date short-haul passenger
jet, the Sukhoi Superjet-100, which will supersede the
Тu-134. Aeroflot should have 30 SSJ-100s in its fleet
by 2012. Pending arrival of these new craft, short-haul
routes will be served by other modern aircraft types.
In particular, Aeroflot began operations at the end of
2007 with four Boeing В-737-500 aircraft, taken from
subsidiary companies on “wet” leasing terms.

Formation of a transport hub
at Sheremetyevo-3
Construction of Aeroflot’s own terminal at Sheremetyevo
International Airport is of key importance for realization of
the Company’s long-term development strategy. Opening
of the new Shermetyevo-3 terminal complex will enable
Aeroflot to create its own hub. This will reduce connection time between flights, enable changeover to a wave
timetable, and considerably improve levels of passenger
service on the ground, leading to major gains in Company
competitiveness on domestic and external markets, and
helping the Company to attract more transit passengers.
The new terminal building is designed to serve up to
12 million passengers each year. Installation of 24 selfcheck-in desks, automated baggage sorting, a three-level
security system and simplified customs clearance will
improve comfort levels for passengers and speed up the
registration process.
The larger part of construction work was completed in
2007: the platform with all infrastructure was 90% finished, and the building, rail link and engineering networks

were brought to 70% completion. The terminal is now being decorated and operational and technical preparations
are being carried out ahead of commissioning. After construction and decoration work is fully completed, there
will be a three-month period for testing and fine-tuning
of terminal systems. Opening is scheduled in the first half
of 2009. Launch of Sheremetyevo-3 will create 6500 new
jobs at and around Sheremetyevo Airport.

Improvement of product
quality
Provision of a high-quality product is a key strength for
an airline company, of equal importance with a well-established brand. One of the main challenges for Aeroflot
today is to raise quality of the product offering to the level
of European leaders in order to attract and retain highyield segment of passengers.
Numerous research projects have offered multi-faceted
and integrated assessments of the Aeroflot product by
consumers and experts, which has helped the Company to
develop a package of measure for improving its product
quality.
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Aeroflot’s internal program for audit of passenger service quality — “Secret passenger”, which was launched in
2005 — found improvements during 2007 in the match
between Aeroflot’s overall product offering and approved
product standards (from 78% to 83%), as well as improvement in specific areas, notably in-flight service in
economy class (from 76% to 85%) and functioning of the
Company’s call center (from 80% to 91%).
Aeroflot launched a complex program for improvement of
service to passengers in economy class, offering the new
“Kommersant”-class service to passengers on flights to
Geneva, Nice and Helsinki. The Company also modernized
its offices in Krasnoyarsk, Perm, Magadan, Vladivostok
and Bishkek, ensuring that they match Aeroflot’s standard
corporate style. Aeroflot carried out large-scale publicity
campaigns for its new service classes (“President”, “Premier”, and “Kommersant”), and also executed measures
for advancement and development of its brand.
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Membership of the SkyTeam global airline alliance is
a very important part of Aeroflot’s efforts to improve its
product offering. The route network, which the alliance offers to its passengers, includes 841 destinations in 162
countries, providing consistently high service quality and
allowing passengers to use bonus programs of any alliance member to pay for tickets on any of these routes.
Aeroflot’s service to passengers on international and
internal routes and Company revenue levels have been
positively affected by access to new systems and modern
know-how of the leading international airlines, which are
SkyTeam members, and the Company has benefited from
joint use of airport infrastructure and implementation of
coordinated advertising campaigns worldwide.

Key achievements in 2007 and main directions for development in 2008

Optimizing costs and
improving operating
efficiency

Development of Internet
booking and introduction of
electronic tickets

Aeroflot gives high priority to improvement of operating
efficiency, which is a particularly important task in an
environment of continuing price rises for fuel and main
types of services.

IATA has required all of its members to introduce electronic ticket technologies by July 1, 2008. Legal barriers
to use of the technology in the Russian Federation were
lifted in February 2007, enabling rapid implementation of
electronic ticket technology by Aeroflot and ensuring that
100% changeover to electronic ticketing can be accomplished in 2008.

Aeroflot ensured efficient use of its key assets last year.
Aircraft fleet reliability rose from 74.7% in 2006 to 79.3%
in 2007. Average flying time per aircraft rose by 0.4 hours
to 8.6 hours and average flying time per aircraft in working order rose by 0.7 hours to 11.6 hours. The Company
also increased use of more fuel efficient aircraft, which led
to reduction of fuel use by passenger airlines per tonnekilometer by 31 grams compared with 2006.
Optimization of the route network and improved business
efficiency led to 32.2% increase of passenger traffic revenues in like terms compared with 2006, although the
number of passengers carried increased by only 16.6%.
Growth of passenger traffic revenues outpaced growth of
costs in 2007. Yield per tonne-kilometer grew by 16.6%,
compared with 11.3% growth of operating costs, which
ensured improvement of operating efficiency in like
terms.

From March to December 2007 Aeroflot issued more than
400,000 electronic tickets, which are now sold through
the Company’s agent network, at its own offices and via
the Internet. Ticket sales on the Internet grew steadily
throughout 2007. Sales via Aeroflot’s Internet site grew
at a rate of 5% per week, enabling sales of more than
226,000 tickets in total during the year.

Objectives in 2008
Main objectives for the Company in 2008 are as follows:
• maintaining high levels of flight safety;
• growth rates on the internal market, which are above
the industry average;
• renewal and expansion of the aircraft fleet;
• preparation of the new Sheremetyevo-3 terminal for
commissioning, which is scheduled in 2009;
• improvement of product quality at all stages of passenger service;
• intensive development of direct sales channels and
electronic tickets;
• strengthening of cooperation with foreign partners in
the SkyTeam alliance;
• creation of the Company’s own flying school to train
pilots for Aeroflot and for other airlines;
• development of a brand management system;
• implementation of a cost reduction program;
• improvement of the training and motivation system
for Company personnel.
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The aircraft cockpit during
the flight from Moscow
to America via the North Pole

A commemorative postcard,
issued in the US to mark the flight
by Soviet pilots over the North Pole

An ANT-9 aircraft
at an aerodrome in Berlin

Overview of the air
traffic market
The global market: First
profitable year since
the industry crisis

Total losses of IATA member airlines, which account for
up to 94% of regular air traffic worldwide, were USD
6 billion in 2005. Losses declined to USD 500 million in
2006 and in 2007 the global air traffic industry showed
a profit for the first time since 2000, which totalled USD
5.6 billion (IATA data).

The air traffic industry worldwide returned to profit in
2007 following the air traffic crisis, which lasted from
2001 until 2005.
Growth of the world air traffic market
75.1

76

77.1
Profit, USD billions

Growth of passenger traffic, %

1930s

A Government order from March 25, 1932, called for the Main Department of the Civil Air Fleet
to be renamed following its reorganization. This new name — “Aeroflot” — marks the birth of a trade mark,
which has since gained worldwide recognition.

Occupancy rate, %
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Main reasons for the improvement of financial results
were steady rise of demand for air transport services and
major initiatives by airlines to reduce their costs. Growth
of international passenger traffic in 2006 was 5.9%, followed by growth of 7.5% in 2007. Cargo traffic increased
by 4.3% in 2007, down from 4.6% growth a year earlier. IATA experts forecast growth of passenger traffic by
4-4.5% in 2008. Average passenger load factor in the industry rose from 76% in 2006 to 77.1% in 2007.
Fastest rates of growth last year were shown by airlines
in the Middle East, which increased passenger carrying
by 18.1%, compared with 8.4% in Latin America, 8% in
Africa, 7.3% in Asia an 6% in Europe. The slowest growth
rate, of 5.7%, was registered in North America.	
However, further development of the industry is held back
by a number of negative factors, which are expected to
reduce growth rates in 2008.
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The main negative factor is high prices for aviation fuel,
which are making it very difficult for airlines to control
their expenses despite success in lowering non-fuel costs
by 16%, reducing spending on marketing and sales by
25%, and raising labor productivity by 64% since 2001.
There is also a risk of negative impact on the industry from
expected slowdown of economic growth rates. As a result,
IATA expects that profits in the global air transport industry may decline to USD 4.5 billion in 2008 (turnover for
the year is expected to be in excess of USD 500 billion).
IATA experts believe that American airlines will suffer the
heaviest losses, mainly because 35% of American airline
fleets have average age in excess of 25 years. Airlines in
the US are only beginning to emerge from the crisis, which
began in 2001 and have not had time to renew their fleets,

Growth of passenger traffic in 2007 by regions, %

Middle East

18.1

Latin America

8.4

Africa

8

Asia

7.3

Europe

6

North America

5.7

and older aircraft models consume more fuel than their
modern counterparts. Profits of European and Asian airlines are also expected to decline. Profit levels in the Middle East should be steady, because geographical location
of carriers in that region enables them to carry out rapid
expansion of route networks. The only region which is expected to show growth of profits in 2008 is South America.
Africa will continue to show losses, as in 2007.
Airlines, many of which have struggled to survive in recent years, have been able to find money for renewal of
their aircraft fleets thanks to growth of demand for air
transport. There have been many instances of equipment
purchases worth billions of dollars by Asian and (particularly) Middle Eastern airlines in recent years, while
large-scale purchases by European carriers have been
less frequent. But this pattern is gradually changing. Last
autumn Germany’s Lufthansa, which is the second largest
air carrier in Europe after Air France — KLM, placed an
order worth USD 4.3 billion for 32 Airbus A320s and 9
A330-300s. British Airways, the third biggest air carrier
in Europe, placed an order for 12 large-capacity Airbus
A380s and 24 long-haul Boeing 787s. Total value of the
order was USD 8.2 billion, representing the largest equipment purchase by British Airways since 1998.

Russian airline industry:
Strong growth continues
The Russian airline industry has been showing strong
growth since 2000, driven mainly by growth of the Russian economy, rise of business activity, rise of personal
incomes and mobility, as well as development of air transport infrastructure and renewal of aircraft fleets.

Growth of the Russian air traffic market
732.2

640

Passengers, millions

Passenger turnover, billion RPK

Cargo, thousand tonnes
38 94

45 111

2006

2007

Russian airlines carried 45 million passengers on domestic and international routes in 2007, representing an
increase of 18.6% from 2006. These figures are still considerably lower than levels of passenger carrying before
break-up of the USSR (88 million passengers were carried inside Russia in 1991), but they represent a steady
growth dynamic. Passenger turnover grew by 18.2% to
111 billion RPK, and cargo traffic increased by 14.3% to
732.2 million tonnes. Growth rates in 2007 were more
than twice higher than in 2006 and set a record for the
period from 2000 to 2007.
Growth rates of passenger traffic differed significantly
between geographical areas in 2007. The largest growth
of passenger numbers — by 22.4% — was on long-haul international routes to destinations outside Russia and the
CIS (the so-called “Far abroad”). Growth on routes inside
Russia was 16.7% and passenger carrying on CIS routes
expanded by 12.8%.

Russian market growth in 2007 by destinations,%
Far abroad

22.4

Russia

CIS

16.7

12.8

The 15 biggest airlines carried 70% of all passengers
on Russian domestic routes, and the average growth
rate in this category was 20.6%, which is 3.9 percentage
points more than the average level on all domestic routes
(16.7%). So the gap between largest airlines and smaller
operators continues to widen.
The Russian market is now one of the most promising in
the world, together with the Chinese, Indian and Middle
East markets. Current forecasts for development of the
economy and the market situation suggest that the trend
of growing demand has a long-term character. Industry
analysts estimate that nominal wages in Russia, which
are used to calculate an affordability index, rose by more
than six times in 2000–2007, while average annual ticket
prices on domestic routes rose by just over two times.
However, air transport mobility of the Russian population
remains considerably lower than in developed countries.
On average, Russians make one flight every 3–4 years
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(not including carrying by foreign airlines) while the average in the US is 2.5 flights per year and 1–3 flights per
year in the countries of Western Europe.
Rapid development of the Russian air transport market
has excited interest from foreign airlines. More than 30
foreign airlines have commenced regular flights to Russia in the last seven years. Business success of world
airline giants in Russia has also attracted a number
of low-cost carriers (AirBerlin, Germanwings, WindJet
and Niki), offering flights at discount prices.
Foreign airlines carried 10 million passengers on routes
in and out of Russia during 2007, representing growth
of 19.7% compared with 2006. Lufthansa, which is the
largest foreign operator in Russia, carries over one
million passengers on the Russian market each year.
The German flag carrier, including its subsidiaries, is
the largest operator after Aeroflot on routes in and out
of Russia. Other operators are also stepping up rates
of growth of their Russian business: Czech Airlines,
British Airways, Qatar Airways, Thai Airways and Lufthansa increased supply of seats on flights to Moscow
by 20–65% during 2007.
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As stated in the Transport Strategy for the Russian Federation up to 2020, main objectives for Russia’s civil aviation industry are:
• to make air transport services affordable;
• to make Russia’s airline industry more competitive;
• to capitalize on the country’s transit potential and
develop exports of transport services.
Lack of supply of modern Russian-built aircraft and
import barriers against foreign aerospace equipment
are making it harder for Russian airlines to increase
their competitiveness in an environment of high prices for aviation fuel. Foreign imports are liable to 20%
customs duties on the value of the aircraft, followed by
an 18% VAT levy, increasing overall purchase cost by
41.6%. Foreign airlines, which do not bear this extra
cost burden, are clearly in a much stronger competitive
position.
Other adverse factors include: a monopolistic situation
in the refuelling business at Russian airports, which
contributes to uncontrolled growth of fuel prices; shortage of personnel (about 400 pilots quit the profession
each year and no more than 200 pilots graduate from
flight schools annually); and out-of-date, depreciated
equipment at regional airports.
Russian airlines must consolidate in order to achieve
further growth of competitiveness. Air traffic is a global
business and only large carriers can be competitive on

Overview of the air transport market

a global scale. This is confirmed by development trends
in the international airline industry. The merger of Air
France with KLM has created the largest airline company in Europe, carrying more than 65 million passengers
each year. Similar processes are occurring in Asia. Unification of the Japanese air companies, JAL and JAC,
has created the largest player on the Asian market,
carrying more than 50 million passengers each year.
10 state-controlled Chinese airlines have been brought
together in three companies, each carrying more than
20 million passengers annually.

due to expansion of irregular (charter) flights. Airlines in
the AirUnion alliance showed overall 7.8% reduction of
passenger flows in 2007, including 17.3% reduction on
domestic flights.

Aeroflot: The industry leader

Russian airlines: Main
events in 2007
Prominent events in the Russian airline industry last
year included further increase of aviation fuel prices,
from already high levels, and launch of electronic ticket
sales by Russian companies.

Russia’s first low-cost airline, Sky Express, started
flights in February last year. The company uses Boeing B-737-300/500 aircraft and is based at Vnukovo
airport.

Fuel price growth between January and September last
year was modest, and the average price per tonne of fuel
for airport refuelling was still below 18,000 roubles in
September. However, rapid growth began in October
and a tonne of fuel had risen in price by 30% to about
23,000 roubles by the end of the year. Higher fuel prices
are certain to have negative effect on the air transport
market due to corresponding increase of ticket prices.
These developments add special urgency to the task of
replacing outdated, fuel-inefficient aircraft fleets of Russian airline companies.

Fastest growth of passenger traffic volumes among
Russia’s top-5 airlines in 2007 was shown by Transaero
(51.7% increase), followed by VIM-Avia (46.8%) and
Atlant-Soyuz (38.3%). Most of the passenger growth at
Transaero last year related to the company’s international operations, which showed 54.4% increase, compared with 37.9% increase on internal flights. Growth
by VIM-Avia was also from expansion of regular international carrying, while Atlant-Soyuz developed mainly

Russian airlines commissioned 105 foreign-built passenger aircraft during 2007. At the end of the year
a total of 264 foreign-built passenger and cargo aircraft
were in use by 24 Russian airlines. Aeroflot owned 58 of
these aircraft.
IATA rules require member airlines to transfer to electronic systems for registration and ticket sales on international flights before June 1, 2008. Airlines, which
fail to meet this requirement will be effectively debarred
from operations on international routes.

Russian market structure by overall passenger
turnover (domestic and international traffic), %
4.8 VIMAvia Group

Roughly 30% of passenger carrying services are currently sold via electronic tickets. The share of electronic
tickets in Europe and the US is 83% and 90% respectively. However, less than 10% of ticket sales in Russia are in electronic form. Operations with electronic
airline tickets require installation of special equipment
by airlines and airports. Unfortunately, some Russian
airports are not yet ready for use of electronic ticket
technologies.

6.1 Rossiya

4.1 Utair

8.9 AirUnion
27.7 Other
10.6 Transaero

12.6 Sibir
25.2 Aeroflot Group

As Russia’s largest airline, Aeroflot has felt the full benefit of increasing demand for air transport. The Company carried 8.2 million passengers in 2007, or 12%
more than in 2006. Addition of traffic by Aeroflot subsidiaries gives a total figure of 10.2 million passengers,
which is 16.6% more than in 2006. Aeroflot’s share of
total traffic by the Russian airline industry in 2007 was
18.2% by passenger numbers and 22.3% by passenger turnover (25.2% including Company subsidiaries).
Seat occupancy was 70.2%. Company operations are
completely focused on regular flights, reflecting Aeroflot’s positioning as a global network carrier. Business
development in 2007 enabled Aeroflot to strengthen
its positions on the regular domestic flight market, significantly enhancing attractiveness of the Company’s
route network and supporting development of cooperation with other airlines as part of the SkyTeam global
alliance.
Aeroflot kept its leadership on the regular international
airline market, achieving a total number of 5.4 million
passengers or 45.4% of the overall market, while Transaero took second place with 13.8% market share.
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Industry positions on international flights, %

Aeroflot Group was in second place among Russian airlines in 2007 on the market for cargo and mail carrying.
The Company carried 95,900 tonnes of cargo and mail in
2007. The figure together with operations by subsidiary
companies (including the specialized company, AeroflotCargo) was 153,700 tonnes of cargo and mail, representing 20.1% of total carrying by Russian airlines. The biggest Russian cargo carrier in 2007 was Volga-Dnepr, with
212,900 tonnes (29.1% market share). Third place was
taken by Sibir with 33,300 tonnes (4.5% of the market).

Passenger turnover

Passenger numbers

Aeroflot
Group
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Sibir

Rossiya
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Group

Atlant Soyuz

AirUnion
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7.2 / 7.8

6.9 / 7.2

6.7 / 7.5

6.5 / 6.2

Structure of the Russian air cargo market, %
4.5 Sibir

The Company substantially expanded its operations on regular domestic routes, carrying 2.8 million passengers (19.7%
more than in 2006, and 16.7% more than the average level
for Russian airlines). Including subsidiaries Aeroflot-Don
and Aeroflot-Nord, Aeroflot Group accounted for 17.7% of

domestic volumes measured by passenger turnover and
17.6% by passenger numbers (4.3 million people).

29.1 Volga�Dnepr

The respective figures for second-placed Sibir were
16.4% and 14.8%.
20.1 Aeroflot Group
46.3 Other
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Industry positions on domestic flights, %
Passenger turnover

Passenger numbers

Aeroflot
Group
17.7 / 17.6

Sibir

AirUnion

UTair

Rossiya

Dalavia

Transaero

16.4 / 14.8

12.0 / 7.4

7.7 / 10.6

4.8 / 6.8

4.7 / 2.3

4.1 / 1.9

Deputy Squadron
Commander,
D.V. Kuznetsov

Hero of the
Soviet Union,
V.S. Grizodubova

Assembly line for Yak fighter aircraft
at a factory in Moscow

Olga Lisikova —
Brave commander
of LI-2 aircraft

Overview of operations in 2007
Aeroflot’s operational results in 2007 were determined
by growth of the Russian air transport market, but also
by Company success in meeting the challenges of strategic development, including increase of the volume of operations, qualitative improvement of the product, development of the route network, modernization and expansion
of the aircraft park and introduction of new management
technologies.

Safety
Aeroflot assigns key importance to flight safety and aviation security. The Company is implementing programs
and has created systems, which maintain a high level of
flight safety and ensure security of all passengers, aircraft
and Company facilities from illegal interference.

1941–1945

Aeroflot personnel made a solid contribution to Victory in World War II. Aeroflot pilots made flights behind
enemy lines, delivering supplies to partisan detachments, flew aircraft across Siberia and carried out domestic
and international air transport duties.
The document attesting Germany’s unconditional surrender was delivered to Moscow by Aeroflot pilots.

Flight safety
Aeroflot has created a program of risk management to ensure safety of its flights. The Company is always alert to
actual and potential threats, implementing corrective measures and constantly monitoring the level of safety, which
has been attained. These efforts have enabled the Company to show very impressive levels of safety, measured
by the indicator of flight hours per incident: in 2007 the
number of flight hours per incident at Aeroflot as 7,480
compared with average 2,600 in the Russian industry.
Any failure of technical equipment is classed as an “incident” if it did not lead to an accident (i.e. to a more serious
event, involving structural damage to the aircraft, which
could represent a threat to passengers).
The level of flight safety in 2007 was 99.977% (this indicator represents probability that any specific flight will
proceed as per normal, without complications).
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Level of flight safety, %

Aviation security
99.977

The main objective of Company activities in the field of aviation security is to organize and carry out measures that ensure maintenance of aviation security, protecting passengers
and Aeroflot personnel in performance of their duties, and
preventing any acts, which represent illegal interference in
Company operations or which attempt to inflict economic
damage. High standards of aviation security at Aeroflot have
been confirmed by international inspectors: the IOSA audit in
2007 did not find any instance of non-compliance or factors
meriting criticism with respect to aviation security.
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Flight safety is a key priority for the airline industry worldwide. IATA had developed a Safety Program integrated
with requirements, which air carriers must satisfy in order
to pass the IOSA operational safety audit. The Program
defines six principle elements of a flight safety system:
• the condition of infrastructure;
• accounting and analysis of data relating to events
and incidents;
• operational risk management;
• integrated systems for management of safety issues;
• baggage checks and systems for detection of dangerous items;
• safety auditing.
In 2005 Aeroflot was the first Russian airline to successfully undergo an IOSA operational safety audit. The
Company confirmed its compliance with the latest IOSA
requirements in 2007 and certification of Aeroflot as an
IOSA operator has been renewed until 2009. It is important to note that the Company has obtained lifting of the
IOSA exclusion for IL-96-300 aircraft thanks to implementation of a number of required actions, and Tu-134s,
which also represented a problem for IOSA certification,
have now been phased out from the Company fleet. As a
result, all Aeroflot aircraft now meet the requirements of
main international standards for operational safety.
Aeroflot has its own Aviation-Technical Center. The Center
is the largest of its kind in Russia and has the following resources:
• more than 2500 highly qualified personnel, of
whom more than 1800 are engineering and technical specialists, with qualifications from leading Russian and international training centers;

• operating facilities covering an area of 23,000
square meters, including three hangars for technical servicing of Russian and foreign-built aircraft;
• more than 3000 up-to-date items of technical
equipment.
Aeroflot’s Aviation-Technical Center provides technical support for operations of the Company aircraft fleet, using the
latest techniques for analysis and conduct of repair and service work.
Aeroflot also carries out regular technical flight conferences
devoted to operations with Russian-built aircraft (IL-96s and
Tu-154Ms) with participation by all companies, organizations and government structures, engaged in development,
production and exploitation of these aircraft. Problems,
which have arisen in the course of operations, are discussed
at the conferences, and the parties pool their efforts to find
ways of resolving the problems and carrying our necessary
modernization. Aeroflot works constantly to maintain a high
level of reliability throughout its aircraft fleet.
The eight main types of activity covered by the IOSA operating safety standard are as follows:
• Organization and management system (ORG)
• Flight operations (FLT)
• Operational control and flight dispatch (DSP)
• Aircraft engineering and maintenance (MNT)
• Cabin crew (CAB)
• Ground handling (GRH)
• Cargo operations (CGO)
• Operational security (SEC)
IOSA requirements do not substitute for other regulatory
and normative documents governing the airline industry.

During 2007 Aeroflot’s aviation security service carried out
checks of aviation security arrangements and compliance
with standards during ground handling of Aeroflot flights at
airports and Aeroflot offices in a number of cities: Bishkek
(Kyrgyzstan); at Berlin Airport (Germany); London (UK); Tashkent (Uzbekistan); Delhi (India); Cairo (Egypt); Sophia (Bulgaria); Dnepropetrovsk and Simferopol (Ukraine); and Arkhangelsk, St. Petersburg, Krasnodar, and Irkutsk (Russia).
Aeroflot began to use two new approaches to aviation security in 2007: distance analysis of air quality inside aircraft
and regular monitoring of levels of radioactivity on board
aircraft and in ground infrastructure facilities. No abnormally
high levels of radiation were detected at facilities or on board
Aeroflot aircraft during 2007.
Aeroflot obtained certification in 2007 for use of a specially
developed device for distance analysis of air quality. The device collects air samples and is capable of retaining scents
for a long period of time. After samples have been collected,
material from a special filter on the device is presented to a
sniffer dogs located away from the place where the collection

was made. The samples are tested in a favorable environment, which excludes interference from external factors —
change in air temperature, incidental noises, smells, — making the use of sniffer dogs more productive and efficient. The
method also has a number of other advantages: it enables
testing to be carried out more quickly; allows the task to be
entrusted to personnel without professional training as doghandlers; and greatly increases the chances of detecting any
suspicious materials, since the samples are presented in turn
to three sniffer dogs.
Aeroflot pursued implementation of a number of special programmes in 2007: 100% baggage checks; work with restless passengers; security presence on high-risk flights; and
development of a complex security system at company facilities. All newly hired Aeroflot staff undergo aviation security
training.
Work began in 2007 for installation at Aeroflot of IATA’s
integrated airline management system (IAMS).
The purpose of the IATA’s IAMS system is to bring together
key management systems that operate within an airline.
Main components of this complex system are as follows:
• Safety Management System (SMS)
• Security Management System (SeMS)
• Quality Management System (QMS)
• Enterprise Risk Management (ERP)
• Supplier Management System (SUMS)
Installation of IAMS does not require reorganization of
the Company’s operations, since a part of the system’s
components are already in place at Aeroflot, while other
components are in the process of development and implementation.
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Air traffic

International and domestic passenger traffic,
thousands of passengers

Passenger load factor, %

Operating results of Aeroflot Group in 2006-2007
71.4

71.2

Total

2007

2006

Change

Passengers carried, thousands

10,205.2

8,753.9

16.6%

Revenues passenger kilometres, million RPK

27,879.3

24,324.8

14.6%

Available seat kilometres, millions

39,735.8

34,911.4

13.8%

Passenger load factor, %

70.2

69.7

0.5pp

Share of regular traffic*, %

99.5

99.1

0.4pp

Cargo and post, thousand tonnes

153.7

151.8

1.3%

Cargo turnover, million СTK

851.1

876.9

–2.9%

Tonne kilometers, million TKM

3,360.2

3,065.8

9.6%

Available tonne kilometers, million TKM

5,805.7

5,294.2

9.7

57.9

57.9

–

5,948.9

5,175.2

15.0%

Revenues passenger kilometres, million RPK

19,166.9

17,152.3

11.7%

Available seat kilometres, millions

27,538.4

24,830.8

10.9%

Passenger load factor, %

69.6

69.1

0.5pp

Share of regular traffic*, %

99.3

98.9

0.4pp

Weight load factor, %
Of which:
International
Passengers carried, thousands
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Cargo and post, thousand tonnes

115.5

119.3

-3.2%

Cargo turnover, million СTK

694.7

746.9

-7.0%

Tonne kilometers, million TKM

2,419.7

2,290.3

5.6%

Available tonne kilometers, million TKM

4,312.0

4,045.9

6.6%

56.1

56.6

-0.5pp

Weight load factor, %

Passengers carried, thousands

4,256.3

3,578.7

18.9%

Revenues passenger kilometres, million RPK

8,712.4

7,172.5

21.5%

12,197.4

10,080.6

21.0%

Passenger load factor, %

71.4

71.2

0.2pp

Share of regular traffic*, %

100

99.9

0.1pp

Cargo and post, thousand tonnes

38.2

32.5

Cargo turnover, million СTK

156.4

Tonne kilometers, million TKM
Available tonne kilometers, million TKM
Weight load factor, %
* Number of passengers carried.

3,579

3,166

2006

Domestic

69.6

69,1

68.9

5,949

5,175

4,906

2005

68.2

2007

2005

International

2006

Domestic

International passenger traffic
Aeroflot carried 5.9 million passengers on international
routes in 2007, representing 58.3% of the total number
of passengers carried by the Airline. Passenger turnover
on international routes was 19.2 billion RPK, which is
68.7% of the Company’s total passenger turnover. Nearly
all (99.3%) of this total was on regular routes. Company
capacities for international carrying increased by 10.9%,
and passenger load factor rose by 0.5 p.p to 69.6%.

Domestic passenger traffic

2007
International

The load factor was 71.4%, which is 0.2 p.p more than in the
previous year, despite substantial increase of capacities (by
21%). Passenger turnover on domestic routes rose by 21.5%.
Nearly all domestic carrying was on regular routes.

Cargo traffic
Transport of cargo and post by Aeroflot rose by 1.3% in
2007 to 153,700 tonnes. Cargo turnover was 851.1 million RTK. The load factor was unchanged from the previous year at 57.9%.
International cargo

Aeroflot Group maintained high rates of growth on the domestic market in 2007. The share of domestic carrying total
passenger carrying by the Company rose by 0.8 p.p compared
with 2006 to a level of 41.7%. The Group carried 4.3 million
passengers inside Russia, which is 18.9% more than in 2006.

The share of international carrying in total cargo and post
business was 75.2% by overall volumes and 81.6% as
a share of turnover. A total of 115.5 tonnes were carried on
international routes. The commercial load factor was 56.1%.

Structure of passenger carrying on regular traffic by region

Domestic

Available seat kilometres, millions

4,256

Region

Passenger numbers,
thousand

Passenger turnover,
million pkm

Passenger turnover
capacity, million
pkm

Occupancy,
%

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

America

306.9

301.8

2,671.5

2,640.6

3,685.6

3,690.3

72.5

71.6

Middle East and Africa

575.3

547.7

1,458.0

1,466.9

2,121.8

2,037.7

68.1

72.0

17.5%

Asia (including Japan)

895.6

1,002.2

5,751.0

6,277.8

7,842.4

8,435.8

73.3

74.4

130.0

20.3%

Europe

2,596.8

3,255.3

5,698.9

7,136.5

8,943.2

11,055.9

63.7

65.0

940.5

775.5

21.3%

Russia

3,562.4

4,245.1

7,151.1

8,696.2

10,027.3

12,166.6

73.6

71.5

1,493.7

1,248.3

19.7%

CIS

732.3

785.9

1,331.8

1,479.8

1,894.2

2,055.2

70.7

72.0

63.0

62.1

0.9 pt

Total

8,669.3

10,138.0

24,062.3

27,697.8

34,514.5

38,866.1

70.2

71.3
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Domestic cargo
Cargo carrying on domestic routes totaled 38,200 tonnes,
which was 17.5% more than in 2006. Cargo turnover was
156.4 million RTK, up by 20.3% from the previous year.
The commercial load factor was 63%, which was 0.9 p.p.
more than in the previous year.

Route network
Aeroflot set itself a number of objectives for development
of its route network in 2007. The Company launched new
routes, increased flight frequency on existing routes, and
developed partnership relationships with other Russian
and foreign companies.
Aeroflot’s medium-haul network comprises 73 routes, offering an average of 10.2 flights per route each week. The
long-haul network comprises 21 routes offering four or
more flights each week.
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The connectivity ratio of Aeroflot’ own flights (the number
of possible on-flights for every flight arrival) increased by
38.6% in 2007 to 11.6 (up from 8.3 in 2006), and the number of transit passengers using the route network rose by
20% to 2.2 million, or 27% of the total number of passengers carried by the Company.
Network development in 2007: Eight new routes were
opened and flight frequency was increased by 23 routes.
Main efforts by the Company in 2007 were focused on
business development on Russian and European air
traffic markets, and also on design and implementation
of a “wave” flight timetable as the key element in creation of a hub at the Company’s new terminal, Sheremetyevo-3.
Aeroflot launched regular flights in 2007 on two new routes:
• Moscow — Surgut (seven flights per week on Tu-154
aircraft);
• Moscow — Malaga (two flights per week on А320 aircraft).

Overview of operations in 2007

•
•
•
•
•
•

Bucharest
Hannover
Sophia
Madrid
Barcelona
Oslo

—
—
—
—
—
—

from 2 to 4
from 3 to 7
from 5 to 7
from 7 to 11
from 8 to 10
from 5 to 7

Asia
• Beijing
• Shanghai

Inside Russia flight frequencies were increased on
routes to Irkutsk, Perm, St. Petersburg, Ufa, Mineralniye
Vody, Anapa, Sochi and Chelyabinsk. Five new flights per
week were added on the Moscow-Novosibirsk route and
four new flights were added between Moscow and Krasnoyarsk.
In connection with fleet restructuring Aeroflot started to
operate Airbus А320 aircraft on routes to St. Petersburg,
Rome, Larnaca, Athens, Tehran, Cairo, Barnaul, Kemerovo,
Nizhnevartovsk and Omsk.
A total of 1663 modifications were made to flight schedules in 2007 as part of operational optimization of current
timetables. The number of modifications, which have to be
made, serves as an indicator of planning quality. Summer
and winter timetables, which are compiled in advance,
cannot fully predict how circumstances will change, so
optimization in the course of operations is inevitable. The
number of modifications was reduced by 10.9% compared
with 2006, which is clear proof of improving planning
quality. Total economic impact of timetable modifications
in 2007 was USD10.5 million.

Expansion of the route network through
code-sharing agreements

Flight frequencies were substantially increased in 2007,
as follows:
Europe
• Zagreb
• Athens
• Venice

Aeroflot cooperated with 34 companies in 2007 via
code-sharing agreements. However, there were some
changes in the list of Aeroflot’s code-sharing partners:
code-sharing agreements with Austrian Airlines were

— from 3 to 5
— from 6 to 7
— from 4 to 7

11% Codesharing flights

— from 9 to 14 (peak season)
— from 5 to 6

Route network development plans in 2008
As part of its complex program for development of the
route network in 2008 Aeroflot plans further expansion
of its flight geography and increase of flight frequencies on high-income markets with substantial passenger
turnover.

America
• Los-Angeles — from 5 to 6 (peak season)
• Havana
— from 2 to 3

Aeroflot expanded cooperation with other airlines in
2007 through agreements on joint use of route codes
(“code sharing”). Main objectives of the Company’s codesharing strategy in 2007 were:
• expansion of Aeroflot presence on promising markets;
• gaining access to markets where specific barriers are
in force;
• expansion of the existing route network;
• more efficient use of the Company’s aircraft fleet.

Aeroflot also began regular flights on new routes from its
branches in St. Petersburg (three routes), Magadan (two
routes) and Sochi (one route).

Share of passenger traffic on code-sharing routes
in total Aeroflot passenger traffic in 2007

89% Aeroflot flights

canceled (due to transfer of Austrian Airlines operations to Domodedovo Airport), as were agreements
with Slovak Airlines (due to its bankruptcy). New agreements were reached with three airlines: AirEuropa;
Vladivostok Avia; and Rossiya.
A total of 993,840 passengers were carried on routes operated jointly by Aeroflot and other airlines during 2007,
representing an increase of 25.7% compared with 2006.
Growth of code-sharing indicators in 2007 was driven by
new agreements and renewal of old agreements, but also
by operations of airlines in the SkyTeam global alliance and
extensive use of the Aeroflot code on flights of Aeroflot’s
alliance partners.
On the Russian domestic market Aeroflot worked hard to
develop cooperation with other Russian carriers and to
strengthen the business of its subsidiaries and branches as
well as developing its own route network.

The Company will place special emphasis on development of its medium-haul route network, particularly inside Russia. Aeroflot also plans to start operations on
several domestic and international routes using more
modern aircraft, which offer higher levels of fuel efficiency. This will be possible thanks to addition to the
Company fleet of aircraft from the Airbus А320 family.
Future acquisition of new Russian-made Sukhoi Superjet-100s will also be important in this respect.
Due to a shortage of long-distance airliners in its fleet,
the Company has no plans for significant expansion of
its operations in the long-haul segment. A330 aircraft,
which are scheduled for delivery in the fourth quarter
of 2008, will be used to increase flight frequencies on
already existing routes.
Aeroflot expects to sign code-sharing agreements in
2008 with Kingfisher (India), SkyEurope (Slovakia) and
MIAT (Mongolia), to expand agreements with Alitalia (Italy), CSA (Czech Republic), AirEuropa (Spain), SAS (Scandinavia) and China Southern Airlines (China), as well as
implementing agreements with American partners in the
SkyTeam alliance.
Measures to develop the route network should enable
12% increase of passenger turnover and 16% increase
of passenger traffic in 2008.

Aeroflot’s code-sharing partners
Agreements

Airlines

19 agreements, in which Aeroflot is both
operating partner and marketing partner

SkyTeam alliance:
Aeromexico, Air France, Alitalia, Continental Airlines, CSA — Czech Airlines, Delta
Airlines, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, Korean Air and Northwest Airlines
Other airlines:
LOT — Polish Airlines, Scandinavian Airlines System, Malev, Finnair, Bulgaria Air,
Cyprus Airways, JAT Airways, Air Baltic, Dalavia, Rossiya

6 agreements, in which Aeroflot is operating
partner only

Tarom, Cubana, Iran Air, Cathey Pacific, Air India, AirEuropa

9 agreements, in which Aeroflot is marketing
partner only

Adria Airways, Estonian Air, Lithuanian Airlines, Air Malta, Belavia, Aeroflot-Don.
Aeroflot-Nord, Tatarstan, Vladivostok-Avia
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SkyTeam is a global airline alliance, currently numbering 11 full members: Aeroflot, Aeromexico, Air France, Alitalia, Сhina
Southern Airlines, Continental Airlines,
CSA — Czech Airlines, Delta Airlines, KLM
Royal Dutch Airlines, Korean Air and
Northwest Airlines. The alliance also has three associated
members: AirEuropa, Copa Airlines and Kenya Airways. There
are currently three global airline alliances in the world: Star
Alliance, SkyTeam and Oneworld. More detailed information
can be found on the SkyTeam web-site: www.skyteam.com
In 2007 Aeroflot cooperated with other members of the
alliance in sale and organization of air transport services,
including interline agreements (for sale of tickets on flights
of airline partners), code-sharing agreements, partnership
agreements for implementation of frequent-flier programs,
and agreements on carrying of personnel of alliance airlines on special terms). The Company also took part in various joint projects and initiatives by the alliance.
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Aeroflot uses the following types of code-sharing agreement:
• “point-to-point” agreements, involving placement
of the Aeroflot marketing code on flights between
Moscow and airport bases of SkyTeam partners;
• “beyond” agreements, involving placement of Aeroflot’s marketing code on partners’ flights beyond
their base airports, and placement of the partners’
codes on Aeroflot flights beyond Moscow.
Main landmarks in development of code-sharing cooperation with alliance partners in 2007 were as follows:
• Alitalia: changeover to a free sale model, starting from
the 2007–2008 winter season, will increase benefits
from cooperation by enabling more seats to be offered
for sale and by placement of both companies’ codes
on all SU and AZ flights between Moscow and Rome,
Milan and Venice;
• AirEuropa: Aeroflot began unilateral cooperation
with this company starting from the 2007–2008 winter season on Aeroflot flights between Moscow and
Madrid and between Moscow and Malaga;
• CSA — Czech Airlines: Aeroflot placed its code on
flights by its partner from Prague to Bratislava under
terms of an existing “beyond” agreement, enabling
Aeroflot to maintain the latter city on its list of destinations after its previous partner on this route — Slovak
Airlines — went out of business.

Overview of operations in 2007

• enhancement of Aeroflot’s image as a reliable airline thanks to partnership with leading world airlines in the SkyTeam alliance;
• Availability of tickets for Aeroflot flights in any of
the alliance’s 2100 offices worldwide;
• Implementation by Aeroflot of interline-electronic
ticket technologies.
Aeroflot took an active part last year in alliance working
groups on a number of themes:
• flight safety, aviation safety and quality (SSQ FE
Committee);
• product;
• joint use of airport infrastructure;
• IT and electronic services;
• sales projects;
• advertising and brand;
• public relations;
• recruiting (attraction of new companies to the alliance).

The aircraft fleet

Aeroflot fleet development strategy*
2001

2005

2010

2016

Short-haul

Tu-134
В737

Tu-134

SSJ 100

SSJ 100

Medium-haul

Tu-154
IL-86

Tu-154
IL-86
А320

А320

А320

IL-62
IL-96
А310
В767
В777

IL-96
В767

IL-96
А330
В767

А350
В787

9

6

5

4

101

81

112

150

Long-haul

Aircraft types
Total
* Only JSC Aeroflot.

Success of the business strategy of a modern airline,
particularly in conditions of steady growth of fuel
prices, depends on prudent, long-term planning of its
aircraft fleet. Step-by-step renewal of the Company aircraft fleet is one of the main aspects of Aeroflot’s strategic development.
Aeroflot without subsidiaries aims to increase its annual
passenger traffic from 8.2 million people at present to
12.3 million by 2010 in order to meet growing demand
and to fulfil business growth targets. For this purpose
the Company plans to expand carrying operations by acquisition and leasing of modern aircraft with high levels
of fuel efficiency, reliability and comfort.
Main actions for development of the aircraft fleet up to
2010 will be complete replacement of Tu-154s by air-

Change of annual weighted fuel price, USD per tonne
622

660

craft from the Airbus A320 family and short-haul Sukhoi Superjet 100s (SSJs), as well as expansion of the
long-haul fleet by acquisition of Airbus A330-200s. The
Company will operate B737-500 aircraft , leased from
subsidiaries Aeroflot-Don and Aeroflot-Nord , as a temporary measure pending full commissioning of the SSJ.
The aircraft fleet restructuring program has enabled
significant reduction in consumption of fuel, prices for
which have grown sharply in recent years. The Company
is also implementing a program for modernization and
weight reduction of Russian-made aircraft (Tu-154Ms)
and is working to optimize fuel and spending (particularly fuel spending) through long-term contracts with
suppliers.

Fuel efficiency of the Aeroflot fleet, grams per seat km
40

38

38

38

37

37

35

525

229

Operational flight hours in 2007 totaled 285.915 hours,
of which 275.376 hours referred to the Company’s own
passenger airlines. The increase compared with 2006
was 11% (+27,389 hours). Flight hours on non-Company
aircraft, which were operated on some Aeroflot routes
in the course of the year, totaled 8,322 hours, down by
1,335 hours or 13.8% compared with 2006. Flight hours
using DC-10-40-F aircraft reached 2,217.
The ratio of aircraft in working order to all aircraft was
79.3% for passenger airliners. Average daily flight hours
per aircraft in the fleet increased by 0.4 hours to 8.6
hours and the daily average for aircraft in working order
increased by 0.7 hours to 11.6 hours.

Average daily flight hours per aircraft in the fleet
B767

29

357

Since the Company entered the alliance, partner companies in the alliance have increased sales of Aeroflot flights
thanks to:
• participation by Aeroflot in a number of commercial projects by the alliance (Europe Pass, America
Pass, Asia Pass and Round The World);

Flight hours

14,1

A320

11,4

A321

11

270

A319

9,6

IL96

9,2

Tu154
2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

2010

Tu134

7,4
4,7
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Aeroflot fleet structure as of January 1, 2008*

An improved version of economy class — “Kommersant” class — was introduced in May 2007 on Airbus
A319/320/321 aircraft flying Aeroflot routes to Geneva, Nice and Helsinki. Kommersant class offers passengers a more comfortable service on the ground and
in the air, including use of the business-class registration desk, seats in a separate space at the front of the
economy-class section of the cabin, and more extensive in-flight service.

Aircraft type

Total

Change in
2007

Owned

Operational
lease

Financial lease

Average age

Long-haul
Boeing-767

11

–

–

11

–

10

IL-96-300

6

–

6

–

–

14

IL-62

1

–

1

28

Medium-haul
Airbus A319

11

+3

–

7

4

4

Airbus A320

13

+3

–

12

1

3

Airbus A321

10

+3

–

–

10

2

Tu-154М

26

+1

26

–

–

20

–

–9

–

–

–

–

–

28

IL-86**

Short-haul
Tu-134**

9

–4

9
Cargo

40

DC-10-40F
TOTAL:

–

–3

–

87

* JSC Aeroflot only.
** Aeroflot has ceased operations with its own aircraft of this type.

Plans for 2008
The Company plans to continue restructuring of its fleet of
both Russian- and foreign-made aircraft in 2008 in order
to create a balance of medium- and long-haul aircraft, appropriate to the Airline’s business strategy,
Following withdrawal from use of IL-86 aircraft in 2006,
Aeroflot ended exploitation of Tu-134 aircraft at the end
of 2007 (some of these craft have been transferred to
Company subsidiaries and some have been sold). The
Company is also envisaging withdrawal of Tu-154s by the
end of 2010, and routes will be served using Boeing-737500 aircraft, taken from subsidiaries on operating leasing
terms with their crews (ACMI — Aircraft, Crew, Maintenance, Insurance). The number of planes in the Aeroflot
fleet, being used on these terms, will rise to 8 in 2008.
In accordance with a contract signed by Aeroflot, delivery
of the first two Russian-made regional and short-haul aircraft, the Sukhoi Superjet 100, should be made by the end
of 2008. The number of Sukhoi Superjets in the Aeroflot
fleet should rise to 30 by 2012.

Addition to the fleet in 2008 of 11 Airbus А320 aircraft
will raise the total number of these craft deployed by
Aeroflot to 45. Their number should increase further to
56–65 units in coming years.
Expansion of the long-haul fleet will be through addition of
10 А330 aircraft, the first of which will be commissioned
at the end of 2008.
In the longer term Aeroflot plans to carry out a complete
renewal of its long-haul aircraft fleet, raising the number
of long-haul craft to 44 units.

Product and brand
development
Aeroflot’s marketing strategy is to attract and retain the
high-income passenger segment by provision of a product,
which exceeds both passenger expectations and the products offered by competitors, as well as by creation of a system of support for passengers travelling in high classes.

Aeroflot developed a qualitatively new design for aircraft A330-200 interiors during 2007 using its corporate colors. Redecoration of interiors using the new
design will begin from the fourth quarter of 2008. The
change of color combination on long-haul aircraft aims
to create an atmosphere of comfort and to make passengers feel at home, as well as enhancing perceptions
of the airline among its customers.
Corporate style improvements reflect Aeroflot’s achievements and emphasize the Company’s advancement to a
qualitatively new development level.
Work continued to make travelling more convenient for
passengers through introduction of automated passenger registration systems at Russian airports, reducing the
time needed for registration procedures. Such systems
were introduced at the following airports:
• Sabre ACSI registration system: Anapa, Astrakhan,
Omsk, Volgograd, Kaliningrad, Mineralniye Vody,
Perm, Tyumen, Nizhnevartovsk, Samara, Ufa, Chelyabinsk;
• Other registration systems: St. Petersburg, Vladivostok, Ekaterinburg, Barnaul, Kemerovo, Irkutsk,
Novosibirsk, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk.

The Sabre ACSI registration system has been installed on
mobile registration desks at Mineralniye Vody Airport.
Preparatory work for system installation is underway at
several other airports: Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky, Surgut,
Sochi, Krasnodar, Khabarovsk, Krasnoyarsk, Magadan,
Arkhangelsk, Murmansk, Naryan-Mar, and Rostov.
Aeroflot offices in Krasnoyarsk, Perm, Magadan and
Bishkek were modernized last year in accordance with
the Company’s unified corporate style. Work is continuing on redesign of Company offices in Surgut, Vladivostok and London, and new design projects have been
developed for Aeroflot offices in Moscow.
The Company carried out extensive marketing of its
new service classes — President, Premier and Kommersant — to target audiences, taking part in 22 Russian
and foreign trade exhibitions, including four in Europe
and four in South-East Asia. Aeroflot conducted a largescale advertising campaign on the TV channel, CNN,
during 2007, developing the Company’s positioning as
a reliable and professional airline.
Aeroflot carried out a number of marketing actions in
2007 in order to boost sales (“No hiding low fares”, “Autumn goes on”, “Flying where we want go”), as well as
various advertising campaigns (to publicise introduction
of Kommersant service class, e-tickets, fleet modernization and opening of new routes to Malaga and Surgut),
and several promotions, including a special action to
market the opening of a branch in Magadan.
Aeroflot acquired about 300,000 loyal customers in
2007 as part of its frequent flyer program (Aeroflot Bonus). The total number of passengers using Aeroflot Bonus rose to 960,992.

41

ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Overview of operations in 2007

Number of passengers participated in the Aeroflot
Bonus program

The Company’s cabin crew celebrated their 40th birthday on July 11, 2007. Aircraft stewards and stewardesses are the
public face of Aeroflot, offering an essential symbol of hospitality, Russian good will and high standards of in-flight service.

960,992

677,165

478,761
325,958
242,633
175,626
14,394

1999

Monitoring customer satisfaction
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The SkyTeam Onbord Survey, which studies levels of customer satisfaction with levels of in-flight service offered
by SkyTeam members, recommended Aeroflot as a relatively successful SkyTeam airline in this respect. A positive trend compared with 2006 gave Aeroflot solid midranking positions and the company won leading positions
by some criteria of comfort and cleanliness on board its
aircraft. Aeroflot service on medium-haul flights ranked
fourth in economy class and fifth in business class. Company service on long-haul flights was ranked seventh in
both classes. Aeroflot gained 1–3 places in the alliance
ratings by comparison with 2006.
The IATA Survey of Flights in Europe (SoFiE), which focuses on customer satisfaction on European routes, also
showed that Aeroflot is competitively placed by comparison with main European airlines, particularly measured
by criteria of cabin comfort and in-flight entertainment for
business-class passengers. Aeroflot rose in the rankings

65,698

2000

110,080

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

to take seventh place for service in business class and
eighth place in economy class, representing an improvement of one position in each class.
Aeroflot extended its cooperation with IATA’s research division in 2007, taking part in the research program, IATA
Global Airlines Performance Asia (an overview of the air
transport market in Asia). Results in the first year suggest
that Aeroflot still has much work to do in order to improve
in-flight service standards on Asian routes.
(information and booking service). In a unique competitive offering, Aeroflot will launch its improved economy
class (Kommersant class) on all Airbus A319/320/321
routes in Europe.

Plans for 2008
Aeroflot has several measures planned for 2008, which
will improve quality of ground and in-flight service. The
Company will continue work to finalize options and design
of SSJ 100 aircraft; Panasonic eX2 individual monitors will
be set into seat backs in business and economy class on
A330-200 aircraft; music programming will be developed
for in-flight use, as well as for the Company’s call center

Positions in IATA ratings of customer satisfaction for the European and Asian airline markets
Survey of Flights in Europe

Global Airlines Performance: Asia

Business class

Economy class

Business class

Economy class

Aeroflot’s ranking
(change compared with
2006)

7th place out
of 13 airlines
(+1 place)

8th place out
of 13 airlines
(+1 place)

16th place out
of 16 airlines

16th place out
of 16 airlines

Market leaders

Austrian,
Czech Airlines,
Malev

Finnair,
Austrian,
Czech Airlines

Malaysia Airlines,
Singapore Airlines,
Virgin Atlantic

Singapore Airlines,
Malaysia Airlines,
Korean Air

The 2008 summer timetable will bring in a new improved
menu for passengers in Premier and President classes,
incorporating the latest trends in restaurant service while
maintaining features of national cuisine. Passengers in
economy class will enjoy a new improved menu, presented on a freshly designed dinner service.

Sales organization
Aeroflot is the leader in development of modern sales
methods and distribution channels on the Russian air
transport market. The Company has strong working
relationships with leading international booking and
distribution systems: Sabre Travel Network, Amadeus,
Galileo, WorldSpan and the Sirena Travel automated
booking system. Aeroflot was the first Company in
Russia to introduce electronic tickets and is rapidly
developing its Internet sales. The network of agents
and of the Company’s own offices in Russia and worldwide is very extensive and offers excellent geographical coverage.

Inside Russia
Total revenues from sale of passenger traffic services in
Russia in 2007 were USD 1882.56 million (39.3% more
than in 2006)*.
Substantial increase of passenger transport volumes in Russia reflects rapid advances by Aeroflot in the Russian market, implementation of new service development technologies, individual work with key customers, and development
of cooperation with subsidiary and partner airlines, including partners in the SkyTeam Alliance.
The sales system in Russia consists of several elements,
as follows:
• the Company’s own sales channels:
— 	representative offices and Aeroflot branches in
various regions of the country;
— the Company’s salеs office network in Moscow;
— 	a call center for information and bookings by
telephone;
— the Internet site, www.aeroflot.ru;
• agent sales channels include:
— 	a network of agencies in Moscow and in Russian regions;
* JSC Aeroflot only.
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Overview of operations in 2007

Structure of passenger revenues through sales channels located in Russia in 2007*, %

Structure of passenger revenues through sales channels outside Russia in 2007*, %

13.1

13.3

20.6

22.5
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Aeroflot offices in Moscow
66.3

64.2

Official agents
29

Regions
Moscow agents

2006

2007

sure a high quality of service. Call center operators provide information support and bookings for Aeroflot flights,
as well as a special line for users of the Aeroflot Bonus
frequent flyer program and for customers of partner airlines in the SkyTeam alliance. Revenue generated through
Aeroflot’s information and booking service rose by 74%
in 2007 to USD 74 million.

The largest share of sales has traditionally been through
Moscow agencies. However, Aeroflot is working hard to develop and improve direct sales systems, which offer an efficient and dependable means of communication between
the Company and end-users of its services. Turnover of the
Company’s own sales offices in Moscow rose by 41.5% in
2007 compared with 2006 to USD 249.84 million.

The share of sales in Russian regions away from Moscow
increased to 22.6% in 2007, demonstrating progress in
the Company’s program for development of business on
the Russian domestic market. Siberia and the Russian Far
East made the biggest contributions to growth of regional
sales last year.

The Company continued to develop its own call center
(telephone information and booking service) in 2007 in
order to improve efficiency of information provision to
passengers. Additional capacities were installed at the
call center to deal with the growing work load and to en-

Aeroflot joined the BSP-Russia project in June 2007, offering air travel services via neutral IATA e-tickets. The
BSP system simplifies the documentation procedure for
air tickets, as well as accounting and settlement between
airlines and agents, helping to reduce costs.

Passenger revenue structure in Russian regions
in 2007*, %
6 Volga

22

Representative offices

17
1

Internet sales

2007

* There were no sales via the Internet in 2006, JSC Aeroflot only.

— 	a network of agents using neutral sales systems
(Transport Clearing Chamber, and Billing and
Settlement Plan) (the term “neutral” is appropriate
because application forms used for sales through
the TCC and BSP are not ascribed to any particular company).
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2006

* JSC Aeroflot only.

BSP/ARC

29 Siberia

Aeroflot has also taken steps towards provision of its own
e-tickets at Company offices and representative offices in
the Russian Federation, launching the pilot stage of an
electronic sales project in November 2007.
Aeroflot implemented an integrated program in the course
of the year for advancement of its services, including advertising and promotional actions, participation in travel
industry shows, presentation of products and services, and
refining of the Aeroflot Bonus program for frequent flyers.
The Company took part in travel industry shows, which
were held during 2007 in the following Russian cities: Moscow, Ufa, Samara, St. Petersburg, Novosibirsk, Tyumen,
Ekaterinburg, Volgograd, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk, Chelyabinsk,
Astrakhan, Krasnoyarsk, Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky, Vladivostok, Khabarovsk, Mineralniye Vody and Surgut.
Veterans and invalids of the Great Patriotic War (World
War II) benefited from the Company’s social and promotional program, “Comrades in Arms”.

Abroad
Revenue from passenger traffic sales outside Russia totaled
USD 879 million in 2007, exceeding their level in 2006 by
USD 152.6 million and exceeding earlier targets by USD
57.2 million.
Sales of passenger transport services outside Russia are
carried out:
• through agents working with neutral systems of
settlement between agents and airlines, BSP (Billing and Settlement Plan) and ARC (Airline Reporting Corporation);
• through official agents (firms, which have direct
agreements with Aeroflot);
• at the Company’s representative offices;
• through the Internet (web-sales).
The Company carried out passenger traffic sales on foreign markets through a network of 73 representative offices in 2007. New representative offices were opened
Passenger revenue structure in regions outside
Russia in 2007*, %
13 America

9 Krasnodar
14 CIS, Baltics

16 Ural
24 Africa and

Middle East,
South�East Asia

17 North�West
23 Far East

* JSC Aeroflot only.

* JSC Aeroflot only.
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in Malaga (Spain) and Jeddah (Saudi Arabia) as part of
Company efforts to expand its flight geography.
Aeroflot’s representative office in Lima (Peru) was closed
from February 1, 2007 for cost-saving reasons.
Aeroflot obtained BSP registration in 2007 in Thailand, Albania, Macedonia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Saudi Arabia and New
Zealand. Sale of Aeroflot transport services is now available
in 52 countries, including eight countries, to which Aeroflot
does not operate flights and where the Company does not
have representative offices. Revenue from passenger transport sales through BSP/ARC (Airlines Reporting Corporation) increased by 37.9% in 2007 compared with 2006.
Aeroflot continued work in 2007 to optimize commission
payments to agents for sale of passenger traffic services.
Resulting gains to the Company were USD 46 million.
Steps were taken to install a system of bonus payments to
agents on various foreign markets in order to help stimulate sales. Bonus payments were introduced in Germany,
UK, Denmark, Iran, Italy, UAE, Czech Republic, France,
Finland, USA, South Korea, Japan, India, Syria, Lebanon,
Canada, and Latvia. Sales volumes increased by 21.8%
compared with 2006 as a result.
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Aeroflot reached corporate agreements in 2007 with
companies from France, Italy, and the USA (Veolia Enviroment, Channel, Safran, The Atomic Energy Agency, Candy,
and Pepsi Co).
A half of all sales through BSP/ARC were electronic by
the end of 2007.

Overview of operations in 2007

• Creating a system for transmission and application
of efficient business technologies and know-how,
which are already used by some companies in the
Group;
• Cost savings through centralisation of general operational functions and efficient use of assets to
benefit Group companies;
• Improved quality and standardisation of services by
introduction of overall high standards;
• Obtaining extra value through better understanding of consumer needs and brand strength.
Aeroflot Group continued work in 2007 to agree a consolidation plan for airlines in the Far East Federal District
and to obtain relevant permissions from government
authorities. The sequence of steps towards creation of a
united carrier on the basis of the three airlines, Dalavia,
Vladivostok Avia and Sakhlinskiye Aviatrassy, will be continued in 2008.
The following projects have been implemented for development of subsidiaries:
• Aeroflot-Don has obtained IOSA certification and is
developing charter flight through its branch based at
Sheremetyevo Airport;
• Aeroflot-Nord is completing IOSA certification;
• Aeroflot-Cargo increased traffic volumes, which enabled it to break even in the fourth quarter of 2007,
and expanded its aircraft fleet by contracting and
commissioning of new MD-11, Boeing-737 and IL-96
aircraft;
• Aeroflot-Plus started to operate a Tu-134 aircraft with
a business salon and is working to finalize contracts
for delivery of two more foreign-made aircraft.

Aeroflot had interests in 27 companies and non-profit organizations at the end of 2007.

Important projects implemented by non-aviation subsidiaries include construction of a new building at the
Sherotel Hotel as well as a project to find a co-founder
for the Social Partner non-state pension fund (a contest
has been held to select the co-founder, which must be an
organization with experience of pension asset management business).

Aims of creation and development of Aeroflot
Group
• Geographical development of the Group and high
market share on target markets to ensure maximisation of profits;
• Reducing risks of profit migration by diversification of the business (within the limits of the airline
industry);

Main tasks in 2008, in addition to establishment of Aeroflot service standards at subsidiary companies, are as
follows:
• the project for creation of a Far East airline;
• construction of an alternative refuelling complex at
Khabarovsk Airport (and possible consideration of a
project for creation of a regional hub at Khabarovsk);
• creation of a flying school for pilot training.

Business of subsidiaries
and affiliates

Main companies in Aeroflot Group
AIR CARRYING
Passengers

Cargo

OJSC Aeroflot-Don
CJSC Aeroflot-Nord
CJSC Aeroflot-Plus (VIP-air carriage)

CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo

FLIGHT AND PASSENGER SERVICE
Shermetyevo-3

Duty-free
sales

Refuelling

In-flight
catering

Cargo
servicing

Hotel
business

Aviation
security

Business-class
salon

OJSC
Terminal

CJSC
Aerofirst

CJSC TZK
Sheremetyevo

CJSC
Aeromar

LLC
Airport
Moscow

CJSC
Sherotel

CJSC AeroMASH-AB

CJSC
ZAO Deit

SERVICES RELATED TO AIR TRANSPORT
Insurance

Training of aviation
personnel

Clearing

Telecommunications

CJSC Insurance Company
Moscow

Aviabusiness Higher Business
School

CJSC TKP

S.I.T.A.

OTHER FIRMS
Cargo agent

Tourist firm

Pension fund

Express post

Transnautik GmBH

Alt Reiseburo

Social Partner non-state pension fund

LLC EMS Garantpost
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A Tu-104 aircraft in Prague

Fidel Castro with Soviet stewardesses

An Il-62M aircraft in London

Risks and risk management
Implementation of
enterprise risk management
system
Aeroflot is a large Russian company with an aircraft fleet
that carries passengers and cargo inside Russia and on
international routes. Thereat the Company’s operations
are subject to general financial and business risks and
also to risks, which are specific to the airline industry.

1950s

Civil aviation fleets worldwide were renewed during the 1950s as the era of jet propulsion arrived.
In September 1957 a Tu-104 with Aeroflot insignia landed at New York Airport. This was the world’s first
passenger jet and the effect of its arrival was comparable to that of the flight across the North Pole under
the command of Valeriy Chkalov. The first non-stop flight from Moscow to New York on the new generation
of Tu-114 jets was carried out in 1959.

Aeroflot pays much attention to implementation of enterprise risk management system, taking account of the experience of leading international companies, ICAO and IATA
requirements for flight safety and operational security risk
management systems, and technologies of aviation insurance and financial risk hedging. Aeroflot’s objectives in the
risk management field are as follows:
• to raise quality of Company management of unforeseen events, to reduce losses due to such events
and reduce the cost of risks;
• to create a preventative system of risk management;
• to support favourable attitude towards Aeroflot
from investors and insurance market.

Aviation field risks
The main field risks, which had significant impact on Company business in 2007, are:
• the highly competitive environment;
• increased cost of resources and services, increase
of air fares;
• seasonality of air traffic;
• country and regional risks;
• legal risks;
• high level of operational risks in air field.
Competition for passengers between airlines on the Russian air transport market has become increasingly fierce.
Competition between traditional Russian carriers has
been intensified by the appearance of low-cost airlines as
well as growing interest in the Russian market from foreign airlines. Aeroflot therefore pays special attention to
service quality, maintaining of a broad and efficient route
network, development of cooperation with reliable partners and agents, and marketing of its brand.
Prices for resources and services used by airlines rose
substantially in 2007. The increases were mainly for
services of natural monopolies – fuel suppliers, aircraft
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Risks and risk management

Aeroflot’s ERM system

Insurance
Insurance is an important element of risk management,
enabling Aeroflot to transfer part of its risk to external financing. Insurance protection of the Company is based
on the following principles:
• sufficiency of insurance coverage for protection of the
property interest of Aeroflot;
• quality of insurance protection.

Board of directors

Risk Management Department

Audit committee
cEO and management Board

corporate Risk Team
corporate Risk Leaders

division/function Risk Teams
corporate risk owners and division/function risk owners

Business/Production Unit Risk Teams
Business/Production Unit Risk Owners

50

corporate Risks

division/function
Risks

BU/PU Risks

repair facilities, navigational support and airports. Cost of
providing air transport services rose as a result, and this
was reflected in higher shares of fuel, airport and air navigation costs in Aeroflot air fares.

Efficiency of the Company’s risk management system for
flight safety and operational security was confirmed once
again in 2007 by independent auditors during Aeroflot’s
IOSA certification.

Aeroflot’s business has a seasonal character because the
number of journeys undertaken by passengers varies according to the time of year. Aeroflot adapts its route network as far as possible to match seasonal variations and
has a flexible fare policy.

Operational risk management

Country and regional risks arise mainly on international
routes and relate to local armed conflicts, political instability, natural disasters, disease and epidemics. Aeroflot makes a careful analysis of these factors and reacts
to dangers by suspending flights to certain countries,
changing routes, ensuring high levels of aviation safety,
and tightening its health and hygiene regime.
Legal risks include major changes in Russian and international regulation of air transport business, tax and
currency legislation, as well as licensing requirements.
Work is currently underway to modernize various international conventions, which regulate the business of air
carriers, and there is a constant process of change in
Russian legislation.
High level of operational risks in the transport industry
are mainly due to the need to ensure flight safety and operational security, reliability of equipment and personnel
qualifications.

In accordance with ICAO and IATA requirements, all
airlines must have a system of flight safety in place by
January 1, 2009, which includes the necessary processes, procedures, principles and programs for detection, assessment and definition of flight safety risks and
management of those risks.
Aeroflot approved a flight safety risk management program in 2007.
The Company is improving its systems and processes in
aviation security risk management in accordance with
an overall aviation risk management system, which has
already been designed and implemented.

Aeroflot has been able to achieve steady reduction of its
insurances costs in recent years while maintaining high
quality of insurance protection and substantial growth of
performance indicators.
The main insurance programs used by Aeroflot are as
follows:
• aviation insurance;
• non-aviation insurance:
— voluntary medical insurance;
— vehicle insurance (Hull, PA, compulsory liability,
additional libility);
— compulsory PA insurance for passengers;
— PA and professional incapacity insurance for
flight personnel;
— property insurance;
— insurance for use of hazardous equipment.
Over 64% of Company insurance spending relates to
aviation security.

Aeroflot’s aviation insurance
Renewal of the Company’s aviation insurance policies
for the period from July 2, 2007 until July 1, 2008 (Aeroflot’s policy period begins on July 2) was carried out in
accordance with the Company’s standard competitive
procedures.

Aeroflot insurance structure in 2007
1.9 Vehicle

Aeroflot pays special attention to flight safety risks
management over influence of human factor.
Efficiency of the Company in creation of flight safety
and aviation security risk management system was
confirmed once more by independent auditors during
certification of Aeroflot to IOSA standards in 2007.

insurance

2.0 Other

insurance

4.1 Accident and

professional
incapacity

27.2 Medical

insurance

64.8 Aviation

insurance

Aviation insurance in Aeroflot consists of the following
insurance programs:
• Aircraft hull insurance and Airline passenger, third party, baggage, cargo and mail legal liability insurance;
• Aircraft hull war and allied perils and Airline third
party war risks and allied perils insurance;
• hull deductible insurance..
The Company chooses its re-insurer on a competitive
basis, which gives a positive effect where the scale of
risk being insured is large (insurance value of the aircraft fleet and combined limits of passengers and third
parties liability).
Aeroflot is aimed on forming an attitude from international insurance market towards the Company as an equal to
world leading airlines and a best one among carriers in
Russia and post-Soviet area.
Direct insurance of risks was carried out by Aeroflot’s
subsidiary, Moscow Insurance Company (a 100% subsidiary of Aeroflot). Reinsurance services were provided by
the insurance broker, Willis, which is the world leader in
aviation insurance.
Aeroflot has approved a standard for aircraft hull insurance and airline legal liability insurance, which ensures
protection of Aeroflot’s property interests with respect to
risks of damage to aircraft and Airline passenger, third
party, cargo and baggage liability risks on routes using
Aeroflot codes.
As well as covering Aeroflot’s own risks, current re-insurance also covers risks of other airlines in the Group
(Aeroflot-Don, Aeroflot-Nord, Aeroflot-Plus and AeroflotCargo). This enables subsidiaries to reduce cost of their
insurance programs, and guarantees the quality of Aeroflot’s insurance protection and uniformity of procedures
for loss adjustments.
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Risks and risk management

Aeroflot renewed its aviation risk insurance policy with a
discount of 19.6% compared with the previous policy period. The discount in 2006 was 12%.
Aeroflot’s aviation risk insurance policies are compliant
with requirements of aviation authorities of the countries included in the Company’s route network and take
account of rules laid down by the Montreal Convention
of 1999, which introduced higher requirements on liability of air transport operators to passengers. Aeroflot’s
current liability limits meet standards of the SkyTeam international alliance and standards of airline companies,
which are partners of Aeroflot in code-sharing agreements.

Management of financial and business
risks
Aeroflot identifies the following key financial risk categories, which are relevant to its business:
• currency risk;
• interest risk;
• credit risk;
• risk of fuel price changes.
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Aeroflot works consistently to minimize and hedge its financial risks using a variety of instruments: calculation
of the Company’s currency position; an agreement concerning operations on the financial derivatives market
(not via stock exchanges); fixing of variable interest rates
on leasing agreements; calculation and setting of limits
on operations with guarantees of bank customers and
Aeroflot agents; calculation of personal limits of agents
for ticket sales; bank options; price setting in contracts for
fuel-price hedging, etc.

Premium for comprehensive insurance of Aeroflot
aircraft per million US dollars of insured value

Sale of passenger and cargo transport services is carried out mainly through agents, who, as a rule, use wellestablished settlement and clearing systems. Aeroflot has
been a participant of the BSP-Rossiya project since June
1, 2007.
A pilot project was launched in 2007 for sale of air tickets
using electronic ticket technology. As part of preparations
for e-ticket launch a method was designed for agent financing to reduce credit risks arising in the process of
electronic sales.
The Company pays special attention to improvement of its
information security system. Management of information
risks is the responsibility of a permanent commission for
information security within the Company. Work is carried
out regularly to detect, assess and analyze risks and rank
them according to the extent, to which they have critical
importance for Aeroflot.

pany. The main purpose of the standard is to establish
unified approaches and requirements for project risk
management.

Joint work is being continued with the company Terminal
to ensure coverage of risks connected with construction
and assembly work on the new terminal complex, Sheretmetyevo-3. Aeroflot and Terminal are also working together to assess risks, which will arise in connection with
commissioning of the Sheremetyevo-3 complex.
In addition to business risks there is a group of business
risks related to the overall political environment, taxation,
currency legislation, as well as legal risks. As required by
international accounting standards, Aeroflot keeps reserves for instances where risks are high enough to force
diversion of money to settle financial obligations.
Aeroflot approved a new standard in 2007, entitled
“Risk management and management of project risk”,

Aeroflot premiums for liability insurance per
passenger, USD

1.48

4,184
3,851
1.32
3,174

1.15

2,181
0.82

2004–2005 2005–2006 2006–2007 2007–2008

intended to improve organization of project management, and to put measures in place for ensuring and
standardizing project risk management inside the Com-

2004–2005 2005–2006 2006–2007 2007–2008
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The Antarctic. Penguins.
A white desert of silence

Hero of Socialist Labor, Alexander Sergeyevich
Polyakov, recounts his flight to the Antarctic

Aeroflot pilots are welcomed
in the settlement of Mirny

Social development
An integrated approach and
high standards
Aeroflot views social responsibility as a highly important
and inseparable part of Company strategy for development and creation of additional value for shareholders.
Mindful of its status as the leader in the Russian civil aviation industry, Aeroflot maintains the highest standards in
its work with Company staff, protection of the environment and charitable activities.
The social dimension of Aeroflot’s activities is demonstrated in more detail in the Company’s Social Report (accessible via the Shareholder and Investor section of the
Company’s web site and on request).

1960s

IL-18 and An-12 heavy turboprop aircraft flew from Moscow to the Antarctic
for the first time on December 15, 1961.
The IL-62 was used on passenger routes from the first time in 1967.

The Company’s staff are its most
important asset
The goal of Aeroflot’s personnel policy is to create an efficient system of relationships within the Company, which can
serve as a key competitive advantage.

All global airlines pay close attention to staff issues. Clearly,
staff are among the most valuable asset of any airline at the
present time. In Russia the overall demographical situation
entails that management must have particular regard for
staff issues and make special efforts to ensure that the Company can source the qualified personnel, which it needs in
order to ensure successful operations.
Aeroflot’s concept for staff and social policy includes the following main elements:
• ensuring that staff have attractive opportunities for
professional development and adequate levels of
remuneration;
• attracting highly qualified individuals to work in the
Company, with the capacity for further development
of their professional qualities;
• putting in place an efficient social policy and system
of social protection, including pension provisions;
• using up-to-date staff motivation mechanisms, in order to raise labour productivity inside the Company to
levels achieved by the Association of Europe Airlines.
Aeroflot Group employs more than 20,000 people, of whom
30% work in the air: aircraft captains, pilots, cabin crew and
other crew members. More than a half of Company employ-
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Average number of Aeroflot Group personnel
2007

2006

18,519

17,503

15,303

14,717

OJSC Aeroflot-Don

1,398

1,072

CJSC Aeroflot-Nord

1,362

1,427

383

287

Airline
including
JSC Aeroflot

CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo
CJSC Aeroflot Plus

73

21

1,115

1,084

Hotel (CJSC Sherotel)

349

316

Others (Terminal, Insurance Сompany Moscow)

131

72

20,114

18,996

Catering (CJSC Aeromar)

Total

ees have higher education. The remainder have special or
specialized secondary education. The average age of staff is
42 years. The balance between male and female employees
is roughly equal (52% and 48%, respectively).
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Aeroflot ensures rigorous observance of legal requirements
and internal corporate rules in the field of health and safety.
The Company makes sure that its employees use protective
gear and that work places are maintained to relevant standards, as well as carrying out necessary tests and technical
examinations of equipment, machines and mechanisms.
The average wage of Aeroflot personnel in 2007 was 43,300
roubles. In addition to wages, employees benefit from a number of social programs, depending on the nature of employment and category of each individual employee. A significant
part of the social package consists of insurance programs,
access to holiday facilities and sanatoria, and medical care.
Average wages of Aeroflot employees,
thousand roubles*
43.3
34.0
30.1

16.3

2001

19.4

2002

* JSC Aeroflot only.

22.2

2003

25.4

2004

2005

2006

2007

Work with personnel by Company managers at all levels is
integrated into an overall system of personnel management,
focused primarily on an approach to employees as individuals, as well as development of motivation and of factors,
which have impact on the employee’s attitude to his work.
Aeroflot received prizes in two nominations in 2007 at the
third annual competition to find the “Best Russian Personnel
Department”: the Company was a prize winner in the nomination, “Best Russian Personnel Service”, and in the nomination, “Corporate Leader for Social Responsibility”.

Professional training and raising of
qualifications
Professional training and development of Aeroflot personnel during 2007 was provided through special programs
for flight and technical staff, cabin crew and ground personnel as well as through programs for raising levels of
qualification and certification.
Training and work to raise levels of qualification of Aeroflot
personnel is carried out at the Company’s Training Center
for Aviation Personnel. A total of 956 training events were
organized at the Center in 2007, of which 79 were for flight
personnel, 169 for engineering and technical personnel,
253 for cabin crew, 365 for ground grew and 90 were for
instruction in foreign languages. 11,532 employees of the
Company’s structural divisions underwent training and
raised their levels of qualification, 2,849 studied foreign
languages, and 154 were prepared for operations using
the Sabre system.
In addition, more than 1000 Company employees underwent training and raised their levels of qualification during
2007 at 69 educational institutions in Russia and abroad.

Social and charity activity
Aeroflot’s social and charity activities are guided by principles of responsibility to society, attention to social problems, and support to those in need. The Company’s work
in this field is carried out consistently and systematically
via a number of integrated socially-oriented programs
(more details can be found in Aeroflot’s Social Report).
These programs are as follows:
• support to vulnerable social groups
— support to children with health problems and to
invalids;
— transport services to facilitate gatherings by War
veterans;
— action for veterans of the Siege of Leningrad.
• support to education and science programs.
• support to sport.
• support to culture.

Protecting the environment
Aeroflot complies with legislation on environmental protection in Russia and in countries, to which the Company
operates flights. The Company has a system of environmental management and control with respect to its operations. Main tasks of operating control are to ensure
observation of rules on air pollution, of limits on waste
disposal, and to make sure that plans and measures for
environmental protection are implemented by Company
sub-divisions.
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Meeting of the Тu-114 crew,
which carried out the first
regular flight to Tokyo

The first IL-75 international cargo flight
from Moscow to Sophia

In the cockpit
of an IL-76

An IL-76T in Berlin

Corporate governance
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Corporate governance bodies
Meeting
of Shareholders
Revision
Commission
Board
of Directors

Audit
Committee
Strategy
Committee
Personnel
and Remuneration
Committee

Internal
Audit Service

1970s

Aeroflot increases international carrying volumes and expands its flight geography.
Aeroflot ranked 14th—15th in the world rating of international airlines at the end of the 1970s and start
of the 1980s, and was placed 8th—9th in Europe.

Chief Executive
Officer

Aeroflot’s highest governing authority is the General Meeting
of Company Shareholders. The Company is required to hold
a General Meeting of Shareholders once a year. The Annual
Meeting is held no earlier than three months and no later
than six months after the end of the financial year.
The Board of Directors of Aeroflot provides general
leadership of Company activities, except for issues,

Executive Board

which fall within the competence of the General Meeting of Shareholders.
Responsibility for current activities is vested with a sole
executive figure, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
and with a collegiate executive body, the Executive Board.
The Chief Executive Officer takes the role of Chairman of
the Executive Board.
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The Company has approved a Code of Corporate Conduct, which is intended to strengthen confidence in
the Company among relevant parties, to improve the
Company’s accountability to its shareholders and to
facilitate development and maintenance of efficient
relations with all parties, who are concerned with the
Company’s business.
In its activities Aeroflot observes recommendations set
out in the Code of Corporate Conduct, issued by the Federal Commission for the Securities Market.

Meeting of shareholders
Two General Meetings of Shareholders of Aeroflot were
held in the course of 2007:
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As recorded in Protocol № 21 on June 23, 2007, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, which was held on
that day, approved the following items::
• the Aeroflot Annual Report for 2006;
• annual financial accounts, including the Aeroflot profit & loss account for the 2006 financial year;
• distribution of profit (including payment of (announcement of) dividends) for the 2006 financial year;
• new composition of the Board of Directors and Audit
Commission of Aeroflot;
• appointment of an external auditor for the Company
in 2007 (the auditing firm, HLB Vneshaudit, was appointed).
A recorded by Protocol № 22 from September 4, 2007,
the Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders held on that
day approved the following items:
• a large transaction for acquisition by Aeroflot of 22
new Airbus-350XWB aircraft from the company Airbus S.A.S.;
• a large transaction for acquisition by Aeroflot of 22
new Boeing-787 aircraft from The Boeing Company.
In accordance with the Federal Law, “On joint-stock
companies”, approval of large transactions requires
approval by three quarters of the votes of shareholderowners of voting shares, who take part in the relevant
Shareholder Meeting. Both transactions were approved
by more than 99% of all the votes represented at the
meeting.
Conditions of these large transactions are contained in
the Appendix to this Annual Report. More detailed materials on decisions by both Meetings of Shareholders can be
found in the section for Shareholders and Investors on
the Aeroflot web site at www.aeroflot.ru.

Corporate governance

Board of Directors
Activities of the Board of Directors are carried out in accordance with requirements of the Federal Law, “On jointstock companies”, the Aeroflot Company Charter, and the
Statute on the Aeroflot Board of Directors
Members of the Board of Directors as of December
31, 2007
Before the Annual
Shareholders’
Meeting

Elected by the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
(June 23, 2006)

Year of
election to
the Board of
Directors

V.P. Ivanov *

V.P. Ivanov

2004

V.N. Antonov

V.N. Antonov

2003

A.A Daniletsky

A.A Daniletsky

2006

L.A Dushatin

L.A Dushatin

2003

M.Yu Kopeykin

M.Yu Kopeykin

2004

G.S. Nikitin

B.M Korol

2007

V.M Okulov

G.S. Nikitin

2006

A.V. Tikhonov

V.M Okulov

1997

V.N Shablin

V.N Shablin

2004

A.V Sharonov

A.V Sharonov

2006

A.A Yurchik

A.A Yurchik

2006

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders re-elected 10
members of the previous Board of Directors: V.N. Ivanov, A.A.
Danilitsky, L.A Dushatin, V.P. Ivanov, M.Yu. Kopeykin, G.S. Nikitin, V.M.Okulov, V.N. Shablin, A.V. Sharonov, A.A Yurchik.
B.M. Korol was newly elected to the Board.
Viktor Petrovich Ivanov — Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Advisor to the President of Russia.
Born in 1950, graduated from the Bonch-Bruevich Leningrad Electrotechnical Telecommunications Institute.
2000–2004 — Deputy Head of the Russian Presidential
Administration.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.
Vladimir Nikolaevich Antonov — First Deputy CEO of
Aeroflot for Business Operations.
Born in 1953, graduated from the Moscow Railway Engineering Institute.

1995–2002 — Deputy CEO of Aeroflot for Economic and
Aviation Security, Deputy CEO for Aviation Security, Deputy CEO for Aviation and Operating Security.
Owns 0.000425% of shares in Aeroflot.
Anatoly Antonovich Danilitsky — CEO of National Reserve Corporation.
Born in 1952, graduated from the Moscow State Institute
for International Relations.
2001–2004 — Deputy, First Deputy Executive Chairman
of National Reserve Bank.
Member of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee
and the Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors of
Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.
Leonid Alekseevich Dushatin — First Deputy CEO of
National Reserve Corporation.
Born in 1960, graduated from the Moscow Financial Institute.
1996–2004 — Vice President, Head of Department, Deputy Executive Chairman of National Reserve Bank.
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of the
Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.
Mikhail Yurievich Kopeikin— Deputy Head of the Cabinet Office of the Government of the Russian Federation.
Born in 1954, graduated from the Ordzhonikidze Management Institute in Moscow.
1996–2003 — Head of Economics Department, Head
of Economics and Property Management Department
in the Cabinet Office of the Government of the Russian
Federation.
Chairman of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee
of the Board of Directors of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

Gleb Sergeevich Nikitin — Deputy Head of the Federal
Agency for Federal Property Management .
Born in 1977, graduated from St. Petersburg University
of Economics and Finance and St . Petersburg State University.
1999–2004 — Senior Specialist, Head of Department,
Head of the City Property
Management Committee, St. Petersburg.
2004-2007 — Head of Section of the Federal Agency for
Management of Federal Property.
Chairman of the Strategy Committee, member of the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.
Valery Mikhailovich Okulov — CEO of Aeroflot .
Born in 1952, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy.
From 1997 — CEO of Aeroflot.
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.
Vladimir Nikolaevich Shablin — Senior Vice President
of National Reserve Bank.
Born in 1951, graduated from the Leningrad Makarov
Naval Engineering College and the Financial Academy attached to the Russian Government .
2000–2003 — Deputy CEO of Unicom Management Services (Limassol, Cyprus).
Member of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee
of the Board of Directors of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.
Andrey Vladimirovich Sharonov —Managing Director
of Troika Dialog Group of Companies.
Born in 1964, graduated from the Ufa Aviation Institute
and the Russian Civil Service Academy.
1999- 2007 — Deputy, First Deputy, State Secretary, Deputy Minister for Economic Development and Trade.
Member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

Boris Mikhailovich Korol — Deputy Minister of transport of the Russian Federation.
Born in 1955, graduated with a degree in law from the
Military Institute of Foreign Languages.
2001-2004 — Deputy Minister of the Russian Federation
for Taxes and Duties.
2004-2006 — Deputy Head of the Federal Tax Service.
Member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

Alexander Alekseevich Yurchik — Assistant to the
Minister of Transport of the Russian Federation.
Born in 1957, graduated from the Leningrad Military
Academy of Logistics and Transport and the Ordzhonikidze
Management Institute.
2004–2007 — Deputy Head, Head of the Federal Agency
for Air Transport .
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Member of the Personnel and Remuneration Committee
and Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors of Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

Board of Directors Report
Issues raised at meetings of the Board of Directors and
time periods assigned for their consideration were defined
in action plans for the Board of Directors from June 2006
until June 2007 and from July 2007 until July 2008.
The Board of Directors held 12 official meetings during
2007. About 90 issues were considered and 166 decisions were taken regarding urgent questions related to
current business and future plans of Aeroflot.
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Particular attention was paid to resolution of the following priority tasks:
• ensuring flight safety;
• definition of objectives and improvement of methods
for implementing strategic development of Aeroflot;
• improving passenger service quality;
• consolidating airline companies;
• restructuring the aircraft fleet;
• developing information technologies;
• pursuing development of the Company subsidiary,
Terminal, and completing construction of the Sheremetyevo-3 terminal complex;
• financial and commercial aspects of Aeroflot business.

Corporate governance

Vladimir Nikolaevich Antonov — First deputy CEO for
Operations.
Born in 1953, graduated from the Moscow Railway
Engineering Institute.
Owns 0.000425% of Aeroflot shares.

Alexei Albertovich Sidorov — Commercial Director.

Yury Ilyich Belykh — Technical Director and Head of
Aviation and Technical Section.

Born in 1952, graduated from the Moscow Institute of
Engineering and Economics.
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.

Born in 1941, graduated from the Moscow Aviation
Technology Institute.
Owns 0.000004% of Aeroflot shares.

Vladimir Vladimirovich Smirnov — Deputy CEO, Director of Aeroflot Ground Control.

Kirill Stanislavovich Budaev — Deputy CEO for Strategic and Corporate Development.

Executive Board
Valery Mikhailovich Okulov — Chairman of the Executive Board, CEO of Aeroflot .

Nikolai Anasovich Galimov — Chairman of the Revision Commission, Acting Director of the Development
Program Department of the Ministry of Transport of the
Russian Federation.
Born in 1972, graduated from the Plekhanov Economics
Academy and the Academy of Labour and Social
Relations.
2003-2004 — Head of the Department for Management
of Tax Debt at the Russian Ministry of Taxes and Duties.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

Born in 1947, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy.
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.

Dmitry Yuryevich Galkin — Head of the Internal Audit
Service at Aeroflot.

Konstantin Mikhailovich Bushlanov — Deputy CEO
and Head of the Personnel Department.

Changes in the Executive Board

Born in 1963, graduated from the Ordzhonikidze
Management Institute in Moscow.
1988–2002 — economist, Chief Economist, Head of Department, Deputy Chief of Aeroflot’s Control & Revision
Service.
Owns 0.0000034% of shares in Aeroflot.

Born in 1951, graduated from the Ordzhonikidze Aviation
Institute in Moscow.
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aerofolot.
Vladimir Vladislavovich Gerasimov — Deputy CEO
for Material and Technology Procurement.
Born in 1957, graduated from Moscow State University .
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.
Alexander Alexeyevich Kanishev — First Deputy CEO
for Implementation of Strategic Programs.
Born in 1955, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy
Owns 0.002623% of shares in Aeroflot.
Alexander Alexandrovich Koldunov — Deputy CEO,
Head of the Flight Safety Inspectorate.

Born in 1952, graduated from Dzerzhinsky Higher Naval
Engineering College.
Owns 0.0000002% of shares in Aeroflot.

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders reappointed one
member of the previous revision Commission to the newly
elected body (D.Yu. Galkin). The other members of the new
Commission are N.A Galimov, V.V. Sharomova, P.S. Kalymayev, A.S Yadrennikov.

Stanislav Georgievich Tulsky — Deputy CEO for Flight
Operations, Director of the Aeroflot Flight Complex.

Born in 1952, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy.
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.
Vasily Nikolaevich Avilov — Head of Aeroflot Administration.

Born in 1959, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy.
Owns 0.002623% of shares in Aeroflot.

Revision Commission

Born in 1971, completed the Bauman State Technical
University in Moscow and the Economics Academy attached to the Government of the Russian Federation.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot.

As in previous years, no remuneration or compensations
were paid to members of the Board of Directors in 2007.
The Board of Directors has given preliminary approval to
the Company’s Annual Report for 2007 (Protocol № 10
from April 29, 2008).

Born in 1966, graduated from the Moscow Financial
Institute.
Owns 0.000425% of shares in Aeroflot.

Born in 1952, graduated from the Civil Aviation Academy
Owns 0.002528% of shares in Aeroflot.
Mikhail Igorevich Poluboyarinov — Deputy CEO for
Finance and Planning.

Two members of the Executive Board of Aeroflot, A.I. Volymerets and B.P. Eliseyev, were relieved of their duties by
decision of the Board of Directors (Protocol № 12, dated
April 2, 2007).

Remuneration of Executive Board Members
As stipulated by Article 5.8 of the Statute on the Executive Board, conditions of and remuneration for work
by members of the Aeroflot Executive Board, including
benefits and social guarantees, shall be specified by the
positions they hold, and by statutory legal acts of the
Russian Federation and of the Company, which regulate conditions of payment for employees, definition and
amount of benefits and social guarantees for Company
employees, as well as by the staff list, and will be laid
down in employment contracts signed between Executive Board members and the Company. The amount of
remuneration and bonuses payable to Executive Board
members shall be specified by the Company’s Board of
Directors.
As specified by the standard contract, which was approved by the Aeroflot Board of Directors, a monthly
remuneration equal to 10,000 (ten thousand) roubles is
paid to each member of the Executive Board in addition to
the salary paid for duties carried out in their main jobs.

Pavel Sergeyevich Kalymayev — Deputy Head of the
Property and Land Relations Department of the Ministry
of Economic Development of the Russian Federation.
Born in 1983, graduated from the Financial Academy attached to the Government of the Russian Federation.
2002-2004 — assistant branch specialist, branch specialist at European Settlement Bank.
2004-2007 — first-category specialist, leading specialist,
consultant, advisor, leading advisor of the Department
of Property and Land Relations and Natural Resource
Economics at the Russian Ministry of Economic Development.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot
Viktoria Viktorovna Sharomova — Head of the Department for Finance, Book-keeping and Accounting at
the Federal Air Transport Agency.
Born in 1964, graduated from the State University of
Kazakhstan.
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2000-2004 — Head of Department at the Russian Ministry of Finance.
2004-2006 — Director and Deputy Director for Economics and Finance at Financial Leasing Company.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot
Alexander Sergeyevich Yadrennikov — Adviser to
the Section for Management of Property of Commercial
Organizations at the Federal Agency for Management of
Federal Property.
Born in 1974, graduated from the Moscow State Aviation
Institute.
2002-2004 — Leading Specialist, Chief Specialist of the
Department for Management of Transport and Communication Property at the Russian Property Ministry.
2004-2005 — Chief Specialist, Consultant of the Section
for Management of Property of Commercial Organizations at the Federal Agency for Management of Federal
Property.
Does not own shares in Aeroflot

Report of the Revision Commission
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The Revision Commission held three meetings in the accounting period, at which it analyzed the results of checks
and revisions carried out in 2007 and reviewed implementation of recommendations made by the Commission
as a result of its work in the previous accounting period.
As required by the Company Statute, which governs its
activities, the Revision Commission reviewed information in the annual accounts, profit & loss statement and
other documents prior to their presentation to the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders. The Commission reviewed and
approved a final conclusion on results of that work at its
meeting on April 4, 2008. The conclusion includes analysis of the Aeroflot balance sheet and financial results. It
also contains information on execution of recommendations of the Revision Commission for 2006 and recommendations concerning results of the account review for
2007.
The conclusion is positive: the Revision Commission expresses its opinion that the accounts are mainly accurate
and does not find any reasons not to confirm the data
contained in the balance sheet and profit & loss account
of Aeroflot as of December 31, 2007.

Remuneration to members of the Revision
Commission
No payment of salaries or other material remuneration was
envisaged or paid to members of the Revision Commission
in 2007.

Corporate governance

Internal audit
Aeroflot’s internal audit is the responsibility of the Internal
Audit Service, which was established in accordance with
the decision of the Board of Directors in November 1999.
A Statute on the Internal Audit Service was approved by
the Board of Directors in June 2005 in compliance with
standards and recommendations in the field of corporate
governance.
The main task of the Service is to ensure that Aeroflot’s
system of internal control is efficient and adequate for
the scale and character of Company business. This task
is carried out through audit and diagnosis of operating
and financial processes, and through inspections of the
Company’s structural sub-divisions and representative
offices, and of its accounting and operational documentation, including conduct of special investigations in specific instances.
The Service carried out 37 checks (revisions) during
2007 and compiled relevant conclusions (acts). The work
was carried out on the basis of quarterly plans, which
were approved by the Company CEO. The checks referred
to various aspects of Company business. Proposals of the
Service, based on the outcome of its checks, are formulated as directives in the name of the Company CEO, and
are intended to raise efficiency of the existing system of
internal control and business operations.
There were 18 specialists working for the Internal Audit
Service at the end of 2007.

External audit
Audit of Aeroflot’s financial accounts for 2007 was carried out:
• to Russian accounting standards by HLB Vneshaudit;
and
• to international accounting standards by KPMG.

Information policy
Increasing levels of competition for passengers (relevant
for both Russian and foreign airlines), the need to attract investments, and development of consolidation processes in
the industry all mean that business reputation has special
importance for airlines. Aeroflot therefore places much emphasis on improvement of its informational transparency,
and development of informational cooperation with shareholders. The Company has approved a Statute on Aeroflot’s
Corporate Information Policy — a regulatory document
enshrining priorities and standards of informational openness, which the Company should observe with respect to its

target audiences, and also setting out a list of information
to be presented, as well as channels and time scales for its
dissemination.
Aeroflot’s corporate information policy is constructed in accordance with Russian legislation, and takes account of all
current trends concerning information disclosure. The main
principles of the Company’s information policy are:
• regular and punctual presentation of information;
• accessibility of information for all shareholders and
other interested parties;
• accuracy and completeness;
• a proper balance between openness and respect for
the Company’s commercial interests.

In following these principles Aeroflot makes use of the
whole spectrum of available information tools, choosing
the optimal format in each specific case. The Company
regularly issues press-releases, and organizes press conferences, briefings and meetings between its managers
and representatives of the investment community, as well
as organizing other events. Aeroflot also ensures timely disclosure of information on substantial facts relating to Company business, in accordance with legal requirements.
Full and detailed information about the Company is presented on the web-sites: www.aeroflot.ru and www.aeroflot.
aero.
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Loading of baggage and cargo
on board an IL-86

The 1980 Olympic Games
in Moscow

Shareholders and investors
Share capital

of one rouble each. The Company Charter stipulates total
number of authorized shares equal to 250 million.

Aeroflot charter capital totals 1,110,616,299 roubles divided into 1,110,616,299 common shares with par value

Structure of share capital as of
December 31, 2007

As of December 31, 2007 Aeroflot had 11,340 shareholders.

Growth of Aeroflot capitalization, USD millions

7.67 Legal entities
4,109

1980s

In 1980 Aeroflot was appointed principal carrier for participants and guests of the 22nd Olympic Games,
which were held in Moscow.
The new international air terminal complex, Sheremetyevo-2, was opened on May 6, 1980.
Flights with wide-fuselage IL-86 aircraft began in 1981.

2,418

1,368
51.17 Federal Agency
41.16 Physical persons

for Management
of Federal
Property

1,566

766

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007
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Structure of share capital (largest owners of Aeroflot shares as of December 31, 2007)

Shares

Owner

Status

Legal entities
32 in total,
of which:

Stake in share
capital, %

1,025,205,348

92.33

State registration number,
date of registration

Kind, category, type

Number of shares placed.

Par value of shares,
roubles

73-1 p -5142,
June 22, 1995

Common, registered,
non-documentary

3,164,149

1

Russian Federation (via the Federal Agency for Management
of Federal Property)

Owner

568,335,339

51.17

1-02-00010-А
April 5, 1999

Common, registered,
non-documentary

1,107,452,150

1

CJSC Depository Clearing Company

Nominee

363,452,857

32.73

1

Nominee

37,869,462

3.41

Common, registered,
non-documentary

1,110,616,299

National Depository Center (non-profit partnership)

1-01-00010-А
January 21, 2004
(these issues were merged)

LLC Deutsche Bank

Nominee

28,302,200

2.55

LLC J.P. Morgan Bank International

Nominee

10,387,061

0.94

ING Bank (Eurasia) CJSC

Nominee

8,105,696

0.73

CJSC Raiffeisenbank Austria

Nominee

5,064,700

0.46

CJSC Citibank

Nominee

2,185,753

0.20

Joint-stock Commercial Bank Rosbank

Nominee

1,502,280

0.14

Physical persons
Total — 11,308

Main indicators of Aeroflot shares

Price, USD

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

max.

3.73

2.35

1.73

1.23

0.69

min.

2.25

1.44

1.13

0.69

0.33

7.67

Trading volumes
Main stock exchanges, on which shares of Aeroflot are
traded, are:
• The Russian Trading System (RTS, www.rts.ru), where
Company shares are traded on the A2 quote list with
the trading codes AFLT and AFLTG;

• The MICEX stock exchange (www.micex.ru), where
Company shares are traded on the А1 quote list with
the trading code AFLT.
Aeroflot shares are used to calculate the RTS and MICEX
stock indexes.

Average weekly, USD*

Total for year, USD

Number of transactions

197,000

9,832,000

249

MICEX**

5,490,000

274,484,000

129,785

Total

5,687,000

284,315,000

130,034

RTS

* 50 weeks.
** at the average nominal Bank of Russia rouble/dollar exchange rate for 2007 (25.57 roubles/dollar).

building, located on Mezhdunarodnoye Highway, will be
the first Moscow sight, which passengers will see on their
way from the Airport into the capital.
Aeroflot share price performance compared with the RTS Index in 2007
2500

4

AFLT

3.5

2000

3

AFLT – Aeroflot share price on the RTS

2.5

1500

2
1000

1.5
1

500

20.12

30.11

12.11

23.10

03.10

13.09

24.08

06.08

17.07

27.06

07.06

18.05

30.04

10.04

21.03

01.03

09.02

0.5
22.01

A capsule with commemorative documents was placed
in the foundations of the future Aeroflot office building at
a special ceremony in May 2007. The modern six-storey

02.01
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Total number of
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Aeroflot share price performance in 2007 compared with airline industry indexes

Dividend history

4

180

3.5

160
140

3

120

2.5

100

2

BEUAIRL — Bloomberg European Airlines Index
BWAIRL — Bloomberg World Airlines Index

80

1.5

60

XAL — Amex Airline Index (US)

20.12

30.11

12.11

23.10

03.10
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24.08

06.08

17.07

27.06

07.06

18.05

30.04

10.04

21.03

01.03

20
09.02

0.5
22.01

40

02.01

1

In 2000 Bankers Trust Company launched a program for
issue of first-level depositary receipts (GDRs) on shares
of Aeroflot in order to raise their attractiveness as investment instruments and makes it easier for foreign investors to purchase the stocks. LLC Deutsche Bank performs
custodian functions for the GDRs.
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AFLT — AVRG — Aeroflot share prices on the RTS

Aeroflot’s GDR program enables conversion of shares
into depositary receipts and of receipts into shares using
a ratio of 100 common shares to one GDR. Issue of GDRs
is in accordance with Rule 144А and Rule S of the US
Securities and Exchange Commission (for circulation of
the receipts in Europe and the US).

The depositary agreement allows conversion of up to
20% of the total number of Aeroflot voting shares. As of
December 31, 2007, a total of 28,302,200 shares had
been converted, representing 2.55% of charter capital.

Dividend period

Total accrued amount, USD

Number of shares at cut-off date

Dividend per share, US cents

1999

441,339.37

1,110,616,299

0.040

2000

1,183,184.98

1,110,616,299

0.107

2001

2,210,914.99

1,110,616,299

0.199

2002

10,133,210.02

1,110,460,578 *

0.913

2003

16,476,837.00

1,110,616,299

1.5

2004

28,016,858.70

1,110,579,386**

2.5

2005

31,650,213.86

1,110,616,299

2.9

2006

54,286,486.90

1,110,616,299

5.0

* As of the ex-dividend date, 155,721 shares were on the issuer’s client account and dividends on these shares were not
accrued.
** As of the ex-dividend date, 36,913 shares were on the issuer’s client account and dividends on these shares were not
accrued.

GDR details
GDR Reg S

ISIN NUMBER
US0077712075

CUSIP NUMBER
007771207

GDR 144A

ISIN NUMBER
US0077711085

CUSIP NUMBER
007771108

The question of dividend payment for 2007 was considered by the Board of Directors of Aeroflot in April 2008.
Recommendations of the Russian Property Ministry envisage payment of dividends for 2007 at a level not below
their level in 2006 and equal to 25% of Company net
profit.

Growth of dividend payment by Aeroflot
(dividends per share, UScents)
5.0

2.9
2.5
1.5
0.9

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006
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®

Z. Bunnakova

In 2005 Aeroflot’s 100% subsidiary,
Terminal, began construction of the new terminal
complex, Sheremetyevo-3

In April 2006 Aeroflot joined
the SkyTeam international
aviation alliance

In 2007 Aeroflot began issue of electronic tickets
and continued work to install automated passenger
registration at Russian airports

Financial REPORT
Statement of management’s responsibilities for the
preparation and approval of the Consolidated Financial
Statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2007
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ responsibilities stated in
the independent auditors’ report set out on page 81, is made with a view to distinguishing the respective responsibilities
of management and those of the independent auditors in relation to the consolidated financial statements of Open Joint
Stock Company Aeroflot — Russian Airlines and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that present fairly the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and
changes in equity for the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

1990 – 2000

The turn of the century brought major changes for Aeroflot, affecting nearly all aspects of Company
business. A new Company strategy, approved by the Board of Directors in 2000, required all Aeroflot
personnel to take a new look at contemporary trends in the airline business and to rethink the Company’s
place on the domestic and international market. The strategy set a new goal — to ensure Aeroflot’s evolution
as a world-class airline.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:
• selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;
• making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• stating whether IFRS have been complied with, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in
the consolidated financial statements; and
• preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.
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Management is also responsible for:
• designing, implementing and maintaining an effective system of internal controls, throughout the Group;
• maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with
IFRS;
• maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting standards in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;
• taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
• preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The following commentary relates to the consolidated IFRS
financial statements of JSC Aeroflot (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) as at
and for the year ended December 31, 2007.

The consolidated financial statements as at for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved on
11 June 2008 by:

port, 7.1% from cargo and post freight, 12.6% was
from commercial agreements with foreign airlines for
joint route operations, and the remaining 4.3% related
to other activities.

Revenues from passenger transport

Financial results
Revenues of Aeroflot Group from operations totaled USD
3807.8 million in 2007, representing an increase of 27.3%
compared with 2006. Operating expenses were 23.9% higher
than in 2006 at USD 3.229.8 million. Operating profit was USD
578.0 million, which is 49.7% more than in the previous year.

General Director							

V. M. Okulov

Pre-tax profit rose by 38.4% in 2007 to USD 537 million.
Net profit was 21.4% higher at USD 313.4 million.

Deputy General Director Finance and Planning 				

M. I. Poluboyarinov

Revenues from air transport and service
provision

Revenues from passenger transport rose by 31.0% in
2007 to USD 2,893.5 million. The growth reflects optimization of the route network, efficient tariff policy and business efficiency improvements.
Revenues from international carrying generated 67.3%
of total passenger transport revenues and totaled USD
1948.0 million, which is 23.8% more than in 2006. Revenues from passenger transport on domestic routes
increased by 48.7% to USD 945.5 million. Revenue
increase was due both to growth of passenger volumes
and rise of revenue rates.

Group revenues from operating activities in 2007 were
divided as follows: 76.0% was from passenger transHeadline financial results (USD millions)
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2007

2006

%

3,807.8

2,992.3*

27.3

Operating costs

(3,229.8)

(2,606.1)*

23.9

Operating profit

578.0

386.2*

49.7

Non-operating expenses, net

(55.8)

(16.7)*

Revenue

Profit before tax
Income tax
Minority interest
Profit for the year

537.0

387.9

(223.6)

(129.8)

(8.1)

(2.7)

313.4

258.1

38.4

21.4

* A certain reclassification has been made to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 to bring it in line with
current year presentation. Such reclassifications do not affect retained earnings.

Passenger yield (USc/RPK)

7.3

6.9

6.4
5.1

2002

18.1

5.4

2003

Scheduled International flights

8.2 8.0

9.2 8.9

10.2

6.4
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Scheduled domestic flights

2005

2006
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Cargo revenues
Revenues from cargo and post freight rose by 2.8% in
2007 to USD 271.9 million. The largest share of revenue
(80.2%) was from carrying on international routes.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Cargo yield (USc/CTK)
28.3

21.8

30.2

31.9

8,8 Other expenses
31,7 Aircraft fuel

23.0

1,8 Communication expenses

20.5

Revenues from commercial agreements with
other airlines
Revenues from commercial agreements with foreign airlines for joint route operations were USD 481.2 million,
representing an increase of 21.5% from 2006. The revenue growth was due to increased flight frequencies and
increase of flight volumes.

Other revenues
Other revenues include income from refuelling services
provided to other airlines, airport ground services, hotel
business, in-flight catering, property leasing, information and advertising placement, commissions from inflight sale of duty-free goods, and other services. Other
revenues in 2007 were USD 161.2 million, representing
31.0% increase compared with 2006.
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Operating expenses
Operating expenses of the Group in 2007 were USD
3,229.8 million, representing 23.9% growth compared
with 2006.
The four main operating expense items are as follows:
• aviation fuel (31.7%);
• payroll (17.2%);
• aircraft servicing (15.4%);
• technical servicing (6.5%).
Growth of costs in 2007 was driven mainly by increase
of prices for fuel and utility, airport and navigational services and increase of hours flown.

3,3 Passenger services
3,6 Administration and general expenses
5,3 Operating lease expenses

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

Spending on fuel by Aeroflot Group rose by USD 102.9
million or by 11.2% in 2007. Higher fuel spending was
due to increase of transport operations and higher prices
for fuel.
Aircraft servicing expenses rose by USD 100.4 million or
25.3% during 2007, mainly due to expansion of the route
network, increase of spending on flight safety, and higher
prices for airport and navigational services.
Payroll expenses rose by USD 146.9 million or 36.0%,
due to wage hikes for Group staff, increase of flying hours
by 8.7%, and hiring of staff by subsidiaries to cope with
increased volumes of work.
Spending on technical servicing of aircraft rose by USD
29.7 million or by 16.6%. The main reason for the increase was expansion of the Group’s aircraft fleet.
Operating lease expenses rose by USD 35.7 million or
26.5%. The growth reflects addition of new aircraft to the
Company fleet during 2007 on operating lease conditions
(three Airbus А320s, three Airbus A319s and eight Boeing В737s).

2007

2006

%

2,893.5

2,208.7

31.1

1,948.0

1,573.0

23.8

945.5

635.7

48.7

Cargo revenue

271.9

264.4

2.8

Airline revenue agreements

481.2

396.1

21.5

Other revenue

161.2

123.1

31.0

3,807.8

2,992.3

27.3

incl. international*
domestic

Total revenue
* All charter passengers are included in the international segment.

17,2 Staff costs

6,4 Sales and marketing
6,5 Maintenance

Revenue (USD millions)

Passenger revenue

Operating costs breakdown, 2007

15,4 Aircraft and traffic servicing

Commercial and marketing expenses were USD 41.9 million
higher in 2007, representing an increase of 25.2% on 2006.
The increase was mainly due to growth of commission payments to travel agents as Group revenues expanded.

obsolescence provision for spare parts, which cannot be
used (due to withdrawal of equipment, for which the parts
are designed, and due to their becoming out of date).

Passenger service expenses rose by USD 29.3 million or
38.4% due to 16.6% increase in the number of passengers carried.

Results of non-operational activity

Depreciation expenses rose by USD 47.4 million or 48.6%
due to increase of the Group’s fixed assets.
Other expense items rose by USD 67.4 million or 46.5%
mainly due to higher costs of fuel sales by the Group, reflecting both increase of prices for aviation fuel and increase of
sales volumes. The Company also increased its inventory

Interest costs rose by USD 22.5 million or 73.3%, mainly due
to growth of interest expenses on financial leasing (acquisition by the Group of aircraft on financial leasing terms) and
discounting of deferred customs duties related to imported
aircraft (these payments are deferred over 34 months). Gain
on disposal of investments in 2007 consisted mainly of gain
from sale of shares in the company Terminal to Vneshtorgbank and Vneshekonombank for USD 7.5 million and sale of
shares in LLC Airoimp for USD 6.4 million.

Operating costs (USD millions)

Aircraft fuel

2007

2006

%

1,023.1

920.2

11.2

Staff costs

555.2

408.3

36.0

Aircraft and traffic servicing

497.7

397.3

25.7

Maintenance

208.7

179.0

16.6

Sales and marketing

208.3

166.4

25.2

Operating lease expenses

170.2

134.5

26.5

Depreciation

145.0

97.6

48.5

Administration and general expenses

117.4

87.1

34.8

Communication expenses
Other expenses*
Total operating costs

57.7

48.0

20.2

246.5

167.7

47.0

3,229.8

2,606.1

23.9

* Other expenses include: passenger services, insurance expenses, customs duties, operating taxes, increase in contingency provisions, taxes refunded under court decision, reversal of provision for tax penalties, recovery of receivables previously provided for
increase (decrease) in provisions for bad and doubtful receivables and fines and penalties, other expenses.
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Non-operating expenses (USD millions)

to develop corporate IT (acquisition and modernization
of computer and office equipment), and to purchase
various other operational inventory, uniforms and special clothing. Total investments for these purposes were
USD 27.6 million.

Interest (Financial) expense
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments, net

2006

(53.2)

(32.2)

13.2

(0.9)

Interest income on bank deposits

4.2

4.4

Share of result of equity accounted investments

6.0

8.4

44.6

38.7

(55.8)

(16.7)

(41.0)

1.7

Foreign exchange and translation gain, net
Other non-operating (expenses)/ income, net
Total

Net foreign exchange gain
Net foreign exchange gain totaled USD 44.6 million, which
is 15.3% more than in 2006. The increase was due to decline of the dollar by 1.78 roubles or 6.78% against the
Russian currency.

Other non operating expenses net

78

2007

Other non-operating expenses net amounted to USD 55.8
million in 2007 as compared with USD 16.7 million in 2006.
The main reason for the increase was write-off of non-recoverable VAT payments on export cargo transport and sales
of fuel totaling USD 32.7 million. This reflects contradictory
requirements of Russian tax and customs legislation, since
the Customs Code does not envisage provision to air carriers of customs declarations for cargo, but such declarations
must be submitted to the tax authorities in order to confirm
entitlement to zero-rate VAT in transit carrying.

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures in 2007 totaled USD 555.6 million. The
main capital expenditure items were construction-in-progress (52.4%), purchase, financial leasing and modernization
of aircraft and aircraft engines (41.0%), purchase of machines and equipment, vehicles, computers, and other operating inventory (5.0%), and construction and reconstruction
or buildings, installations and transfer mechanisms (1.6%).

various other construction-in-progress items (including
modernization of IL-96-300 and Тu-154M training aircraft) worth USD 18.5 million in total.
During the accounting year Aeroflot invested money as
part of its fleet modernization program to acquire three Airbus A-321, one Boeing 737-500, one Antonov An-24, and
three Tupolev Тu-134 aircraft on financial leasing terms, as
well as purchasing one Tupolev Tu-154 outright. The Group
also invested to acquire aircraft engines and equipment
through financial leasing and purchase, and to modernize
the interior and cabins of Boeing 767-300s, used by the
Company on operating lease terms. Total investments for
these purposes were USD 198.4 million.
Work was completed in 2007 on Aeroflot’s Tu-154M aircraft as part of an integrated package of measures to reduce fuel consumption. Floors were replaced on 11 aircraft
using new lighter materials and wing-tip shrouds were fitted to 8 aircraft. Work was carried out to fine tune a system
(TCAS), which excludes the possibility of mid-air collisions,
modernization work was carried out on IL-96-300 aircraft,
including installation of a computerized signalling system,
and Tu-154M and Tu-134 engines were overhauled. These
investments amounted to USD 29,8 million.
Aeroflot also spent money in 2007 on acquisition, construction and modernization of buildings, installations and transfer mechanisms, as well as on acquisition of office premises
for an Aeroflot representative office in the city of Sochi. Total
investments for these purposes were USD 8.6 million.

Borrowings
Aeroflot’s credit portfolio in 2007 consisted of short-tem
bilateral credit lines and an 18 month syndicated credit
(provided by Calyon, Natexis Transport Finance and
Natexis Banques Populaires) to enable the Company to
make advance payments as part of a deal for acquisition
of seven Airbus A321 aircraft. The latter credit was repaid
ahead of time at the start of the year.
The volume of short-term credit lines available to the Company at banks was increased during 2007, and cost of
these facilities was significantly reduced. An agreement was
made with Sberbank in October 2007 on opening of a revolving credit line with an upper limit of 1.7 billion roubles
(USD 69.4 million) for a period of one year to finance the
Company’s current operations. Conditions of the agreement
give the Company access to Sberbank’s credit resources on
favourable terms, which are only available to VIP borrowers.
The Company continues its practice of using revolving credit
facilities without collateral at floating and fixed rates of interest. Floating-rate credit agreements provide for gradation of
the margin, received by the bank, depending on the period of
use of the loan money. This structuring of the credit portfolio
enables the Company to obtain optimal and efficient financing depending on the situation on financial markets.

Investments were made to replace depreciated equipment and purchase new equipment in order to raise productivity and quality of ground and technical servicing of
aircraft at airports (the equipment includes apron buses,
container loaders, aircraft cleaning apparatus, special
vehicles for restocking aircraft with drinking water, selfpropelled lifting towers, etc.). The Company also bought
equipment for its training complex (including an FMTD
trainer, chutes and rafts for Boeing 767 accident & rescue training, etc.). Money was spent to equip building facilities with new safety systems, security and fire alarms,

A Group subsidiary has opened a long-term credit line at
Raiffeisenbank with value of USD 16.3 million (400 million roubles).
Total interest payments on the Group’s credits and loans in 2007
were USD 10 million compared with USD 10.3 million spent by
the Company to service its borrowing portfolio in 2006.
Interest expenses in 2007 include USD 11.6 million for discounting of customs duties levied on foreign-built imported
aircraft. The comparable sum in 2006 was USD 0.4 million.
Aeroflot constantly analyzes the current state of the corporate debt market and works to restructure and reduce
levels of bank margin in order to minimize its borrowing
costs. Results of this work last year were as follows: average-weighted bank margin for the whole of the credit
portfolio was lowered from 2.11% in 2006 to 1.36%
annualized in 2007 (average-weighted margin on shortterm credits was lowered from 1.49% to 1.36% and on
long-term credits from 2.15% to 1.75%). This enabled
savings of USD 0.4 million in absolute terms.

Cash flows (USD millions)
2007
Net cash provided by operating activities

2006

172.4

381.6

(417.3)

(289.6)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

154.0

(21.5)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(90.9)

70.5

0.2

1.3

90.6

181.3

2007

2006

–

22.5

Loans and credit lines in Russian rubles

131.4

206.3

Long-term loans in USD

379.6

5.7

Net cash used in investing activities

Effect of exchange rate change
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Capital investments for construction-in-progress totaled
USD 291.2 million in 2007, most of which was spent on
construction of the Sheremetyevo-3 terminal complex
(USD 199.2 million) and Aeroflot’s new office headquarters (USD 36.6 million). Construction-in-progress
also included prepayment for connection of buildings to
electricity networks (USD 13.7 million), prepayment for
delivery of a five А-321 aircraft under financial leasing
terms (USD 9.0 million), payment by the Company subsidiary, Aeroflot Cargo, for deliveries of three MD-11 and
three IL-96-400T aircraft (USD 14.2 million), as well as

As of December 31, 2007, the Group had long-term credit
lines on its books for financing of construction costs and
commissioning of the Sheremetyevo-3 terminal complex.
The credits of USD 179.6 million and USD 177.8 million
were extended by Vnesheconombank and Vneshtorgbank,
respectively. These long-term facilities are guaranteed by
subletting rights on a land plot with estimated pledge value
of USD 59.5 million and by a pledge of all buildings, which
are in the process of construction and are worth USD
431.7 million as defined by mortgage agreements.

Short-term and long-term loans (USD millions)

Short-term loans
Loans and credit lines in USD
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Segment information

Independent Auditors’ Report

Financial data (USD millions)

To the Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock Company Aeroflot — Russian Airlines

Years ended December 31

2007

2006

%

3,759.5

2,953.1

27.3

–

–

–

3,759.4

2,953.1

27.3

(3,196.8)

(2,579.0)

23.9

562.6

374.1

50.4

External sales

19.1

16.3

17.2

Inter-segment sales

55.6

42.5

30.8

Airline:
External sales
Inter-segment sales
Total revenue
Operating costs
Operating income
Catering:

Total revenue
Operating costs
Operating income

74.7

58.8

27.0

(62.5)

(49.9)

25.3

12.2

8.9

37.1

19.9

17.1

16.4

5.9

4.9

20.4

Hotels:
External sales
Inter-segment sales
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Total revenue

25.8

22.0

17.3

(19.5)

(14.8)

31.8

6.3

7.2

(12.5)

External sales

–

–

–

Inter-segment sales

–

–

–

Total revenue

–

–

–

(4.5)

(2.8)

60.7

(65.1)

(49.5)

(31.5)

9.4

5.8

62.1

Operating costs
Operating income
Terminal

Operating costs
Operating income
Other businesses:
External sales
Inter-segment sales
Total revenue
Operating costs
Operating income

Operating costs

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock Company Aeroflot — Russian
Airlines and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and
the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3.6

2.1

71.4

13.0

7.9

64.6

(11.4)

(7.2)

58.3

1.6

(0.7)

128.6

(65.1)

(49.5)

(31.5)

–

–

–

3,807.8

2,992.3

27.3

(3,229.8)

(2,606.1)

23.9

578.0

386.2

49.7

Intercompany eliminations:
Inter-segment sales

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2007, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Consolidated:
Total revenue
Operating costs
Operating income

KPMG Limited
11 June 2008
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Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended
31 December 2007

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007
(All amounts in millions of US dollars)

(All amounts in millions of US dollars)
Notes

2007

2006

Traffic revenue

6

3,165.4

2,473.1

Other revenue

7

642.4

519.2

3,807.8

2,992.3

Revenue
Operating costs

8

(2,529.6)

(2,100.2)

Staff costs

9

(555.2)

(408.3)

20

(145.0)

(97.6)

Operating costs

(3,229.8)

(2,606.1)

Operating profit

578.0

386.2

Depreciation

82

Financial income

10

62.0

42.2

Financial expenses

10

(53.2)

(32.2)

Share of results of equity accounted investments

17

6.0

8.4

Other non-operating expenses, net

11

(55.8)

(16.7)

537.0

387.9

(223.6)

(129.8)

313.4

258.1

Profit before income tax
Income tax

12

Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Minority interest

Earnings per share, basic and diluted (US cents)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions)

28

305.3

255.4

8.1

2.7

313.4

258.1

28.8

24.1

1,061

1,060

These consolidated financial statements were approved by management on 11 June 2008 and were signed on its
behalf by:

General Director									V. M. Okulov

Deputy General Director Finance and Planning						M. I. Poluboyarinov

Notes

2007

2006

13
14
15

90.6
54.1
1,053.5
0.7
104.2
1,303.1

181.3
44.9
701.3
–
79.0
1,006.5

17

20.5

21.5

18
12
19
20

21.8
1.7
8.2
334.1
1,708.9
2,095.2
3,398.3

18.9
4.7
7.1
119.9
1,227.5
1,399.6
2,406.1

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unearned transportation revenue
Provisions

21
22
23

629.8
180.3
4.0

476.1
123.6
7.2

Short-term borrowings
Finance lease liabilities

24
25

131.4
67.4
1,012.9

228.8
52.2
887.9

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings

26

379.6

5.7

Finance lease liabilities
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

25
23
12
27

531.1
60.9
53.2
175.5
1,200.3

453.0
76.1
32.5
162.0
729.3

28
28

51.6
(29.7)
12.7
63.0
1,014.6
1,112.2
72.9

51.6
(33.5)
11.0
2.7
752.7
784.5
4.4

1,185.1
3,398.3

788.9
2,406.1

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable and prepayments, net
Aircraft lease deposits
Expendable spare parts and inventories, net
Non-current assets
Equity accounted investments
Long-term investments
Aircraft lease deposits
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
TOTAL ASSETS

Equity
Share capital
Treasury stock
Investment revaluation reserve
Cumulative translation reserve
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company
Minority interest

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

The consolidated statement of income should be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 87 to 117.

16

29

The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated
financial statements set out on pages 87 to 117.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 December 2007

Cash flows from financing activities:

(All amounts in millions of US dollars)

Proceeds from borrowings, net
Notes

2007

Notes

2006

Profit before income tax

537.0

387.9

Adjustments to reconcile income before taxation to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

20

145.0

97.6

Increase in impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts

15

8.0

1.7

Increase in impairment allowance for obsolete inventory

16

5.9

–

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

20

3.9

1.5

(0.9)

7.5

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Share of profits in equity accounted investments

17

(6.0)

(8.4)

(Gain)/loss on disposal of investments, net

10

(13.2)

0.9

28.4

25.2

708.1

513.9

(323.8)

(88.2)

Increase in expendable spare parts and inventories

(31.1)

(17.4)

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

22.4

115.0

375.6

523.3

(203.2)

(141.7)

172.4

381.6

147.9

29.3

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

8.6

3.6

Dividends received from associates

3.0

1.0

–

(7.0)

2.3

(1.9)

Purchases of investments

(101.0)

(43.6)

Lease prepayments

(103.9)

–

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

(374.2)

(271.0)

(417.3)

(289.6)

Operating profit before working capital changes

84

Increase in accounts receivable and prepayments

Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of investments

Purchase of minority interest
Decrease/(increase) in aircraft lease deposits

Net cash flows to investing activities

2006

276.5

57.2

5.0

0.1

(0.8)

(1.0)

–

2.9

Repayment of the principal element of finance lease liabilities

(68.2)

(46.5)

Dividends paid

(58.5)

(34.2)

Net cash flows from/(to) financing activities

154.0

(21.5)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(90.9)

70.5

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

181.3

109.5

0.2

1.3

90.6

181.3

51.5

29.8

4.2

4.4

178.0

287.9

Sale of treasury stock
Purchase of treasury stock

Cash flows from operating activities:

Other non-cash expenses

2007

Restricted cash movements

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

13

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
Interest received
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 87 to 117.

85

ANNUAL REPORT 2007

FINANCIAL REPORT

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 December 2007

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at and
for the year ended 31 December 2007

(All amounts in millions of US dollars)

(All amounts in millions of US dollars)

Share Treasury
capital
stock

As at 31 December 2005

Invest
Cumument
lative
revaluatranstion
lation
reserve reserve

ReAttribu Minority
tained
table to interest
earn- shareholdings ers of the
Company

51.6

(32.9)

8.8

0.3

530.8

558.6

8.9

567.5

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

255.4

255.4

2.7

258.1

Foreign currency translation for the year

–

–

–

2.4

–

2.4

0.5

2.9

Gain on investments available-for-sale

–

–

2.2

–

–

2.2

–

2.2

260.0

3.2

263.2

Total recognised income and expenses

86

Total

Gain on disposal of treasury stock

–

0.3

–

–

–

0.3

–

0.3

Sale of treasury stock

–

0.1

–

–

–

0.1

–

0.1

Purchase of treasury stock

–

(1.0)

–

–

–

(1.0)

–

(1.0)

Purchase of minority interest

–

–

–

–

(2.8)

(2.8)

(4.2)

(7.0)

Dividends

–

–

–

–

(30.7)

(30.7)

(3.5)

(34.2)

51.6

(33.5)

11.0

2.7

752.7

784.5

4.4

788.9

As at 31 December 2006
as previously reported
Changing of functional currency

1. Nature of the business
OJSC Aeroflot — Russian Airlines (the “Company” or
“Aeroflot”) was formed as a joint stock company following a government decree in 1992. The 1992 decree conferred all the rights and obligations of Aeroflot‑Soviet
Airlines and its structural units, excluding its operations
in Russia and Sheremetyevo Airport, upon the Company,
including inter-governmental bilateral agreements and
agreements signed with foreign airlines and enterprises
in the field of civil aviation.
The principal activities of the Company are the provision of passenger and cargo air transportation servic-

Company name

Place
of incorporation
and operation

Activity

31
December
2007

31
December
2006

CJSC Sherotel

Moscow region

Hotel

100%

100%

Moscow region

Airline

100%

100%

Moscow

Captive insurance
services

100%

100%

Rostov-on-Don

Airline

100%

100%

Moscow

Cargo transportation services

100%

100%

OJSC Terminal

Moscow region

Construction of
Sheremetyevo-3
terminal

55%

100%

CJSC Aeromar

Moscow region

Catering

51%

51%

Arkhangelsk

Airline

51%

51%

(0.4)

–

–

10.9

10.5

(5.3)

5.2

51.6

(33.9)

11.0

2.7

763.6

795.0

(0.9)

794.1

CJSC Aeroflot Plus

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

305.3

305.3

8.1

313.4

OJSC Insurance company Moscow

Foreign currency translation for the year

–

–

–

60.3

–

60.3

0.1

60.4

Gain on investments available-for-sale

–

–

1.7

–

–

1.7

–

1.7

367.3

8.2

375.5

Total recognised income and expenses
Sales of subsidiary shares

–

–

–

–

–

–

69.8

69.8

Gain on disposal of treasury stock

–

4.6

–

–

–

4.6

–

4.6

Sale of treasury stock

–

0.4

–

–

–

0.4

–

0.4

Purchase of treasury stock

–

(0.8)

–

–

–

(0.8)

–

(0.8)

Dividends

–

–

–

–

(54.3)

(54.3)

(4.2)

(58.5)

51.6

(29.7)

12.7

63.0

1,014.6

1,112.2

72.9

1,185.1

As at 31 December 2007

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the
consolidated financial statements set out on pages 87 to 117.

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 the Government of
the Russian Federation owned 51% of the Company. The
Company’s headquarters are located in Moscow at 37
Leningradsky Prospect.

The principal subsidiary companies are:

–

As at 1 January 2007 (restated)

es, both domestically and internationally, and other aviation services from its base at Moscow Sheremetyevo
Airport. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
also conduct activities comprising airline catering, hotel
operations, and the construction of the Sheremetyevo3 terminal. Associated entities mainly comprise cargohandling services, fuelling services and duty-free retail
businesses.

OJSC Aeroflot-Don
CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo

CJSC Aeroflot-Nord

The Company sold 20% less two shares in OJSC Terminal to Vneshekonombank and 25% plus one share in OJSC Terminal
to Vneshtorgbank on 17 January 2007 and 13 March 2007, respectively.
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The significant entities in which the Group holds more than 20% but less than 50% of the equity are:
Company name

Type of aircraft

Place
of incorporation
and operation

Activity

31
December
2007

31
December
2006

LLC Airport Moscow

Moscow region

Cargo handling

50.0%

50.0%

CJSC AeroMASH — AB

Moscow region

Aviation security

45.0%

45.0%

CJSC Aerofirst

Moscow region

Trading

33.3%

33.3%

CJSC TZK Sheremetyevo

Moscow region Fuel trading company

31.0%

31.0%

All the companies listed above are incorporated in the Russian Federation.

Ownership

Aeroflot —
Russian
Airlines
(number)

AeroflotDon
(number)

AeroflotNord
(number)

AeroflotCargo
(number)

Group
total
(number)

Airbus A-320

Operating lease

12

–

–

–

12

Boeing 737-500

Operating lease

–

2

6

–

8

Boeing 767-300ER

Operating lease

11

–

–

–

11

Boeing 737-3YO

Operating lease

–

–

–

1

1

McDonnell Douglas DC10-40F

Operating lease

–

–

–

4

4

Total operating lease

30

5

11

5

51

Total fleet

94

16

28

5

143

The table below provides information on the Group’s aircraft fleet as at 31 December 2007:
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Type of aircraft

Ownership

Aeroflot —
Russian
Airlines
(number)

AeroflotDon
(number)

AeroflotNord
(number)

AeroflotCargo
(number)

Group
total
(number)

Ilyushin Il-96-300

Owned

6

–

–

–

6

Ilyushin Il-62M

Owned

1

–

–

–

1

Ilyushin Il-86

Owned

4

–

–

–

4

Tupolev Tu-154

Owned

26

7

1

Tupolev Tu-134

Owned

12

1

4

–

17

Antonov An-24

Owned

–

–

2

–

2

Antonov An-26

Owned

–

–

1

–

1

49

8

8

–

65

Total owned

34

Tupolev Tu-134

Finance lease

–

–

6

–

6

Antonov An-24

Finance lease

–

–

1

–

1

Airbus A-319

Finance lease

4

–

–

–

4

Airbus A-320

Finance lease

1

–

–

–

1

Airbus A-321

Finance lease

10

–

–

–

10

Boeing 737-500

Finance lease

–

3

2

–

5

15

3

9

–

27

Total finance lease
Tupolev Tu-134

Operating lease

–

1

2

–

3

Tupolev Tu-154

Operating lease

–

–

1

–

1

Antonov An-24

Operating lease

–

–

1

–

1

Antonov An-26

Operating lease

–

–

1

–

1

Ilyushin Il-86

Operating lease

–

2

–

–

2

Airbus A-319

Operating lease

7

–

–

–

7

2. Presentation of consolidated
financial statements
Basis of presentation — The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
millions of US dollars (“USD”), except where specifically
noted otherwise.
All significant subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled
by the Group are included in the consolidated financial
statements. A listing of the Group’s principal subsidiary
companies is set out in Note 1.
The Group maintains its accounting records in Russian
roubles (“RUR”) and in accordance with Russian accounting legislation and regulations. The accompanying consolidated financial statements are based on the
underlying accounting records, appropriately adjusted
and reclassified for fair presentation in accordance
with IFRS.
Functional and presentation currency — Since
1 January 2007 the functional currency of the Group
is the Russian rouble. The presentation currency of the
Group is the US dollar for convenience of foreign users,
including the major lessors. The functional currency was
changed due to the decrease in the cash inflows and outflows of the Group denominated in US dollars in 2007
and the increase in cash inflows and outflows denominated in Russian roubles.
The assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, have been translated at the closing rate at the
date of each balance sheet presented in accordance
with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21 The
Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. Income

and expense items for all periods presented have been
translated at the exchange rates existing at the dates of
the transactions or a rate that approximates the actual
exchange rates. All exchange differences resulting from
translation have been classified as equity and transferred
to the Group’s translation reserve.
Any conversion of Russian rouble amounts to US dollars should not be considered as a representation that
Russian rouble amounts have been, could be or will be in
the future, converted into US dollars at the exchange rate
shown or at any other exchange rate.
The assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, of the subsidiaries of the Company with functional
currencies other than the Russian rouble have been
translated at the closing rate at the date of each balance
sheet presented; income and expense items for all periods presented have been translated at the exchange
rates existing at the dates of the transactions or a rate
that approximates the actual exchange rates. All exchange differences resulting from translation have been
classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.
The following table details the exchange rates used to
translate Russian roubles to US dollars:
Exchange rate
31 December 2007

24.55

Average rate for 2007

25.58

31 December 2006

26.33

Average rate for 2006

27.19

31 December 2005

28.78
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3. New and revised international
financial reporting standards
Certain new standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2007. Their adoption
has not resulted in any significant changes to the Group’s
accounting policies. The standards and interpretations
that became effective from 1 January 2007 are:
• IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007 and a complementary amendment to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures, effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2007.
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Certain new standards and interpretations have been
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 or later periods and which the entity has not adopted early:
• IFRS 8 Operating segments, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Group
is currently evaluating the potential impact of IFRS 8
on the presentation of segmental information.
• IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements, effective
for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008. Management believes that this interpretation
should not have a significant impact on the Group’s
operations.
• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008. The
Group is currently evaluating the potential impact of
IFRIC 13 on the valuation of the frequent flyer programme liabilities.

4. Principal accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.
Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the Company
and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries)
prepared through 31 December each year. Subsidiaries
comprise entities in which the Company, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting
rights or otherwise has power to exercise control over
their operations. Control is achieved where the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.
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Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which effective control is obtained by the Group and are no longer
consolidated from the date of disposal or loss of control.
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transactions between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Minority interests
in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of
minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired
adjusted by subsequent changes in the carrying value of
net assets of those entities. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.
Business combinations — The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase allocation
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable
to the business combination. The acquirer’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet
the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the
acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and
measured at fair value less costs to sell.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.
Purchases of minority interests — The difference between the cost of acquisition and the carrying value of minority interests is recognised as an adjustment to equity.
Investments in associates — Associates in which the
Group has significant influence but not a controlling interest are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is usually demonstrated by the
Group’s owning, directly or indirectly, between 20% and
50% of the voting share capital or by exerting significant
influence through other means.

Under the equity method, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. The Group’s share of the net
income or losses of associates is included in the consolidated statement of income. An assessment of investments
in associates is performed when there is an indication that
the asset has been impaired or that the impairment losses
recognised in prior years no longer exist. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate)
are not recognised.
Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate. A listing of
the Group’s principal associated entities is included in
Note 1.
Foreign currency translation — Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are initially recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in such currencies at the balance sheet date are translated
into the functional currency at the year end exchange rate.
Exchange differences arising from such translation are included in the consolidated statement of income.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale — Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as being met only
when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

balance sheet date is reported as unearned transportation
revenue. This item is reduced either when the Group completes the transportation service or when the passenger
requests a refund. Sales representing the value of tickets
that have been issued, but which will never be used, are
recognised as traffic revenue at the date the tickets are issued based on an analysis of historical patterns of actual
sales data. Commissions, which are payable to the sales
agents are recognised as commercial and marketing expenses at the same time as revenue from the air transportation to which they relate.
Passenger revenue includes revenue from code-share
agreements with certain other airlines. Under these
agreements, the Group sells seats on these airlines’ flights
and those other airlines sell seats on the Group’s flights.
Revenue from the sale of code-share seats on other airlines
are recorded net in Group’s passenger revenue in the consolidated statement of income. The revenue from other
airlines’ sales of code-share seats on the Group’s flights
is recorded in passenger revenue in the Group’s consolidated statement of income.
Cargo revenue: The Group’s cargo transport services are
recognised as revenue when the air transportation is provided. Cargo sales for which the transportation service
has not yet been provided are shown as unearned transportation revenue.
Catering revenue: Revenue is recognised when meal packages are delivered to the aircraft, as this is the date when
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to
customers.
Other revenue: Revenue from bilateral airline agreements
is recognised when earned with reference to the terms of
each agreement. Hotel accommodation revenue is recognised when the services are provided. Sales of goods and
other services are recognised as revenue when the goods
are delivered or the service is rendered.

Any liabilities related to non-current assets to be sold are
also presented separately as liabilities in the balance sheet.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Borrowing costs — All borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction and production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that asset.
All other borrowings costs are recognised as an expense
in the consolidated statement of income.

Revenue recognition — Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of sales related
taxes.

Segment reporting — For the purposes of segment disclosure the Group has identified the following segments:

Passenger revenue: Ticket sales are reported as traffic revenue when the transportation service has been provided.
The value of tickets sold and still valid but not used by the

(a) Business segments
The principal business segments are airline operations,
airline catering, development of an airport terminal, hotel
operations and other. Business segment assets comprise
all assets used directly in the operation of the business
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segment. Income tax assets are excluded from segment
assets. Equity interests in affiliated companies are presented separately. Business segment liabilities and provisions comprise all commitments that are directly attributable to the business segment’s operations.
(b) Geographic segments
The operations of all segments are based in the Russian
Federation. With respect to scheduled passenger and
cargo activities, the following geographic analysis is
provided:
(i) Geographic analysis of revenue from flights – The
analysis of revenue from scheduled flights is based
upon the geographic location of the place of flight origin;
(ii) Geographic analysis of net assets — The major revenue earning assets of the Company are comprised of
its aircraft fleet. Since the Company’s aircraft fleet is
employed flexibly across its worldwide route network,
there is no suitable basis for allocating such assets
and liabilities to geographic segments.
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Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and
equipment is stated at cost, or appraised value, as described below. Depreciation is calculated in order to amortise the cost or appraised value (less estimated salvage
value where applicable) over the remaining useful lives of
the assets.
(a) Fleet
(I) Owned aircraft and engines — Aircraft and engines
owned by the Group as at 31 December 1995 were
stated at depreciated replacement cost based upon
external valuations denominated in US dollars. Airclaims, an international firm of aircraft appraisers,
conducted the valuation. The Group has chosen not to
revalue these assets subsequent to 1995. Subsequent
purchases are recorded at cost.
(II) Finance leased aircraft and engines — Where assets
are financed through finance leases, under which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the Group, the assets are treated
as if they had been purchased outright. The Group
recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in
the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair value of
the leased property at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding obligation, reduced by the
capital portion of lease payments made, is included in
payables. Custom duties, legal fees and other initial direct costs are added to the amount recognised as an
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asset. The interest element of lease payments made is
included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of income.
(III) Capitalised maintenance costs — The valuation of aircraft and engines as at 31 December 1995 reflected
their maintenance condition, as measured on the basis of previous expenditure on major overhauls and
estimated usage since the previous major overhaul.
Subsequent expenditure incurred on modernisation
and improvements projects that are significant in size
(mainly aircraft modifications involving installation of
replacement parts) are separately capitalised in the
balance sheet. The carrying amount of those parts that
are replaced is derecognised from the balance sheet
and included in gain or loss on disposals of property,
plan and equipment in the Group’s consolidated statement of income. Capitalised costs of aircraft checks
and major modernisation and improvements projects
are depreciated on a straight-line basis to the projected date of the next check or based on estimates
of their useful lives. Ordinary repair and maintenance
costs are expensed as incurred.
(IV) Depreciation — The Group depreciates fleet assets
owned or held under finance leases on a straightline basis to the end of their estimated useful life.
The airframe, engines and interior of an aircraft are
depreciated separately over their respective estimated useful lives. The salvage value for airframes
of the foreign fleet is estimated at 5% of historical
cost, while the salvage value for Russian aircraft is
zero. Engines are depreciated on a straight-line basis to the end of the useful life of the related type of
aircraft.
Useful lives of the Group’s fleet assets are as follows:
Airframes of foreign aircraft
Airframes of Russian aircraft
Engines of foreign aircraft
Engines of Russian aircraft
Interiors

20 years
25–32 years
8 years
8–10 years
5 years

(V)	Capitalised leasehold improvements — capitalised
costs that relate to the rented fleet are depreciated
over the shorter of their useful life and the lease term.
(b) Land and buildings, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at the historical US dollar cost recalculated at the exchange rate on

1 January 2007, the date of the change of the functional currency of the Company from the US dollar to the
Russian rouble (Note 1). Provision is made for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment based upon expected useful lives or, in the case of leasehold properties,
over the duration of the leases using a straight-line basis.
These useful lives range from 5 to 20 years. Land is not
depreciated.
(c) Capital expenditure
Capital expenditures comprise costs directly related
to the construction of property, plant and equipment
including an appropriate allocation of directly attributable variable overheads that are incurred in construction as well as costs of purchase of other assets
that require installation or preparation for their use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as for
other property assets, commences when the assets are
put into operation. Capital expenditures are reviewed
regularly to determine whether their carrying value is
fairly stated and whether appropriate provision for impairment is made.
(d) Gain or loss on disposal
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
Impairment of non-current assets — At each balance
sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
non-current assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment of those assets. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cashgenerating unit) in prior years.
Lease deposits — Lease deposits represent amounts paid
to the lessors of foreign aircraft, which are held as security deposits by lessors in accordance with the provisions
of finance and operating lease agreements. These deposits
are returned to the Group at the end of the lease period.
Lease deposits relating to operating lease agreements
are presented as assets in the balance sheet. A portion of
these deposits is interest-free. Interest-free deposits are
recorded at amortised cost using an average market yield
of 6.3%. Lease deposits that are part of finance lease arrangements are presented net as part of the finance lease
liability.
Operating leases — Payments under operating leases are
charged to the consolidated statement of income in equal
annual instalments over the period of the lease. Related direct expenses including custom duties for leased aircraft
are amortised using a straight-line method over the term of
lease agreement.
Financial instruments — Financial assets and financial liabilities carried in the balance sheet include cash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities, investments, derivative
financial instruments, trade and other accounts receivable,
trade and other accounts payable, borrowings and notes
payable. The accounting policies on recognition and measurement of these items are disclosed below.
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, and gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability are
reported as expense or income. Distributions to holders of
financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity. Financial instruments are offset when the
Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The result from the realisation of the financial instruments is determined on the
FIFO basis.
(a) Credit risks
The sale of passenger and freight transportation is largely
processed through agencies that are normally linked to
country specific clearing systems for the settlement of
passenger and freight sales. Clearing centres check individual agents operating outside of the Russian Federation.
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Individual agents operating within the Russian Federation
are checked in-house.
Receivables and liabilities between major airlines, unless
otherwise stipulated in the respective agreements, are
settled on a bilateral basis or by settlement through an
International Air Transport Association (IATA) clearing
house.
(b) Fair value
The fair value of financial instruments is determined by reference to various market information and other valuation
methods as considered appropriate. At the balance sheet
date the fair values of the financial instruments held by the
Group did not materially differ from their recorded book
values.
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ries: trading securities, held-to-maturity investments, loans
and other receivables, and available-for-sale investments.
Investments with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity, which the Group has the positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity, other than loans and receivables,
are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Derivative financial instruments and investments acquired principally
for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term
fluctuations in price are classified as trading. All other
investments, other than loans and receivables, are classified as available-for-sale.
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs.

(c) Foreign exchange risk
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In 2007 the Group did not manage foreign exchange risk
through the use of hedging instruments but rather aimed
to broadly match its assets and liabilities in the different
currencies to limit exposure. The Group monitors changes
in foreign exchange rates to minimise the level of foreign
currency exposure and to identify any need for hedging
activities.
(d) Interest rate risk
The Group’s main exposure to interest rate risk is from
its finance lease liabilities and short-term borrowings. In
2007 the Group did not use financial hedging instruments
to hedge its exposure to the changes in interest rates, as
they are not generally available on the Russian market.
The Group constantly monitors changes in interest rates
to minimise the level of its exposure and to identify any
need for hedging activities.
(e) Non-financial risks — fuel hedging activities
The results of Group’s operations can be significantly impacted by changes in the price of aircraft fuel. The Group
periodically purchases derivatives such as aircraft fuel
options in order to hedge its exposure from future price
fluctuations in aircraft fuel. The Group does not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes.
Cash and cash equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks and
short-term interest-bearing accounts which are used in
the day to day financing of the Group’s airline activities.
Investments — The Group’s financial assets have been
classified according to IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement into the following catego-

Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets excluding derivative contracts which mature on a specified date
and which a company has the firm intent and ability to
hold to maturity. They are valued at allocated acquisition
cost and they are included in long-term assets.
Investments other than held-to-maturity debt securities
are classified as either investments held for trading or as
available-for-sale, and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Investments in equity instruments
of other companies that do not have a quoted market
price are stated at cost less impairment loss, as it is not
practicable to determine the fair value of such investments.
For derivatives and other financial instruments classified
as held for trading, gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are included in the consolidated statement
of income for the period. For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are recognised directly in equity, until the security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
included in the consolidated statement of income for the
period. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated
statement of income for equity investments classified as
available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through
the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses
recognised in the consolidated statement of income for
debt instruments classified as available-for-sale are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
During the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006
the Group held corporate and Government derivative instruments primarily comprising shares and bonds. These
are disclosed as held-for-trading investments in Note 14.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of held-

for-trading investments are recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.
Derivative instruments are accounted for as held for trading with related gains or losses from re-measurement to
fair value included in the current period consolidated statement of income as other non-operating gains or losses.
The Group assesses on each closing date whether there
is any objective evidence that the value of a financial asset item or group of items has been impaired. If there is
objective evidence that an impairment loss has arisen
for loans and other receivables entered at allocated acquisition cost in the balance sheet or for held-to-maturity
investments, the size of the loss is determined as the difference between the book value of the asset item and the
present value of expected future cash flows of the said
financial asset item discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.
Loans and receivables — Loans and receivables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are individually recognised at
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. Because
the expected term of an account receivable is short,
the value is typically stated at the nominal amount without discounting, which corresponds with the fair value.
Uncertain accounts receivable balances are assessed
individually and any impairment losses are included in
non-operating expenses.
Accounts payable — Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost and because the expected term of accounts payable is short the value is stated at the nominal
amount without discounting, which corresponds with
the fair value.
Short-term borrowings — Short-term borrowings comprise:
• Interest bearing borrowings with a term shorter than
one year;
• Current portion of interest-bearing long-term borrowings.
These liabilities are measured at amortised cost and reported based on the settlement date.
Long-term borrowings — Long-term borrowings (i.e.
liabilities with a term longer than one year) consist of interest-bearing loans, which are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method as at the settlement date.

Expendable spare parts and inventories — Inventories,
including aircraft expendable spare parts, are valued at
cost or net realisable value, whichever is lower. The costs
are determined on the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis.
Inventories are reported net of provisions for slow-moving
or obsolete items.
Value added taxes — Value added tax (“VAT”) related
to sales is payable to the tax authorities on an accruals
basis. For sales of passenger tickets this is when the tickets are registered for a flight by the customers. Domestic
flights are subject to VAT at 18% and international flights
are subject to VAT at 0%. Input VAT invoiced by domestic
suppliers as well as VAT paid in respect of imported aircraft and spare parts may be recovered, subject to certain
restrictions, against output VAT. The recovery of input VAT
relating sales at 0% is typically delayed by up to 6 months
and sometimes longer due to compulsory tax audit requirements and other administrative matters. Input VAT
claimed for recovery as at the balance sheet date is presented net of the output VAT liability. Recoverable input
VAT that is not claimed for recovery in the current period is
recorded in the balance sheet as VAT receivable. VAT receivables that are not expected to be recovered within the
twelve months from the balance sheet date are classified as
a long-term assets. VAT balances are not discounted. Where
provision has been made for uncollectible receivables, the
bad debt expense is recorded at the gross amount of the
account receivable, including VAT. The provision for nonrecoverable VAT is charged to the consolidated statement
of income as a non-operating expense.
Frequent flyer programme — The Company records
an estimated liability for the incremental costs associated with providing free transportation under the Aeroflot
Bonus programme (Note 21) when a free air ticket or upgrade of service class are earned. Principal incremental
costs include aircraft fuel costs and third-party passenger
services (such as catering services and airport charges)
reduced by the fuel surcharge paid by the passenger. The
liability is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and is adjusted periodically based on awards earned,
awards redeemed and changes to the Aeroflot Bonus programme. The costs are included in sales and marketing
expenses in the consolidated statement of income.
Provisions — Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable (i.e. more likely than not)
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the
expected timing of cash flows can be estimated and the
effect of the time value of money is significant, the amount
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of a provision is stated at the present value of the expenditures required to settle the obligation.
Income tax — The nominal income tax rate for industrial
enterprises in Russia in 2007 and 2006 was 24%. The
nominal tax rate is subject to regional reductions of up to
4%. The average nominal tax rate of the Group in 2006
was lower than 24% because the tax rate applicable to different entities within the Group varied from 20% to 24%. In
2007 the income tax rate was 24%.
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Deferred income taxes — Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. IAS 12 requires
the application of the balance sheet liability method for
financial reporting and accounting for deferred income
taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting
purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply during the period when
the asset is to be realised or the liability settled, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
as at the balance sheet date. As at 31 December 2007
deferred tax assets and liabilities have been measured at
24%. As at 31 December 2006 deferred tax assets and
liabilities were measured based on the tax rates applicable
to the Group companies, which ranged from 20% to 24%.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated
statement of income, except when it relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is dealt with in equity.
Employee benefits — The Group makes certain payments
to employees on retirement or when they otherwise leave
the employment of the Group. These obligations, which are
unfunded, represent obligations under a defined benefit
pension plan. For such plans the pension accounting costs
are assessed using the projected unit credit method. Under
this method the cost of providing pensions is charged to
the consolidated statement of income in order to spread
the regular cost over the average service lives of employees. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income immediately. The pension
payments may be increased upon the retirement of an employee based on the decision of management. The pension
liability for non-retired employees is calculated based on a
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minimum annual pension payment and do not include increases, if any, to be made by management in the future.
Where such post-employment employee benefits fall due
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date they are
discounted using a discount rate determined by reference
to the average market yields at the balance sheet date.
The Group also participates in a defined contribution plan,
under which the Group has committed to contribute a certain percentage (15% to 20% in 2007) of the contribution made by employees choosing to participate in the
plan. Contributions made by the Group on defined contribution plans are charged to expenses when incurred.
Contributions are also made to the Government Pension
fund at the statutory rates in force during the year. Such
contributions are expensed as incurred.
Treasury shares — The Company’s shares, which are held
as treasury stock or belong to the Company’s subsidiaries,
are reflected as a reduction of the Group’s equity. The disposal of such shares does not impact net income for the current year and is recognised as a change in the shareholders’
equity of the Group. Dividend distributions by the Company
are recorded net of the dividends related to treasury shares.
Dividends — Dividends are recognised at the date they
are declared by the shareholders at a general meeting.
Retained earnings legally distributable by the Company are
based on the amounts available for distribution in accordance with applicable legislation and reflected in the statutory financial statements. These amounts may differ significantly from the amounts presented in accordance with IFRS.
Earnings per share — Earnings per share are calculated
by dividing the income for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. The Group
does not have any potentially dilutive equity instruments.
Contingencies — Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements unless they arise as a
result of a business combination. They are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

5. Significant estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainties at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Provisions — Provisions are made when any probable
and quantifiable risk of loss attributable to disputes is
judged to exist.
Depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment — In reporting intangible assets and tangible fixed
assets, an assessment is made of the useful economic life
and an assessment is made at least once a year to determine whether impairment exists.

Compliance with tax legislation — As discussed further
in Note 35 compliance with tax legislation, particularly in
the Russian Federation, is subject to a significant degree of
interpretation and can be routinely challenged by the tax
authorities. The management records a provision in respect
of its best estimate of likely additional tax payments and
related penalties which may be payable if the Group’s tax
compliance is challenged by the relevant tax authorities.

6. Traffic revenue
2007

2006

2,845.7

2,189.1

271.9

264.4

47.8

19.6

3,165.4

2,473.1

2007

2006

481.2

396.1

40.3

30.3

Ground handling and maintenance

22.0

16.3

Hotel revenue

19.9

17.0

Catering services

17.0

14.3

Other revenue

62.0

45.2

642.4

519.2

2007

2006

1,023.1

920.2

Aircraft and traffic servicing

497.7

397.3

Maintenance

208.7

179.0

Sales and marketing

208.3

166.4

Operating lease expenses

170.2

134.5

Administration and general expenses

117.4

87.1

Passenger services

105.6

76.3

Communication expenses

57.7

48.0

Insurance expenses

21.7

20.3

Customs duties

12.4

6.2

Other expenses

106.8

64.9

2,529.6

2,100.2

Scheduled passenger flights
Cargo
Charter passenger flights

7. Other revenue
Airline revenue agreements
Refuelling services

8. Operating costs
Aircraft fuel
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9. Staff costs

11. Other non-operating expenses, net
2007

2006

474.3

346.0

Pension costs

57.9

Social security costs

Wages and salaries

The Group continued its participation in a non-government pension fund to provide additional pensions to certain of its employees upon their retirement. The pension
fund requires contributions from both employees and the
Group and is a defined contribution pension plan for the
employer.
Furthermore, the Group makes payments, upon retirement,
to employees participating in the plan with one or more

2006

Fines and penalties received from suppliers

1.8

7.6

45.1

Reversal of payables no longer due

0.6

2.5

23.0

17.2

Insurance compensation received

0.5

0.8

555.2

408.3

Non-recoverable VAT (i)

(44.7)

(15.1)

Other expenses

(14.0)

(12.5)

(55.8)

(16.7)

years’ service. These obligations, which are unfunded, represent obligations under a defined benefit pension plan.
Pension costs also include compulsory payments to the
Russian Federation Pension Fund (“RFPF”), contributions
to a non-government pension fund and an increase in the
net present value of the future benefits which the Group
expects to pay to its employees upon their retirement under a defined benefit pension plan, as follows:

2007

2006

56.9

43.7

Defined benefit pension plan

0.5

1.1

Defined contribution pension plan

0.5

0.3

57.9

45.1

Payments to the RFPF
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10. Financial income and expenses
2006

Foreign exchange gain, net

44.6

38.7

Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments, net (i)

13.2

(0.9)

4.2

4.4

62.0

42.2

Interest expense on finance lease liabilities

(31.6)

(20.0)

Interest expense on short and long-term borrowings

(21.6)

(10.7)

Loss on derivatives (ii)

–

(1.5)

Financial expenses

(53.2)

(32.2)

Financial income:

Financial income

12. Income tax
2007

2006

207.6

136.0

16.0

(6.2)

223.6

129.8

Current income tax charge
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit)
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Income before taxation for financial reporting purposes is reconciled to taxation as follows:
2007

2006

537.0

387.9

(128.9)

(93.1)

Non-taxable income

14.4

6.7

Effect of lower tax rates

(3.2)

8.9

Deferred tax charged to equity

(1.7)

(1.4)

Unrecognised current year tax losses

(9.4)

–

Prior period tax adjustment

(20.4)

(16.7)

Non-deductible expenses

(74.4)

(34.2)

(223.6)

(129.8)

Theoretical tax at rate applicable for each jurisdiction
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes:

Financial expenses:

(i) The gain on disposal of investments in 2007 is
mainly comprised of the gain from the sale of the
shares in OJSC Terminal to Vneshtorgbank and
Vneshekonombank of USD 7.5 million and the sale
of the shares in LLC Airoimp of USD 6.4 million.

expired passenger tickets of USD 12.0 million. The
amount of non-recoverable VAT written off in 2006
amounted to USD 15.1 million.

Profit before income tax
2007

Interest income on bank deposits

(i)	In 2007 the Company wrote off the non-recoverable
VAT related to cargo export sales and fuel sales in
total amounting to USD 32.7 million and the VAT on

(ii)	In 2006 the Group purchased aircraft fuel options to
hedge aircraft fuel prices. Due to the decrease in fuel
prices the option lapsed unexecuted. The total expense
relating to purchased fuel options during the year ended
31 December 2006 was approximately USD 1.5 million.

The Group did not recognise a deferred tax asset of
USD 9.4 million in respect of tax losses because it is not
probable that in the foreseeable future sufficient taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised by the Group.
Differences between IFRS and Russian statutory taxation
regulations give rise to certain temporary differences be-

tween the carrying values of certain assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their values for profits
tax purposes. The tax effect of the movement in these temporary differences is recorded at the tax rates applicable
to the Group companies and range from 20% to 24% for
the year ended 31 December 2006 and 24% for the year
ended 31 December 2007.
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2007

Movement
for year

2006

Movement
for year

2005

Tax effects of temporary differences:
5.7

0.5

5.2

3.3

1.9

Short and long-term borrowings

0.3

(1.2)

1.5

(1.6)

3.1

Accounts receivable

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.2

–

Accounts payable

1.2

1.0

0.2

0.2

–

Deferred tax assets

8.2

1.1

7.1

2.1

5.0

(113.8)

(43.6)

(70.2)

(34.1)

(36.1)

(7.8)

2.8

(10.6)

3.0

(13.6)

(19.8)

(3.3)

(16.5)

(15.6)

(0.9)

88.2

23.4

64.8

50.7

14.1

(53.2)

(20.7)

(32.5)

4.0

(36.5)

Long-term investments
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Deferred tax liabilities
Movement for the year, net

(19.6)

6.1

Less: Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (i)

1.2

0.1

Effect of translation to presentation currency

2.4

–

(16.0)

6.2

Deferred tax (benefit)/expense for the year

2006

22.2

7.8

3.9

2.2

26.1

10.0

16.7

27.0

Other short-term investments

7.1

3.6

Promissory notes from third parties

4.7

4.8

(0.5)

(0.5)

28.0

34.9

54.1

44.9

Corporate shares
Corporate and government bonds

Other short-term investments:
Bank deposits with original maturities exceeding 90 days

Impairment allowance for short-term investments

Corporate shares are publicly traded shares of Russian
companies with readily available market prices.

100
(i) The Group holds the shares in France Telecom, which
are classified as long-term investments available-forsale. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
of the France Telecom shares are recognised directly in
equity, deferred tax related to them is also dealt with
in equity. The movement during 2007 amounted to
USD 1.2 million (2006: USD 0.1 million).

2007
Held-for-trading investments:

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment

14. Short-term investments

A deferred tax asset in relation to the temporary differences
of USD 4.9 million (2006: A deferred tax liability in relation
to the temporary differences of USD 10.6 million) relating to
the investments in subsidiaries and associates has not been
recognised in the consolidated financial statements as the
Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the difference, and reversal is not expected in the foreseeable future.

13. Cash and cash equivalents
2007

2006

Bank accounts denominated in Russian roubles

27.4

54.2

Bank accounts denominated in US dollars

24.2

101.4

Bank accounts denominated in other currencies

17.7

13.3

Bank accounts denominated in Euros

9.6

8.2

Bank deposits

8.2

2.4

Cash in transit and other

3.5

1.8

90.6

181.3

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in
Note 31.

Corporate and government bonds represent bonds denominated in Russian roubles issued by the Government of the
Russian Federation and major Russian companies with maturity dates from 2008 to 2014 and yield to maturity rates of
7% to 13.5% per annum as at 31 December 2007.

The Group’s investments in bonds and shares are reflected at period end market values based on the last traded prices obtained
from the Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange (“MICEX”).
As at 31 December 2007 the interest rates on bank deposits
denominated in Russian roubles, with original maturities exceeding 90 days, were between 7.0% and 9.75% per annum
(2006: between 5.75% and 9.5% per annum).

15. Accounts receivable and prepayments, net
2007

2006

VAT recoverable

552.9

388.5

Trade accounts receivable

354.5

191.7

Prepayments to suppliers

46.9

45.6

Income tax prepaid

42.2

14.8

Deferred customs duties related to aircraft operating leases

20.8

27.3

Other

60.5

51.6

1,077.8

719.5

(24.3)

(18.2)

1,053.5

701.3

Accounts receivable and prepayments, gross
Impairment allowance for bad and doubtful accounts

Deferred customs duties of USD 20.8 million (2006:
USD 27.3 million) relate to the current portion of customs
duties incurred on importation of aircraft under operating
leases. These customs duties are expensed in the consolidated statement of income over the term of the operating

lease. The non-current portion of the deferred customs
duties is disclosed in Note 19.
As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 there were no significant trade and other accounts receivable that were past
due but not impaired.
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The movement in the Group’s impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts is as follows:

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s affiliates accounted for using the equity method based on their
respective financial statements prepared for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006, respectively, is set out below:
Impairment allowance

As at 31 December 2005
Increase in impairment allowance for bad and doubtful accounts

1.7

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible

(1.9)

As at 31 December 2006

18.2

2006

182.4

131.6

(126.7)

(71.5)

Net assets

55.7

60.1

20.5

21.5

852.0

724.7

12.6

10.0

6.0

8.4

2007

2006

Total assets
Total liabilities

Provision exchange rate

1.5

Group’s share in the net assets of equity accounted investments as at
31 December

Increase in impairment allowance for bad and doubtful accounts

8.0

Revenue

Accounts receivable written off during the year as uncollectible

(3.4)

Profit for the year

As at 31 December 2007

24.3

Group’s share of profits for the year in equity accounted investments

16. Expendable spare parts and inventories, net
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2007

18.4

18. Long-term investments
2007

2006

Expendable spare parts

60.1

39.7

Available-for-sale investments:

Fuel

24.5

19.9

Shares in France Telecom

18.5

14.1

Other inventories

25.5

19.4

Mutual investment funds

0.9

0.9

110.1

79.0

SITA Investment Certificates

0.7

0.7

(5.9)

–

20.1

15.7

104.2

79.0

Loans issued and promissory notes from third parties

0.5

0.7

Other

1.2

2.5

1.7

3.2

21.8

18.9

2007

2006

Advances paid on aircraft under operating leases

114.5

–

Expendable spare parts and inventories, gross
Impairment allowance for obsolete inventory

17. Equity accounted investments
2007

Other long-term investments:

2006

Voting rights

Carrying value

Voting rights

Carrying value

LLC Airport Moscow

50.0%

4.4

50.0%

3.8

CJSC
AeroMASH — AB

45.0%

1.7

45.0%

1.5

CJSC Aerofirst

33.3%

5.8

33.3%

4.8

CJSC TZK Sheremetyevo

31.0%

7.9

31.0%

5.8

0%

–

25.0%

3.3

VAT recoverable

109.6

74.1

Various

0.7

Various

2.3

Deferred customs duties in relation to leased aircraft

104.3

41.6

5.7

4.2

334.1

119.9

LLC Aeroimp
Other

20.5

21.5

19. Other non-current assets

Other

VAT recoverable primarily includes USD 80.5 million (2006: USD 74.1 million) related to the acquisition of aircraft
and USD 22.7 million (2006: Nil) associated with the construction of the new Sheremetyevo-3 terminal. None of the
amounts are impaired.
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20. Property, plant and equipment
Owned aircraft and
engines

Leased aircraft and
engines

Land and
buildings

Plant,
equipment
and other

Construction in
progress(i)

Total

Cost
As at 31 December 2005

492.0

389.5

181.8

195.3

134.9

1,393.5

Additions

30.1

263.7

1.5

15.1

206.0

516.4

Capitalised overhaul costs

15.8

–

–

–

–

15.8

Disposals

(40.8)

–

(0.2)

(9.2)

(2.7)

(52.9)

Transfers

1.7

27.8

0.4

14.9

(44.8)

–

Foreign currency translation

2.1

2.1

1.0

1.1

9.9

16.2

500.9

683.1

184.5

217.2

303.3

1,889.0

Additions (ii)

54.5

151.6

8.6

27.6

291.2

533.5

Capitalised overhaul costs (iii)

21.9

–

–

–

–

21.9

(36.0)

(11.3)

(0.3)

(14.2)

(11.0)

(72.8)

–

39.1

13.3

6.6

(59.0)

–

38.1

57.3

13.8

16.9

31.1

157.2

579.4

919.8

219.9

254.1

555.6

2,528.8

As at 31 December 2006

Disposals (iv)
Transfers
Foreign currency translation
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31 December 2007
Accumulated depreciation

(i)	Construction in progress as at 31 December 2007
primarily includes:
• capital expenditure incurred in relation to the construction of the new Sheremetyevo-3 terminal of
USD 431.7 million (2006: USD 209.3 million);
• capital expenditure and prepayments of
USD 42.1 million related to the construction of the
Company’s new office building;
• prepayments of USD 5.7 million related to the delivery of ten new Sukhoi SuperJet-100 (SSJ) aircraft;
• prepayments for the delivery of three McDonnell
Douglas MD aircraft of USD 14.3 million;
• prepayments for the delivery of three Ilyushin Il-96T
aircraft of USD 0.5 million;
• prepayments for connecting the building to the city
utilities network of USD 16.7 million.

(ii) The 2007 additions mostly related to the acquisition of
three Airbus A-321, one Boeing 737-500, one Antonov An24 and three Tupolev Tu-134 aircraft under finance leases
and the purchase of one Tupolev Tu-154 which is owned;
(iii)	Capitalised overhaul costs primarily relate to the
renovations of aircraft interiors and modernisation of
aircraft engines;
(iv) The 2007 disposals relate to the disposal of five Ilyushin Il-86, one Tupolev Tu-134 and one Tupolev Tu154 aircraft previously owned by the Group.
During 2007 USD 20.7 million (2006: USD 2 million) of
interest costs were capitalised in the cost of property,
plant and equipment.

21. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
2007

2006

293.3

232.3

Staff related liabilities

87.9

57.1

VAT payable on leased aircraft

87.2

47.6

Customs duties payable on leased aircraft

71.0

41.9

Advances received (other than unearned transportation revenue)

27.3

50.7

Trade accounts payable

(354.2)

(32.4)

(69.4)

(142.1)

(1.1)

(599.2)

Income tax payable

8.8

0.1

(34.6)

(39.8)

(9.2)

(14.0)

–

(97.6)

Other taxes payable

7.7

5.8

0.6

–

–

(2.1)

–

(1.5)

Merchandise credits

6.9

7.4

Disposals

32.2

–

–

7.3

–

39.5

Frequent flyer programme liability

5.0

12.6

Foreign currency translation

(1.1)

(0.1)

(0.4)

(1.1)

–

(2.7)

Dividends payable

3.8

2.3

(357.1)

(72.3)

(79.0)

(152.0)

(1.1)

(661.5)

30.9

18.3

(42.3)

(73.1)

(10.3)

(19.3)

–

(145.0)

629.8

476.1

Impairment

(3.9)

–

–

–

–

(3.9)

Disposals (iv)

31.8

–

–

11.2

–

43.0

(26.5)

(8.4)

(6.9)

(10.7)

–

(52.5)

(398.0)

(153.8)

(96.2)

(170.8)

(1.1)

(819.9)

31 December 2006

143.8

610.8

105.5

65.2

302.2

1,227.5

31 December 2007

181.4

766.0

123.7

83.3

554.5

1,708.9

31 December 2005
Charge for the year
Impairment

31 December 2006
Charge for the year

Foreign currency translation
31 December 2007
Net book value

As at 31 December 2007 property, plant and equipment, consisting primarily of construction in progress related to the
construction of the Sheremetyevo-3 terminal of USD 431.7 million, are subject to a registered debenture to secure bank
loans (Note 24 and Note 26).

Other payables

As at 31 December 2007 accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the short-term portion of VAT of
USD 87.2 million (2006: USD 47.6 million) and customs
duties of USD 71.0 million (2006: USD 41.9 million) relating to imported leased aircraft, which are payable in
equal monthly instalments over a 34 month period from
the date these assets were cleared through customs. The
long-term portion of VAT payable and customs duties of
USD 80.5 million (2006: USD 74.1 million) and USD 69.6
million (2006: USD 67.1 million), respectively, relating to
the imported leased aircraft are disclosed in Note 27.

The Group introduced the Aeroflot Bonus frequent flyer programme in 1999. As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 approximately 920 thousand and 676 thousand passengers,
respectively, participated in the programme. The frequent
flyer programme liability as at 31 December 2007 and
2006 represents the incremental costs, which are included
in sales and marketing expenses, associated with providing
free transportation under the Aeroflot Bonus programme.

Staff related payables primarily include salaries and social contribution liabilities of USD 59.3 million (2006:

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to accounts payable and accrued liabilities is disclosed in Note 31.

USD 50.1 million) and the unused vacation accrual of
USD 27.4 million (2006: USD 6 million).
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22. Unearned transportation revenue
As at 31 December 2007 unearned transportation
revenue of USD 180.3 million (2006: USD 123.6 mil
lion) comprised passenger transportation revenue of

USD 180.1 million (2006: USD 123.5 million) and cargo transportation revenue of USD 0.2 million (2006:
USD 0.1 million).

23. Provisions
2007

2006

1 January

83.3

88.6

Additional provision in the year

26.0

23.6

(44.4)

(28.9)

64.9

83.3

Release of provision
31 December
Analysed as:
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
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The Group is a defendant in various legal actions. The
provision represents management’s best estimate of the
Group’s probable losses relating to various actual and
potential legal claims. The Group also provides against
tax contingencies and the related interest and penalties
based on management’s estimate of the amount of the additional taxes that may become due.
The Company is a defendant in a claim by the owner of
a cargo plane, which crashed in Italy in October 1996,
whilst on charter to the Group. The basis of the claim concerns liability for the loss of the aircraft and the responsibilities of the parties at the time of the crash. According
to a report prepared by Airclaims, compensation relating
to crashed aircraft ranges between USD 11.8 million and
USD 15.3 million. Management made their best assessment of the likely outcome associated with this issue and
recorded a provision amounting to USD 12.0 million as
at 31 December 2003. In 2005 the Arbitration court decided in favour of the claimant regarding compensation
and awarded damages amounting to 28.0 million euros.

2007

2006

–

1.7

Sberbank of the Russian Federation (iii)

69.4

45.0

Gazprombank (iv)

34.2

–

Vneshtorgbank (iv)

12.6

39.3

Renaissance Capital (iv)

9.2

–

MDM Bank (iv)

5.5

–

Vnesheconombank (v)

–

99.2

TransCreditBank (iv)

–

5.3

Alfa-bank (vi)

–

8.3

0.5

9.2

131.4

228.8

Other short-term bank loans
Loans denominated in Russian roubles:

Other short-term bank loans
4.0

7.2

60.9

76.1

64.9

83.3

Accordingly the reserve was increased to USD 35.0 million. The provision has been included in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2007 and 2006,
respectively. There is currently uncertainty regarding the
final resolution and execution of the court decision is suspended and the Company has filed an appeal. Final adjustments (if any) will be made in the consolidated financial
statements when the outcome of the issue is known.
In 2001 the Federal Unitary Entity, Goscorporation OVD,
claimed that the agreement with the Federal Aviation
Service on the application of a 50% discount on aero
navigation services during 1997 and 1998 to be void,
as this contradicted Russian legislation, and invoiced the
Company for approximately USD 7.2 million for underpaid amounts relating to 1997 and 1998 and interest
accrued as at 31 December 2004. This amount was included in provisions as at 31 December 2006 and 2005
in full and was presented as a current liability as at 31
December 2006. The liability was settled in March 2007.

(i) The balance as at 31 December 2006 represents the
short-term portion of a credit line issued at an interest
rate of LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum. The effective
annualised interest rate in 2007 was equal to 7.22%
per annum. During 2007 this credit line was repaid in
full. The loan was unsecured;

(iv) The balances as at 31 December 2007 represent the
net amounts due under a series of short-term security
sale and repurchase agreements bearing an interest rate of 7.4% per annum. The securities that are
subject to the sale and repurchase agreements are
pledged as collateral pertaining to these loans;

(ii) The balance as at 31 December 2006 represents the
short-term portion of a credit line issued at an interest
rate of LIBOR plus 1.05% per annum. The effective
annualised interest rate in 2007 was equal to 6.21%
per annum. During 2007 this credit line was repaid in
full. The loan was unsecured;

(v) The balances as at 31 December 2006 represent the
short-term portions of a credit line issued at an interest rate of 9.25% per annum. The effective annualised
interest rate in 2007 was equal to 9.25% per annum.
During 2007 this credit line was repaid in full. The
loan was unsecured;

(iii) As at 31 December 2007 USD 69.4 million was payable to Sberbank of the Russian Federation in relation to a credit line issued to the Group. The loan was
borrowed at a fixed interest rate of 6.8% per annum
to facilitate the Group’s working capital requirements.
The loans is unsecured;

(vi) The balance as at 31 December 2006 represents the
short-term portion of a credit line issued at an interest rate of 10% per annum. The effective annualised
interest rate in 2007 was equal to 10% per annum.
The loan was secured by property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of USD 0.2 million and was
repaid in full during 2007.

25. Finance lease liabilities

24. Short-term borrowing

The Group leases aircraft under finance lease agreements. Leased assets are listed in Note 1 above.
2007

2006

Loans denominated in US dollars:

Total outstanding payments

Natixis Banques Populaires (i)

–

10.8

Finance charges

ABN Amro Bank (ii)

–

10.0

Principal outstanding

2007

2006

766.1

612.6

(167.6)

(107.4)

598.5

505.2
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2007

2006

67.4

52.2

531.1

453.0

598.5

505.2

Representing:
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities

(iii) The balance as at 31 December 2007 relates to a
loan of USD 16.3 million issued by Raiffeisen bank.
The loan carries a variable interest rate of MosPrime plus 3% per annum. The amount was bor-

rowed in order to finance the Group’s working capital requirements. The effective annualised interest
rate in 2007 was equal to 12.47% per annum. The
loan is unsecured.

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
2007

2006

On demand or within one year

131.4

228.8

Due for repayment (principal and finance charges):
On demand or within one year

105.6

72.1

In two to five years

347.4

261.3

In two to five years

147.4

–

After five years

313.1

279.2

After five years

232.2

5.7

766.1

612.6

511.0

234.5

Less: amounts due for settlement within 12 months

(131.4)

(228.8)

at 31 December 2007 amounted to USD 14.4 million and
USD 130.5 million, respectively.

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months

379.6

5.7

The Group’s aircraft leases are subject to both positive and
negative covenants. In accordance with those covenants, the
Company maintains insurance coverage for its leased aircraft.

27. Other non-current liabilities
2007

2006

VAT payable on leased aircraft

80.5

74.1

Custom duties payable on leased aircraft

69.6

67.1

Defined benefit pension obligation — non-current portion

11.8

11.5

Other non-current liabilities

13.6

9.3

175.5

162.0

Interest unpaid as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 was
approximately USD 3.6 million and USD 2.3 million, respectively, and is included in accrued expenses. In 2007
and 2006 the effective interest rate on these leases approximated 5.9% and 5.3% per annum, respectively.
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In 2007 the Group acquired one Boeing B-737-500 and
three Airbus-321 aircraft under finance leases. The related short-term and long-term finance lease liabilities as

The Group’s aircraft leased under finance lease agreements are subject to a registered debenture to secure liabilities in relation to their lease.

26. Long-term borrowings
2007

2006

Vnesheconombank (i)

179.6

–

Vneshtorgbank (ii)

177.8

–

Accor

2.7

2.6

Other long-term loans

3.2

3.1

As at 31 December 2007 other non-current liabilities include the long-term portion of VAT of USD 80.5 million
(2006: USD 74.1 million) and customs duties of USD 69.6
million (2006: USD 67.1 million) relating to imported
leased aircraft, which are payable in equal monthly instalments over a 34 month period from the date these assets
are cleared through customs.

16.3

–

Customs duties payable on leased aircraft have been
discounted using a discount rate between 8.05% and

379.6

5.7

Loans denominated in US dollars:

Loans denominated in Russian roubles:
Raiffeisen bank (iii)

(i) The balance as at 31 December 2007 represents an
outstanding balance of USD 179.6 million on a credit
line issued by Vnesheconombank at a fixed interest
rate of 10.56% per annum. The amount was borrowed
in order to finance the construction of the new Sheremetyevo-3 terminal. The sublease of the land and the construction in progress are pledged as collateral under a
primary loan agreement with hypothecation values of
USD 59.5 million and USD 431.7 million, respectively;

(ii) The balance as at 31 December 2007 represents the
outstanding amount of USD 177.8 million on a credit
line issued by Vneshtorgbank at a fixed interest rate of
7.75% per annum. The amount was borrowed in order
to finance the construction of the new Sheremetyevo3 terminal. The sublease of the land and the construction in progress are pledged as collateral under a secondary loan agreement with hypothecation values of
USD 59.5 million and USD 431.7 million, respectively;

10.98% with the related gain from discounting included
in the amount of the related assets.
The short-term portion of the VAT payable and the customs
duties of USD 87.2 million (2006: USD 47.6 million) and
USD 71.0 million (2006: USD 41.9 million), respectively, relating to the imported leased aircraft are disclosed in Note 21.

28. Share capital
Number of shares authorised and issued

Number of treasury
shares

Number of shares
outstanding

As at 31 December 2006

1,110,616,299

(50,382,706)

1,060,233,593

As at 31 December 2007

1,110,616,299

(48,940,319)

1,061,675,980

Ordinary shares of one Russian rouble each:

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to one vote per share.
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During 2007 the number of treasury shares held by the
Group decreased by 1,442,387.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Russian Trade
System (“RTS”) and the Moscow Interbank Currency
Exchange (“MICEX”) and on 31 December 2007 were traded
at USD 3.87 per share (2006: USD 2.19 per share). On the
date of signing of these consolidated financial statement the
Company’s shares were traded at USD 3.95 per share.
The Company launched a Level 1 Global Depositary Receipts
(GDR’s) programme in December 2000. The Company signed
a depositary agreement with Deutsche Bank Group, allowing
the Company’s shareholders to swap their shares for GDR’s,
which trade over-the-counter on US and European markets.
The swap ratio was established at 100 shares per GDR. In accordance with the depositary agreement the total volume of the
GDR’s of the Company cannot exceed 20% of the Company’s
share capital. In 2001 the Company’s GDR’s were listed on
the New Europe Exchange (“NEWEX”) in Vienna and after
closing of this stock exchange the GDR’s were transferred to
the third segment of the stock exchange in Frankfurt.

29. Retained earnings and dividends
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The statutory accounting reports of the Group companies are
the basis for profit distribution and other appropriations. For
the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 the statutory
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profits of the Company, as reported in the published annual
statutory financial statements, were 6,074 million Russian
roubles and 7,981 million Russian roubles, respectively.
The Board of Directors has recommended the approval of
dividends of RUR 1.367 per share (approximately 5.6 US
cents per share) in respect of 2007, which will be paid to
shareholders between 22 June and 20 August 2008. These
dividends are subject to approval by shareholders at the annual shareholders’ meeting and have not been recognised
as a liability in these consolidated financial statements.

30. Segment information

2006

Asia

23.3

5.3

Europe

16.0

14.6

5.3

4.6

–

1.4

44.6

25.9

Asia

58.5

54.5

Europe

48.8

41.3

5.6

5.3

–

1.4

112.9

102.5

Other international flights

60.7

93.3

Domestic flights

53.7

42.7

271.9

264.4

Cargo revenue:
International flights from Moscow to:

North America
Other

International flights to Moscow from:

The Group is organised into four main segments:
• Airline — domestic and international passenger and
cargo air transport and other airline services;
• Catering — the preparation of food and beverages for
air travel;
• Hotels — the operation of hotels;
• Airport terminal — the operation of the Sheremetyevo3 terminal.
All operations are based in the Russian Federation; therefore no geographical segment information is disclosed.
Details of the geographical breakdown of revenues from scheduled passenger and cargo airline activities are as follows:

2007

2007

North America
Other
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Business segments
Airline

Catering

Hotels

Terminal

Other

Eliminations

Total
Group

3,759.5

19.1

19.9

–

9.4

–

3,807.8

–

55.6

5.9

–

3.6

(65.1)

–

3,759.4

74.7

25.8

–

13.0

(65.1)

3,807.8

562.6

12.2

6.3

(4.5)

1.6

(0.2)

578.0

2006

Scheduled passenger revenue:

Year ended 31 December 2007

International flights from Moscow to:

External sales

Europe

542.1

463.2

Inter-segment sales

Asia

266.2

198.9

Total revenue

North America

88.1

72.2

Operating profit/(loss)

Other

23.5

17.5

Financial income

919.9

751.8

Financial expenses
Share of income in associates

International flights to Moscow from:

62.0
(53.2)
6.0

–

–

–

–

–

6.0

Europe

544.6

460.8

Non-operating loss, net

(55.8)

Asia

278.3

205.6

Profit before income tax

537.0

North America

83.4

69.5

Income tax

Other

22.7

17.3

Profit for the year

929.0

753.2

Segment assets

945.5

635.7

Associates

51.3

48.4

2,845.7

2,189.1

Domestic flights
Other international flights

Unallocated assets
Consolidated total assets

(223.6)
313.4
2,919.7

25.6

24.8

539.7

67.9

(241.9)

3,335.8

12.1

–

–

–

–

–

12.1
50.4
3,398.3
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Airline

Catering

Hotels

Terminal

Other

Eliminations

Total
Group

687.7

21.7

4.8

2.9

25.6

(26.5)

716.2

Unallocated liabilities

1,497.0

Consolidated total liabilities

2,213.2

Capital expenditure

353.7

1.6

0.6

199.4

0.1

–

555.4

Depreciation

140.4

0.8

3.6

0.1

0.1

–

145.0

44.7

–

–

–

–

–

44.7

2,953.1

16.3

17.1

–

5.8

–

2,992.3

–

42.5

4.9

–

2.1

(49.5)

–

2,953.1

58.8

22.0

–

7.9

(49.5)

2,992.3

374.1

8.9

7.2

(2.8)

(0.7)

(0.5)

386.2

Non-recoverable VAT (Note 11)

31. Risk connected with financial instruments
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that,
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The
Group entities utilise a detailed budgeting and cash forecasting process to ensure their liquidity is maintained at
the appropriate level.

The Group has entered into various agreements with a
number of banks in Russia whereby the banks have issued facilities to guarantee the repayment of the Group’s
commitments related to the existing aircraft lease agreements. As at 31 December 2007 the total value of the
guarantees issued amounted to USD 63.7 million (2006:
USD 60.5 million).The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, excluding estimated interest
payments and the impact of netting agreements:

Year ended 31 December 2006
External sales
Inter-segment sales
Total revenue
Operating profit
Financial income

42.2

Financial expenses
Share of income in associates
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(32.2)
6.4

–

1.8

–

0.2

–

8.4

Non-operating loss, net

(16.7)

Profit before income tax

387.9

Income tax

2,318.7

19.4

25.2

262.6

37.5

(277.2)

2,386.2

10.1

–

–

–

–

–

10.1
9.8

Consolidated total assets

2,406.1
572.8

17.6

19.8

11.7

19.6

(38.9)

0–12
mths

1–2 yrs

2–5 yrs

Over
5 yrs

Total

Loans in US dollars

8.0%

8.0%

131.4

41.2

89.9

232.2

494.7

Loans in Russian roubles

12.5%

12.5%

–

16.3

–

–

16.3

Finance lease liabilities

5.9%

5.9%

67.4

63.2

192.1

275.8

598.5

Trade and other payables

0%

9%

69.6

59.4

11.7

–

140.7

268.4

180.1

293.7

508.0

1,250.2

2006

Average interest rate
Contractual

Effective

0-12
mths

1-2 yrs

2-5 yrs

Over
5 yrs

Total

Loans in US dollars

6.7%

6.7%

22.5

–

–

5.7

28.2

Loans in Russian roubles

8.0%

8.0%

206.3

–

–

–

206.3

Finance lease liabilities

5.3%

5.3%

52.2

48.6

154.6

249.8

505.2

0%

8.1%

41.9

43.1

24.0

–

109.0

322.9

91.7

178.6

255.5

848.7

Trade and other payables

602.6

Unallocated liabilities

1,014.6

Consolidated total liabilities

1,617.2

Capital expenditure

Effective

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Unallocated assets

Segment liabilities

Contractual

258.1

Year ended 31 December 2006

Associates

Average interest rate

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

(129.8)

Profit for the year

Segment assets

2007

388.6

0.9

1.4

142.3

0.9

–

534.1

Depreciation

93.0

0.9

3.5

0.1

0.1

–

97.6

Non-recoverable VAT (Note 11)

15.1

–

–

–

–

–

15.1

As at 31 December 2007 the Group had available a total
amount of USD 114.7 million (2006: USD 43.9 million) in
relation to lines of credit granted to the Group by various
lending institutions.

nominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, which are primarily
the Russian rouble. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are Euro and USD.

Currency risk — The Group is exposed to currency risk
in relation to sales, purchases and borrowings that are de-

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:
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2007
USD

EUR

Other

Total

USD

EUR

Other

Total

25.7

12.8

16.5

55.0

102.3

8.2

13.3

123.8

Accounts receivable and prepayments, net

280.1

64.2

53.9

398.2

74.9

29.5

28.0

132.4

Other non-current assets

103.2

–

–

103.2

3.8

–

–

3.8

409.0

77.0

70.4

556.4

181.0

37.7

41.3

260.0

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

93.9

28.9

13.2

136.0

112.5

17.4

10.4

140.3

Finance lease liabilities (current portion)

61.8

–

–

61.8

47.2

–

–

47.2

531.1

–

–

531.1

453.0

–

–

453.0

Short-term borrowings

–

–

–

–

22.5

–

–

22.5

Long-term borrowings

363.3

–

–

363.3

5.7

–

–

5.7

13.5

–

–

13.5

–

–

–

–

1,063.6

28.9

13.2

1,105.7

640.9

17.4

10.4

668.7

(654.6)

48.1

57.2

(549.3)

(459.9)

20.3

30.9

(408.7)

Cash and cash equivalents

Finance lease liabilities (non-current portion)

Other non-current liabilities

Net assets/(liabilities)
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2006

A 10% strengthening or weakening of the Russian rouble against the following currencies as at 31 December
2007 and 2006, respectively, would have increased
(decreased) profit before income tax by the amounts

shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007
and 2006.

2007

2006

Percent
against RUR

Effect on profit
before income
tax

Percent
against RUR

Effect on profit
before income
tax

USD

10%

65.5

10%

46.0

Euro

10%

(4.8)

10%

(1.9)

Other currencies

10%

(5.7)

10%

(3.1)

USD

10%

(65.5)

10%

(46.0)

Euro

10%

4.8

10%

1.9

Other currencies

10%

5.7

10%

3.1

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 the interest rate profiles of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:
Carrying amount
2007

2006

25.6

30.1

534.2

258.3

559.8

288.4

575.3

481.4

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

Variable rate instruments
Financial liabilities

During the year some of the Group’s loans bore variable
interest rates (Note 24 and Note 26). If the variable interest rates on borrowings in 2007 were 30% greater
or lower that the actual interest rates for the year, with
all other variables held constant, interest expense would
have been higher or lower by USD 0.4 million (2006:
USD 0.8 million).
The interest component of the Group’s finance leases primarily accrues at variable interest rates. If in 2007 those
rates were 30% greater or lower than what they actually
were, with all other variables held constant, interest expense on finance leases for the year would have been different by USD 8.0 million (2006: USD 5.0 million).
Fuel price risk — The results of Group’s operations can
be significantly impacted by changes in the price of aircraft

fuel. Had aircraft fuel prices in 2007 been 10% higher
or lower, with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year would have been USD 98.3 million higher or
lower. The impact on the 2006 net profit would have been
USD 88.6 million under the same scenario.
Capital risk management — Management’s policy is to
have a strong capital base as to maintain investor, creditor
and market confidence and to sustain future development
of the business. Management monitors the return on capital and the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the year.
Neither the Group nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

Increase in the rate of exchange to rouble

32. Related party transactions
The ultimate controlling party of the Company is the Government of the Russian Federation and all companies controlled
by the Government of the Russian Federation are treated as related parties of the Group for the purpose of these consolidated financial statements.

Decrease in rate of exchange to rouble

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the following balances and transaction with related parties:
2007

2006

293.3

190.7

Trade and accounts receivable

41.1

37.7

Cash and cash equivalents

39.3

119.8

373.7

348.2

Assets
VAT and customs duties recoverable on leased aircraft

Interest rate risk. Changes in interest rates impact primarily loans and borrowings by changing either their
value (fixed rate debt) or their future cash flows (variable rate debt). At the time of raising new loans or bor-

rowings management uses judgment to decide whether
it believes that a fixed or variable interest rate would be
more favourable to the Group over the expected period
until maturity.
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2007

2006

66.6

120.7

Short-term borrowings

116.2

186.4

Long-term borrowings

357.4

–

VAT and customs duties payable on leased aircraft

308.4

230.7

848.6

537.8

67.9

52.4

Purchases from associates

514.6

417.8

Purchases from other related parties

431.1

306.7

0.4

0.6

Liabilities
Trade and other accounts payable

Sales

Dividend income received

Purchases consist primarily of purchases of aircraft fuel as well as air navigation and airport services. In 2007 and 2006
most of the transactions between the Group and its related parties were based on market prices.
The summary of balances and charges relating to the taxes due to the Government of the Russian Federation for the years
ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 is presented below:
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Accounts receivable from tax authorities
Accounts payable to tax authorities
Total amount of taxes settled with tax authorities during the year

2007

2006

507.5

355.7

19.7

7.6

421.6

414.1

The amounts outstanding to and from related parties are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been
given or received. No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed
by related parties.

bilities on key control and planning decisions of the Group)
consist of short-term benefits including salary and bonuses as
well as short-term compensation for serving on the management bodies of Group companies, and in 2007 amounted to
approximately USD 13.0 million (2006: USD 11.6 million).

Compensation of key management personnel

Such amounts are stated before personal income tax but
exclude unified social tax. According to Russian legislation,
the Group makes contributions to the Russian State pension
fund as part of unified social tax for all its employees, including key management personnel. Government officials, who
are directors, do not receive remuneration from the Group.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management (the members of the Board of Directors and
Management Committee as well as key managers of flight and
ground personnel who have significant power and responsi-

33. Commitments under operating leases
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable aircraft and other operating leases are as follows:
2007

2006

On demand or within one year

176.5

134.6

In two to five years

812.3

769.0

After five years

608.7

800.5

1,597.5

1,704.1

Total minimum payments

The operating lease commitments disclosed in the table
above include the aircraft currently in use and sixteen
Airbus A-320 and one A-319 aircraft for which the lease
agreements were signed in 2006 but which will commence during 2008 and 2009.
The amounts above represent base rentals payable.
Maintenance fees payable to the lessor, based on actual
flight hours, and other usage variables are not included
in the table.
For details of the fleet subject to operating leases refer to
Note 1.

34. Capital commitments
The Group’s capital commitments in relation to the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at
31 December 2007 amounted to approximately
USD 1,171 million (2006: USD 1,313 million). These
commitments relate to the finance leases of ten Sukhoi
SuperJet-100 (SSJ) aircraft, the finance lease of five
Airbus A321 aircraft, the acquisition and modification of three MD 11 aircraft, and contracts related
to the construction of the Sheremetyevo-3 terminal and
the Company’s new office building.

35. Contingencies
Political environment — The Government of the
Russian Federation continues to reform the business and
commercial infrastructure in its transition to a market
economy. As a result laws and regulations affecting businesses continue to change rapidly. These changes are
characterised by poor drafting, different interpretations
and arbitrary application by the authorities.
Taxation — Russian tax legislation is subject to varying interpretations and constant changes. Furthermore,
the interpretation of the tax legislation by the tax authorities, as applied to the transactions and activities of
the Group, may not coincide with that of management.
As a result, the tax authorities could challenge transactions and the Group could be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest, which could be significant.

Periods remain open to review by the tax authorities
for three years. The Group’s management believes that
it has adequately provided for all tax liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the risk
remains that the relevant authorities could take up differing positions with regard to interpretative issues,
and the effect could be significant.
Legal action — Former members of the Group’s management and two Swiss non-bank financial companies that
provided treasury and financial services to the Group, are
currently under civil and criminal investigation by the Swiss
and Russian authorities for potential misconduct related
to funds managed under treasury and financial services
agreements, which were entered into by the former management of the Group. On 16 November 2006 the court in
Moscow considered the Company’s claim against two former employees of the Group and an employee of Financial
United Corporation and awarded a total of approximately
USD 8.2 million in damages to the Group. The Group intends to pursue the recovery of all losses to the fullest
extent possible. However, due to remaining uncertainties
in collecting already awarded and any possible additional
amounts, it has not recognised any assets related to this
matter in its consolidated financial statements

36. Subsequent events
Airbus 319, 320, 321 — In 2008 the Group made a
decision to make advanced repayments of portion of the
liabilities relating to finance lease agreements. These advance repayments will be made in 2008 and 2009. The
decrease in short and long-term finance lease liabilities
will amount to USD 9.3 million and USD 10.6 million,
respectively. In addition, on 3 June 2008 management
entered into three operating lease contracts pertaining to
the delivery of nineteen Airbus A320 aircraft.
Boeing 737-500 — In 2008 Group management agreed to
enter into operating lease agreements for six Boeing 737-500
aircraft. Deliveries of these aircraft will begin in May 2008.
Airbus A330-200 — In 2008 Group management agreed
to enter into operating lease agreements for eleven new
Airbus A330-200 aircraft. Deliveries of these aircraft will
begin in November 2008.
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Large transaction for acquisition by Aeroflot of 22
new А350XWB airliners from Airbus

Large transaction for acquisition of 22 B787 aircraft
from The Boeing Company

An agreement was signed on June 19, 2007, between Aeroflot and Airbus for purchase of 22 А350XWB aircraft. Main
parameters of the transaction are as follows:
• Type of transaction: Aircraft purchase.
• Object of the transaction: 22 А350XWB aircraft
(18 А350-800XWBs and 4 А350-900XWBs), each
equipped with two Rolls-Royce Trent 1872 engines
(for the А350-800XWB) or Trent 1887 engines (for
the А350-900XWB). Aeroflot retains the right to convert А350-800XWBs into А350-900XWBs aircraft, or
А350-900XWBs into А350-800XWBs;
• Approximate delivery schedule: Q4 2014 — Q2 2019
• Price (cash value) of 22 new А350XWB aircraft (taking account of possible exercise by Aeroflot of its right
to convert Airbus 350-800XWBs into Airbus 350900XWBs), based on valuation by an independent
appraiser (ZAO Rossiyskaya Otsenka) agreed with the
Federal Agency for Management of Federal Property ,
is USD 2,904 million.
• Purchase price for each aircraft is calculated on the
basis of factual delivery date taking account of escalation in accordance with an escalation formula included in the Purchase Agreement.
• Advance payments: 12% of the catalogue price of the
aircraft on the delivery date is paid in instalments before the delivery date, including 1%, which is payable
after signature of the Purchase Agreement .

Aeroflot signed an agreement with The Boeing Company
on June 9, 2007 for purchase of 22 B787 aircraft. Main
parameters of the transaction are as follows:
• Type of transaction: Aircraft purchase.
• Object of the transaction: 18 Boeing 787-8 aircraft
and 4 Boeing 787-9 aircaft, each equipped with RollsRoyce Trent 1000 or General Electric GENX engines,
subject to Aeroflot’s preference. Aeroflot retains the
right to convert Boeing 787-9s into Boeing 787-8s or
to convert Boeing 787-8s into Boeing 787-9s.
• Approximate delivery schedule: 1Q 2014 — 3Q 2016
• Price (cash value) of 22 new В787 aircraft (taking account of possible exercise by Aeroflot of its right to convert Boeing 787-8s into Boeing 787-9s) based on valuation by an independent appraiser (ZAO Rossiyskaya
Otsenka) agreed with the Federal Agency for Management of Federal Property, is USD 2,906.2 million
• Purchase price for each aircraft is calculated on the basis of factual delivery date, taking account of escalation
in accordance with an escalation formula included in
the Purchase Agreement.
• Advance payments: up to 30% of the catalogue price of
the aircraft on the delivery date is paid in instalments
before the delivery date, including 1%, which is payable
after signature of the Purchase Agreement.

The transaction for acquisition of 22 А350XWB aircraft
is a large transaction, since value of the assets concerned
exceed 50% of the balance sheet value of Aeroflot assets.
The transaction therefore requires approval by a general
meeting of shareholders of Aeroflot.
The transaction was approved by a General Meeting of
Shareholders (Protocol № 22) on September 4, 2007.

The transaction for acquisition of 22 B787 aircraft is a
large transaction, since value of the assets concerned exceed 50% of the balance sheet value of Aeroflot assets.
The transaction therefore requires approval by a general
meeting of shareholders of Aeroflot.
The transaction was approved by a General Meeting of
Shareholders (Protocol № 22) on September 4, 2007.
There were no transactions in 2007, which would be classified as transactions with interest by the Federal Law,
“On joint-stock companies”.

Aviation security — Protection of air traffic from illegal
interference, all the measures and resources necessary
for achieving such protection.
Flight safety — Capacity to provide air transport services
without risk to people’s life or health.
Passenger turnover — Measure of the volume of air
transport operations, calculated by multiplying the factual
number of paying passengers carried on each stage of a
flight by the distance of the flight stage, expressed in passenger kilometers.
Passenger load factor — Ratio of the number of revenue passenger kilometers flown to total available seat
kilometers, expressed in percent.
Code sharing — An agreement on joint use of route codes,
enabling one and the same route to be sold by two companies under their own brands and with a distinct route number for each company. Either of the airlines in the agreement
can be the actual provider of transport service on the route.
Cargo load factor — Ratio of ton kilometers actually flown
to maximum ton kilometer capacity, expressed in percent.
Seat kilometers — Measure of an airline’s passenger
carrying capacity, based on one seat flying a distance of
one kilometer.
The Company, the Airline — JSC Aeroflot.
Passenger kilometers — Transport of one passenger
over a distance of one kilometer.
Maximum available passenger turnover — Maximum
possible volume of air transport operations, which an airline can provide, calculated by multiplying the number
of available passenger seats on each flight stage by the
length of the stage.
Maximum available ton kilometers — Volume of operations, calculated by multiplying the total available load capacity (passengers, cargo and post) on each flight stage by
the length of the stage measured in ton kilometers.
Market capitalization — Total market value of the
shares of a company.
Ton kilometers (tkm) — Transport of one ton of paying
load (passengers at 90kg per passenger, cargo and post)
over a distance of one kilometer.
TCC — Transport and Clearing Chamber.
Hub — Term used to describe an airport where transport
routes converge and where there is a large share of transit passengers, including airports where the timetable of
incoming and outgoing flights is organized such a way as
to minimize transit time from any one flight to the maximum number of other flights.
Electronic ticket (e-ticket) — A way of documenting sale
and control of air transport without compiling exact calculations on a specialized form. All information relating to
transport of a specific passenger (routes, fare, service class,
sum paid, duties, etc.) is contained in an electronic ticket
file, located in a data base of the relevant carrier. E-tickets

are not necessarily associated with sale of transport services via the Internet, although it is simpler to sell electronic
tickets than ordinary tickets via the Internet.
APIS (Advance Passenger Information System) — A
system for submitting lists with additional information
about passengers to customs and border services in the
country of arrival.
BSP/ARC (Billing and Settlement Plan/Airline Reporting Corporation) — Systems for settlement between
agents and airlines. BSP is an international settlement
system between agents and airlines organized by IATA,
which enables sales of air transport services on neutral
forms (not assigned to any specific airline), helps airlines
to expand their presence on the air transport market, minimizes financial risks, lowers expenses on maintenance of
the sales system, and speeds up the accounting system by
use of electronic technologies. The purpose of BSP is to
raise the efficiency of interactions between airlines and
agent networks. ARC is a system used in the USA, which
is analogous to BSP.
IATA (International Air Transportation Association) — An international association created in 1945 for
development of cooperation between airlines in order to
ensure safety, reliability and cost efficiency of flights in
the interests of consumers. Members of the association
now include 270 airlines from 140 countries worldwide.
The address of the IATA web site is: www.iata.org.
ICAO (International Civil Aviation Organization) — Created as a result of the Chicago Convention
on International Civil Aviation, signed in 1944. The ICAO
is a specialized institution within the UN, responsible for
development of international standards, recommended
practice and rules in the technical, economic and legal
realms of international civil aviation operations. The address of the ICAO web site is: www.icao.int.
IOSA (International Operational Safety Audit) — An
international audit of operational safety, which includes the
following aspects of airline operations: organization and
management system; flight operations; aircraft engineering and maintenance; ground handling; operational control and flight dispatch; cabin crew; aviation security; cargo
operations and transport of hazardous cargos.
ISO — International Organization for Standardization.
ISO 9000 — A series of international standards for creation of a quality control system at an enterprise, consisting of a number of prescriptions for raising efficiency of
business processes.
SkyTeam — An alliance of 11 airlines: Aeromexico, Air
France, Alitalia, Сhina Southern Airlines, Continental Airlines,
CSA-Czech Airlines, Delta Airlines, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines,
Korean Air и Northwest Airlines, and three associated companies, which are AirEuropa, Copa Airlines and Kenya Airways.
The address of the SkyTeam web site is: www.skyteam.com.
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Aircraft kilometers flown

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

135,568.9

147,823.0

137,185.6

133,287.6

135,608.8

121,925.0

124,451.9

138,982.4

147,689.8

156,187.2

156,251.7

12,014.7

25,758.1

32,887.0

37,074.7

42,230.4

39,752.0

40,537.7

41,343.6

45,378.9

55,683.8

66,119.4

147,583.6

173,581.1

170,072.6

170,362.2

177,839.2

161,677.0

164,959.6

180,326.0

193,068.7

211,871.0

222,371.1

45,649

49,265

45,474

44,275

45,777

41,952

42,282

46,261

49,786

52,516

53,746

3,608

10,160

14,703

17,878

21,541

20,985

21,617

21,771

23,461

28,766

33,619

49,257

59,425

60,177

62,153

67,318

62,937

63,899

68,032

73,247

81,282

87,365

174,140

188,100

174,059

169,421

172,596

154,360

156,670

175,973

187,266

197,559.0

198,664.6

15,260

33,619

43,730

49,983

57,639

54,643

54,845

56,102

61,085

74,346.9

87,250.6

189,400

221,719

217,789

219,404

230,235

209,003

211,515

232,075

248,351

271,905.9

285,915.2

3,693.5

3,738.0

3,440.2

3,704.6

4,205.2

3,885.4

4,129.8

4,647.6

4,649.7

4,939.5

5,356.3

210.7

712.7

1,169.1

1,396.3

1,625.5

1,603.9

1,713.7

1,942.5

2,016.8

2,350.5

2,809.9

3,904.2

4,450.7

4,609.3

5,100.9

5,830.7

5,489.3

5,843.5

6,590.1

6,666.5

7,290.4

8.166,2

84.9

78.1

80.0

95.4

86.8

93.3

95.7

124.9

121.8

118.8

67.4

7.3

6.5

9.5

12.1

14.8

16.2

18.5

20.6

23.6

26.5

28.5

92.2

84.6

89.5

107.5

101.6

109.5

114.2

145.5

145.4

145.3

95.9

13,717.8

14,260.9

13,240.8

14,068.1

15,110.4

13,826.3

14,163.7

16,171.5

15,897.7

16,753.7

18,003.0

893.1

2,188.2

3,164.6

3,366.1

3,833.0

3,818.9

4,038.9

4,476.7

4,797.1

5,652.8

6,672.3

14,610.9

16,449.1

16,405.4

17,434.2

18,943.4

17,645.2

18,202.6

20,648.2

20,694.8

22,406.5

24,675.3

22,584.3

25,119.3

23,366.1

21,917.7

23,522.6

20,551

20,848.0

23,728.1

23,255.7

24,257.6

26,041.8

1,427.8

3,321.7

4,273.1

4,632.9

5,273.5

5,251.5

5,393.1

6,253.5

6,721.6

7,688.2

9,077.6

24,012.1

28,441.0

27,639.2

26,550.6

28,796.1

25,802.5

26,241.1

29,981.6

29,977.3

31,945.8

35,119.4

thousands

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft departures
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft hours flown
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passengers carried

thousands

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Freight and mail tons carried

thousands

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
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Revenue passenger kilometers

millions

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available seat kilometers

millions

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passenger load factor

%

International routes

60.7

56.8

56.7

64.2

64.2

67.3

67.9

68.2

68.4

69.1

69.1

Domestic routes

62.6

65.9

74.1

72.7

72.7

72.7

74.9

71.6

71.4

73.5

73.5

60.8

57.8

59.4

65.7

65.8

68.4

69.4

68.9

69.0

70.1

70.3

503.1

473.3

530.8

606.0

462.1

491.3

530.3

757.1

761.3

746.9

694.7

42.2

39.7

53.7

65.7

91.8

71.8

84.1

95.6

107.3

130.0

156.4

545.3

513.0

584.5

671.7

554.0

563.0

614.4

852.7

868.6

876.7

851.1

1,737.7

1,756.8

1,722.5

1,872.2

1,822.2

1,735.6

1,805.0

2,212.5

2,192.1

2,253.8

1,959.7

122.6

236.6

338.5

368.6

436.7

415.6

447.7

498,5

539.0

630.9

731.3

1,860.3

1,993.4

2,061.0

2,240.8

2,258.9

2,151.1

2,252.7

2,711.0

2,731.1

2,884.7

2,691.0

3,460.1

3,717.3

3,479.0

3,493.8

3,534.5

3,130.1

3,258.8

3,869.4

3,849.4

3,988.4

3,661.1

260.3

485.4

581.1

619.6

690.7

684.1

692.3

792,9

859.9

1,012.4

1,167.1

3,720.4

4,202.7

4,060.1

4,113.4

4,225.2

3,814.2

3,951.1

4,662.3

4,709.3

5,000.8

4,828.2

Total
Cargo ton kilometers

millions

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Revenue ton kilometers

millions

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available ton kilometers

millions

International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Weight load factor

%

International routes

50.2

47.3

49.5

53.6

51.6

55.4

55.4

57.2

56.9

56.5

53.5

Domestic routes

47.1

48.7

58.3

59.5

63.2

60.8

64.6

62.9

62.7

62.3

62.7

Total

50.0

47.4

50.8

54.5

53.5

56.4

57.0

58.1

58.0

57.7

55.7
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Aircraft kilometers flown
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft departures
International routes
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Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft hours flown
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passengers carried
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Freight and mail tons carried
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available seat kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Revenue passenger kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passenger load factor
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Cargo ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Revenue ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Weight load factor
International routes
Domestic routes
Total

2000*

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

1,630.2
4,509.8

2,485.1
7,718.5

2,623.0
6,503.2

3,011.1
7,648.1

4,192.3
8,279.6

3,581.0
7,851.7

3,493.9
7,799.0

7,507.7
8,695.8

6,140.0

10,203.6

9,126.5

10,659.2

12,471.9

11,432.7

11,292.9

16,203.5

thousands

855

1,276

1,373

1,833

2,622

2,268

2,199

4,126

3,008
3,863

5,079
6,355

5,235
6,608

6,012
7,845

6,018
8,640

5,675
7,943

5,834
8,033

6,157
10,283

2,160
6,097
8,257

3,239
10,523
13,762

3,336
9,208
12,544

3,939
10,661
14,600

5,568
11,179
16,747

4,640
10,513
15,153

4,606
10,576
15,182

9,827
12,055
21,832

63.2
199.8
263.0

86.5
313.5
400.0

103.1
324.3
427.4

129.9
376.9
506.8

173.4
414.7
588.1

180.1
419.5
599.6

170.2
418.0
588.2

524,8
432,0
956,8

0.4
1.4
1.8

0.3
1.9
2.2

0.6
1.8
2.4

0.6
2.0
2.6

0.6
2.1
2.7

0.5
2.1
2.6

0.5
1.8
2.3

0.3
1.7
2.0

189.4
582.1
771.5

276.9
812.3
1,089.2

352.7
674.3
1,027.0

382.1
901.9
1,284.0

513.3
1,090.1
1,603.4

492.1
1,098.2
1,590.3

410.9
957.6
1,368.5

1,322.1
952.3
2,274.4

122.9
374.6
497.5

171.1
527.4
698.5

201.1
447.2
648.3

216.6
527.4
744.0

286.9
595.7
882.6

305.7
606.5
912.2

287.5
587.0
874.5

1,044.7
620.3
1,665.0

64.9
64.4
64.5

61.7
65.0
64.1

57.0
66.3
63.1

56.6
58.5
57.9

55.8
54.6
55.0

62.1
55.2
57.4

68.6
60.6
63.0

79.0
65.1
73.2

0.8
3.9
4.7

0.6
4.7
5.3

1.2
3.4
4.6

1.3
3.8
5.1

1.3
3.7
5.0

1.0
3.9
4.9

0.8
3.4
4.2

0.6
2.7
3.3

11.9
37.6
49.5

16.0
52.1
68.1

19.3
43.7
63.0

20.8
51.2
72.0

27.0
57.3
84.3

28.5
58.5
87.0

26.7
56.1
82.8

94.6
58.5
153.1

17.7
53.7
71.4

27.4
83.1
110.5

34.3
70.5
104.8

37.8
90.5
128.3

52.4
104.3
156.7

50.0
105.8
155.8

43.2
94.5
137.7

137.2
93.2
230.4

67.2
70.0
69.3

58.3
62.8
61.7

56.2
61.8
60.0

54.7
56.6
56.0

52.0
55.0
54.0

57.0
55.3
55.8

61.8
59.4
60.1

69.0
62.8
66.4

thousands

thousands

millions

millions

%

millions

millions

millions

%

* as of the date when the company joined the Group (April 13, 2000)
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Operational statistics of CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo

2004
Aircraft kilometers flown
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft Departures
International routes

124

Domestic routes
Total
Aircraft hours flown
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passengers carried
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Freight and mail tons carried
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available seat kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Revenue passenger kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Passenger load factor
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Cargo ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Available ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Revenue ton kilometers
International routes
Domestic routes
Total
Weight load factor
International routes
Domestic routes
Total

2005

2006

2007

thousands

2007
Aircraft kilometers flown

255.1
1,790.4
2,045.5

2,039.0
14,719.6
16,758.6

1,774.5
18,084.6
19,859.1

2,093.3
23,946.6
26,039.9

188

1,384

1,522

1,631

1,727.0
1,915

13,891
15,275

17,331
18,853

18,760
20,391

596
3,489
4,085

3,852
26,864
30,716

3,315
32,826
36,141

3,858
40,741
44,687

9.4
87.3
96.7

76.3
729.6
805.9

65.5
809.8
875.2

67.8
1,014.4
1,082.2

thousands

thousands

thousands

International routes

8,517.0

Domestic routes

384.0

Total

8,901.0

Aircraft Departures
International routes

1,977.0

Domestic routes

62.0

Total

2,039.0

Aircraft hours flown
International routes

10,427.0

Domestic routes

445.0

Total
Freight and mail tons carried

10,872.0
thousands

International routes

47.8

Domestic routes

2.5

Total
0.1
0.6
0.7

0.1
3.5
3.6

0.1
4.1
4.2

0.05
5.4
5.5

millions
16.3
132.2
148.5

169
1,168.7
1,337.7

153.9
1,424.5
1,578.4

174.5
2,167.5
2,342.0

millions
11.1
87.5
98.6

116
791.2
907.2

111.1
932.7
1,043.8

119.2
1,419.8
1,539.0

67.9
66.2
66.4

68.6
67.7
67.8

72.2
65.5
66.1

68.3
65.5
65.7

0.1
0.5
0.6

0.2
3.4
3.6

0.1
4.3
4.4

0.1
7.3
7.4

1.5
12.8
14.3

16.1
115.0
131.1

14.2
141.4
155.6

16.4
210.7
227.1

1.1
8.4
9.5

10.6
74.6
85.2

9.8
88.5
98.3

10.8
135.1
145.9

73.3
65.6
66.4

65.8
64.8
65.0

68.7
62.6
63.2

65.7
64.1
64.2

%

millions

millions

millions

%

* as of the date when the Company joined the Group ( October 8, 2004)

Available ton kilometers

50.3
millions

International routes

497.3

Domestic routes

22.7

Total
Revenue ton kilometers

520.0
millions

International routes

354.6

Domestic routes

15.6

Total
Weight load factor

370.2
%

International routes

71.3

Domestic routes

68.7

Total

71.2
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Representative offices of Aeroflot, Aeroflot-Don, AeroflotNord and Aeroflot-Cargo

Representative offices outside Russia

Luanda
Code

Telephone

Fax

495

245-05-42
230-07-27
230-08-16
903-92-71
621-92-93
628-56-13
578-31-24
578-94-35
777-20-26
953-62-75

246-49-74
237-10-67
230-08-16
621-51-31
621-92-93
628-41-54
753-80-23
753-80-23
186-20-74
953-66-73

32-255

31-566

Address
4, Frunzenskaya Embankment
Section 6, 7, Korovy Val Street
Section 7, 7, Korovy Val Street
20/1, Petrovka Street
Room 2, 3, Kuznetsky Most Street
Room 3, 3, Kuznetsky Most Street
Sheremetyevo-1
Sheremyetevo-2
19, Yeniseyskaya Street
37, Pyatnitskaya Street

Regions

126

Telephone

Fax

Address

244-2

22430682

22430599

Rua Coronel Aires de Ornelas № 1-A/B-r/c

374-10

532131

538107

12, Amiryan Street

61-2

92622233

92621821

24 Level 44 Market Street Sydney NSW 2000

43-1

512150177

512150178

10, Parkring, 1010 Wien,

994-12

4981167

4981166

23, Hajibeyov Street

375-17

3286979

3286895

Of. 101, 25, J. Kupala Street

32-2

5136066

5122961

58, Rue des Colonies

359-2

9434489

9461703

23, Oborishte Street

1416

6421653

6421658

1, Queen Street, East Suite 1908, Box 61, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada, M5C2C5

Armenia
Yerevan

Offices in Moscow
Moscow

Code

Angola

JSC Aeroflot
City

Country/City

Australia
Sydney
Austria
Vienna
Azerbaijan
Baku
Belarus

Anapa

86133

170, Krymskaya Street

Arkhangelsk

8182

65-14-55

28-80-82

88, Naberezhnaya Severnoy Dviny

Astrakhan

8512

44-55-55

44-55-55

3, Gubernator A. Guzhvin Prospect

Belgium

Barnaul

3852

38-02-45

36-99-02

8А, Dmitrov Street

Brussels

Chelyabinsk

351

237-04-96

237-02-17

90, Svobody Street

Bulgaria

Ekaterinburg

343

356-55-70

356-55-71

41, Belinsky Street

Irkutsk

3952

25-57-80

21-13-31

Of. 107, 27, S. Razin Street

Kaliningrad

4012

91-64-55

95-64-54

4, Pobedy Square

Canada

Kemerovo

3842

36-80-18

34-94-51

1, Kolomytseva Street

Toronto

Khabarovsk

4212

78-34-35

78-34-56

50, Pushkin Street

Krasnodar

861

210-00-10

210-00-91

43, Krasnaya Street

China

20-64-36

20-64-37

37, Mira Rrospect

Beijing

86-10

65002412

65012563

N.2 Chao Yang Men Bei Da Jie, Beijing 100027, PR China

69-920

69-920

75, Marx Prospect

Hong Kong

852

25372611

25372614

Suite 2918,29 Floor, Shui on Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Shanghai

8621

62798033

62798035

Suite 2918,29 Floor, Shui on Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

385-1

4872055

4872051

13, Varšavska, 10000 Zagreb

537

2043200

2045593

5-ta Avenida, Entre76 Y 78, Edificio Barcelona, Oficina 208,
Miramar Trade Center, Miramar Playa, Ciudad Habana, Cuba

357-22

669071

678484

32, B&C, Homer Avenue, P.O. Box 22039, 1097 Nicosia

420-2

27020020

24812683

5, Truhlárská, 11000 Praha 1

45

33126338

33112127

1.1 Vester Farimagsgade, Room 1255 DK-1606,
Copenhagen

Krasnoyarsk

3912

Mineralnye Vody

87922

Murmansk

8152

42-80-19

42-80-19

7, Volodarskogo Street

Nizhnevartovsk

3466

61-33-96

24-55-55

11, Omskaya Street

Nizhniy Novgorod

8312

434-40-40

434-41-88

6, Gorky Square,

Novosibirsk

383

223-05-89

217-96-98

28, Krasny Prospect

Omsk

3812

25-13-22

24-79-55

Perm

342

290-13-03

290-13-02

14, Ordzhonikidze Street

Minsk

Sofia

Croatia

10, Lenin Street

Zagreb

7A, Zvezdnaya Street, Elizovo

Cuba

Petropavlovsk-K.

4152

41-26-24

41-17-22

Samara

846

276-02-77

276-02-80

Surgut

34-62

23-39-66

23-38-77

41, Lenin Street

141, Leninskaya Street,

Tyumen

3452

49-98-72

49-98-72

84/1, Malygina Street

Vladivostok

4232

22-66-47

20-90-41

143, Svetlanovskaya Street

Volgograd

8442

385479

385480

15, Lenin Prospect, 400131

Ufa

3472

79-60-75

79-60-75

5/3, Lenin Street

Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk

4242

78-87-55

78-87-55

Khomutovo Airport, Of. Aeroflot

Havana
Cyprus
Nicosia
Czech Republic
Prague

Branches
Magadan

41322

63-90-80

63-90-80

31/1 Karl Marks Street

St.-Petersburg

812

438-55-72

572-43-10

1/43, Rubenstein Street

Sochi

8622

64-45-11

64-56-75

61А, Rose Street

Denmark
Copenhagen
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Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

Egypt
Cairo

20-2

23900429

23900407

18, El Boustan Street., El Boustan Commercial Centre

358-9

663203

661021

00100 Manner-Heimintie, 5 Helsinki

Nice

33-4

93214482

93214544

Aéroport Côte d’Azur, Terminal 1, 06281 Nice Cedex

Paris

33-1

42254381

42560480

33, Avenue des Champs Elysées, 75008

Almaty

Bishkek

Pyongyang

Seoul

49-30

22698130

22698136

51, Unter den Linden, 10117 Berlin

Dusseldorf

49-211

8644316

320928

26, Berliner Allee, 40212 Düsseldorf

Latvia

Frankfurt/ m

49-69

27300612

27300619

41, Wilhelm-Leuschner Strasse, 60329 Frankfurt am Main

Riga

Hannover

49-511

9772065

9772064

Flughafen Hannover-Langenhagen Terminal C Zimmer
311, Postfach 420251, 30662 Hannover

Lebanon

Hamburg

49-40

8080396999

8080396919

60, Admiralitätstrasse, 20459 Hamburg

Munich

49-89

288261

2805366

2, Isartorplatz, 80331 München

995-32

372111

373796

6 -А, Pekina Avenue, Block#1, 0160, Tbilisi, Georgia

30-210

3220966

3236375

14, Xenofontos Street, Syntagma - GR 105 57, Athens,
Greece

361

3185955

3171734

4, Vaci Ut., Hungary 1051 Budapest

2915597

42, Begalina Street

996-312

667300

667800

64/1, Bul. Erkindik

8502

3817309

3817313

11-Dong Munsu-3 Dong Taedonggang District

822

5693271

5693276

404, City Air Terminal Building, 159-6, Samsung-Dong,
Kangnam-ku, Seoul

371-6

7780772

7780771

9, Scolas str., Riga, Latvia LV-1010

9611

739596

739597

Verdun Str., Selim Saab Bld. 2-Floor

370

52127550

52124189

8/2, Pylimo Street, 2001 Vilnius

60-3

2141600

21416946

Lot 2.33, 2nd floor, Bangunan Angkasa Raya,
Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur

976-11

319286

323321

15, Seul Street, Ulaan Baatar, 210644

31-20

6245715

6259161

26-3, Weteringschans, 1017 SG, Amsterdam

47

23356210

22332880

6, Øvre Slottsgt, 0157 Oslo

507

2250497

2250622

Unicentro Bella Vista, Avenue Justo Arosemena y Calle 42,
P.O. Box 2642, Balboa Ancon, Panama

48-22

6299475

6282557

29, Alleje Jerozolimskie, 00-508 Warszawa

4021

3150314,
2128684

3125152

Sector 1, 29, Strada Biserica Amzei, Bucuresti

966-2

6041027

6440823

Shaker Center, Hail Street P.O. box 40700, Jeddah 21511

421-2

43426896

43337581

Aeroport M.P.Shtefanika, Bratislava, 82311, Slovak
Republic

Mongolia

Netherlands
Amsterdam

India
Delhi

91-11

23312843

23723245

15-17, Tolstoy House, Tolstoy Marg, 110001 New Delhi

Mumbai

91-22

23524104

23525119

Room 18-B, 1-st Floor, Nariman Bhavan, Block 111,
Nariman Point, Mumbai 400021

Iran

Norway
Oslo
Panama
Panama

98-21

88910888

88808672

23, Ostad Nejatollahi Street, Tehran
Poland

Ireland
353-1

8446166

8446353

Link Building, Level 2, Airport, Dublin

Warsaw
Romania

Italy
Milan

3902

66987538

66984632

19, Via Vittor Pisani, 20124 Milano

Rome

3906

420385

42904923

76, Via Bissolati, 00187 Roma

Venice

39-041

2698484

2698447

Aeroport Marco Polo, Tessera, Venezia
Luigi Broglio street 8, 30030

Bucharest
Saudi Arabia
Jeddah
Slovakia

Japan
Tokyo

2915416

Malaysia

Ulan Batar

Hungary

Dublin

272

Lithuania

Kuala Lumpur

Greece

Tehran

Beirut

Vilnius

Georgia

Budapest

Address

Democratic People’s
Republic of Korea

Berlin

Athens

Fax

Republic of Korea

Germany
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Telephone

Kyrgyzstan

France

Tbilisi

Code

Kazakhstan

Finland
Helsinki

Country/City

81-3

55328781

55328821

Toranomon Kotohira Tower 16F, 1-2-8 Toranomon,
Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan 105-0001

Bratislava
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Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

Serbia
Belgrade

Country/City Code Telephone Fax Address
381-11

3286071

3286083

30, Kneza Mihajlova, 11000

Barcelona

34-93

4305880

4199551

41, Calle Mallorca, 08029 Barcelona

Madrid

34-91

4313706

4318098

Маlaga

34-95

2974534

2974533

Spain

495

436-77-53
231-47-23

Of. 3A, 52, Paseo de la Castellana, 28046, Madrid

Nerungri

41147

3-24-44

Aeropuerto de Malaga, Malaga, 29004

Sochi

8622

41-11-64

41-11-64

Room 223, Airport

90-212

6389106

638-91-12

Ordu Сaddesi 291/293 Laleli Is Merkezi,
Istanbul

998-71

152-18-36

251-58-80

83-А, Nukus Street

Location

Code

Telephone

Fax

468

50565300,
50565320

217185

Arkhangelsk

8182

63-13-23

–

Terminal building, Arkhangelsk Airport

Amderma-2

495

784-78-53,
ext. 1159

–

Rogachevo Airport

31, Sveavägen, 2 tr, Box 3075, 10361 Stockholm

41-22

9092767

7388312

16, Place Cornavin, 1201 Genève

Zurich

41-43

3446200

3446216

41, Talacker, 8001 Zürich

6, Lenin Street

Istanbul

Tashkent

CJSC Aeroflot-Nord

Syria
963-11

2317956

2317952

29, May Street, Damascus

662

2511223

2553138

Mezzanine Floor, Regent House, 183, Rajdamri Road,
10330 Bangkok

Thailand

130

–

Terminal building, Vnukovo Airport
Terminal 1, Sheremetyevo Airport

Uzbekistan

Geneva

Bangkok

436-76-91
231-47-23

Turkey

Switzerland

Damascus

Russia
Moscow

Sweden
Stockholm

OJSC Aeroflot-Don

Turkey

Address

Antalya

90-242

3303477

3303106

Antalya International Airport Block A/N.241

Belgorod

4722

34-13-00

–

166, Bogdana Khmelnitskogo Street

Istanbul

90-212

2966725

2966737

Turkey, Istambul, Elmadag, Cumhuriyet Cad N26 B

Kirovsk

81555
81531

6-13-55
5-41-11

–

Terminal building, Kirovsk/Apatity Airport
13, Yubileinaya Street

9714

2222245

2227771

U.A.E., Dubai, PO box 1020 AL Maktoum street al Mazroei
bldg Deira Dubai

Leshukonskoye

81833

3-16-65

–

Terminal building, Leshukonskoye Airport

Mezen

81848

9-19-45
9-14-80

–

Terminal building, Mezen Airport
43, Sovetsky Prospect

United Arab Emirates
Dubai
Ukraine
Dnepropetrovsk

38-056

7784938

7784937

72-A, Karl Marx Prospect, Dnepropetrovsk

Monchengorsk

81536

7-61-61

–

25B, Komsomolskaya Street

Kiev

38-044

2454359

2454881

112-A, Saksagansky Street, 252032 Kiev

Moscow

495

–

Simferopol

380-652

511517

511517

2a, Pavlenko Street, 95006 Simferopol

231-32-15,
578-77-12,
578-90-96

Terminal 1, Sheremetyevo Airport
Terminal C, Sheremetyevo Airport

Murmansk

8152

73552233

73552323

70, Piccadilly, London, W1J 8HP, UK

28-14-72,
44-96-44

–

44-20

Terminal building, Murmansk Airport
21/2, Polyarniye Zori Street

Naryan-Mar

81853

4-49-99,
4-38-38

–

25, Smidovicha Street

St. Petersburg

812

703-53-75
336-47-05

Solovki Islands

81835

9-02-36

–

4, Sivko Street

Severodvinsk

812

58-00-85

–

7, Plusnina Street

United Kingdom
London
USA
Los Angeles

1-310

2815300

2815308

9100 Wilshire Blvd. Suite 616, Beverly Hills, CA 90212

New York

1-212

9442300

9445200

1384, Broadway, 22 Floor, 10018, New York, New York

Seattle

1206

4641005

4640452

1411, 4th Avenue, Suite 420, 98101 Seattle, Washington

Washington

1-202

3474304

3474305

1634, Eye Street, N.W., Suite 200, 20006 Washington, D.C.

99871

1523018

1448472

1-A Kodyri Street, 700128, Tashkent

84-4

7718514

7718522

Daeha Business Center, 360 Kim Ma, str, Ba Dinh distr., Hanoi

Uzbekistan
Tashkent
Vietnam
Hanoi

703-53-75
336-47-05

Terminal 1, Pulkovo Airport
151, Moskovksy Prospect
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CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo

Contact information

Russia
Novosibirsk

383

216-99-85

216-99-87

Tolmachevo Airport

Khabarovsk

4212

39-39-00

39-39-00

28-В, Matveyevskoy Highway

49

6543 50 86 00

6543 50 86 06

Bldg. 850, 55483 Airport Hahn, Germany

91

11 2565 4801/02

93502 30301

New Delhi 22, Courier Building (Haj
Terminal), Cargo Complex,IGI Airport, New
Delhi-110037(India), JVC Aeroflot Cargo
Pvt.Ltd

Germany
Hahn

Short name
Headquarters

37 Leningrad Prospect, Korpus 9, Moscow, Russian Federation

Postal address

125167, Moscow, Leningrad Prospect 37, Korpus 9

Certificate of inclusion in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities

China
Hong Kong

852

21092056

21092058

Suite 609, One Citygate, 20 Tat Tung
Road, Tung Chung, Hong Kong

Issued by the Moscow Department of the Russian Tax Ministry (№1027700092661 issued on 22 August, 2003)

Beijing

86-10

64593993

64593996

BJS Cargo Terminal, Room 218, Cargo
Terminal Beijing, Aviation Ground Services Co., Ltd, Airport Cargo Road, Beijing
Capital International Airport, Shun Yi
District, Beijing, China, 100621

7712040126

Shanghai
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Open Joint-stock Company “Aeroflot Russian Airlines”
OJSC Aeroflot

India
Delhi

Full name

86-21

64593993

64593996

BJS Cargo Terminal, Room 218, Cargo
Terminal Beijing
Aviation Ground Services Co., Ltd, Airport
Cargo Road, Beijing Capital International
Airport, Shun Yi District, Beijing, China,
1006

Norway
Oslo

47

6753 8990

6753 8999

Strandveien 35, N1366 Lysaker, Norway

82-2

6309-8325/26

6309-8327

150834, RM1303, ACE High-Tech City 2
dong, Munrae-Dong 3Ga, YeongdeungpoGu, Seoul, Republic of Korea

Republic of Korea
Seoul

USA
New York

1-718

576-23-64

1-718-576-2472

Bldg. 87, JFK International Airport, Jamaica NY 11430

Turkey
Istanbul

90-212

212 465 6567

212 465 6567

Havalimani Kavsagi EGS, Buseness Park
Bloklari B3 Blok 6, Kat No:238 Yesilkoy /
Istanbul TR

Finland
Helsinki

358-9

61512728

61512729

Rahtikuja 1, FIN-01530 VANTAA,
Helsinki, Finland

420

220 116 627

220 116 629

16100, Praha 6, Ruzyne, Laglerove
1075/4, Praha, Czech Republic,

Shareholders and Investors:

Tel/fax: +7 (495) 258-0686, 258-0684/fax, 258-0650/fax
e-mail: ir@aeroflot.ru

Press Service:

Tel .: +7 (495) 752-9071
e-mail: presscentr@aeroflot.ru

Aeroflot Bonus program:
Tel .: +7 (495) 223-5555
www .aeroflotbonus.ru
E-mail: bonus@aeroflot.ru

Information and Reservation Center (round-the-clock):

Tel .: +7 (495) 223-5555 (for Moscow)
Tel .: +7 (812) 718-5555 (for St. Petersburg)
Tel .: 8-800-333-5555 (free of charge from cities in Russia, including calls from mobiles)
Online reservations: www .aeroflot .ru, callcenter@aeroflot.ru

Open line:

Tel .: +7 (495) 223-5555
e-mail: openline@aeroflot.ru

Share Register:

CJsC National Registry Company
Address: 6, Veresaeva Street, 121357, Moscow
Tel: +7 (495) 440-31-04

Auditors:

Czech Republic
Prague

Tax payer identification number

CJsC HLB Vneshaudit
Address: Office 701, Entrance 3, 12 Krasnopresnenskaya Naberezhnaya, 123610, Moscow
Tel .: +7 (495) 967 0495 (mulitchannel)
Fax: +7 (495) 967-0497
e-mail: info@vneshaudit .ru
Notice of future development

In addition to factual data, this Annual Report also contains opinions, assumptions and forecasts by Company management based on currently available
information. Changes in external factors, such as fluctuating demand for air transportation, price changes, implementation of new technologies, changes in
legal environment, fluctuations in exchange rates, etc., may cause actual performance by the Company in the future to differ from forecasts in this Report.
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Route network
Aeroflot’s own flights

RUSSIA and CIS
Kaliningrad
St.Petersburg
Minsk
Kiev
Dnepropetrovsk
Surgut
Krasnodar
Perm
Simferopol
Anapa
Ekaterinburg
Nizhnevartovsk
Tyumen
Omsk
Novosibirsk
Krasnoyarsk
Kemerovo
Barnaul
Irkutsk
Volgograd
Astrakhan
Chelyabinsk
Magadan
Vladivostok
YuzhnoSakhalinsk
PetropavlovskKamchatsky

EUROPE
Oslo
Stockholm
Helsinki
Riga
Warsaw
Copenhagen
Berlin
Prague
Hamburg
Hannover
Dusseldorf
Amsterdam
London
Karlovy Vary
Frankfurt/M
Paris
Brussels
Munich
Geneva
Zurich
Vienna
Nice
Madrid
Barcelona
Milan
Venice
Zagreb
Budapest
Rome
Belgrade
Bucharest
Sofia
Athens
Iraklion
Larnaca
Antalya
Istanbul
Slpit

NORTH AMERICA
Los Angeles
Toronto
New York
Washington
Havana

Arkhangel’sk

MOSCOW

Khabarovsk
Ufa
Samara
Bishkek
Sochi
Mineralnye Vody
Tashkent
Baku
Yerevan
Tbilisi
Almaty
Norilsk

RostovonDon

ASIA and AFRICA
Tokyo
Beijing
Seoul
Ulan Batar
Delhi
Hong Kong
Bangkok
Shanghai
Hanoi
Mumbai
Teheran
Damascus
Beirut
Cairo
Jeddah
Dubai
Luanda

Aeroflot marketing flights

› Moscow–Naryan-Mar
› Moscow–Amman
› Moscow–Arkhangelsk–Naryan-Mar
› Moscow–Arkhangelsk
› Moscow–Vilnius
› Moscow–Murmansk

› Moscow–Palanga
› Moscow–Rostov
› Moscow–Talin
› Moscow– Eisk
› Moscow–Bratislava
› Moscow–Novokuznetsk

› Moscow–Ankara
› Moscow–Kazan
› Moscow–Ljubljana
› Moscow–Magnitogorsk
› Moscow–Malta
› Moscow–Syktyvkar

› Moscow–Malaga
› Adler–Frankfurt
› Adler–Ekaterinburg
› Adler–Nizhnevartovsk
› Adler–Omsk
› Adler–Murmansk

› Arkhangelsk–Solovki
› Minsk–St.Petersburg
› Prague–Manchester
› Prague–Edinburgh
› Prague–Bratislava
› Prague–Dublin

› Prague–Kork
› Prague–Monreal
› Rostov–St.Petersburg
› Rostov–Tashkent
› Rostov–Frankfurt
› Rostov–Baku

› Rostov–Dibai
› Rostov–Dusseldorf
› Самара–Prague
› St.Petersburg–Hamburg
› St.Petersburg–Hannover
› St.Petersburg–Munich

› St.Petersburg–Berlin
› St.Petersburg–Dusseldorf
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